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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

EREABRRE

Dear shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”),

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of
Sandmartin International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present the results
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The financial performance of the Group was not satisfactory for the year ended
31 December 2023. The 2019 novel coronavirus pandemic (the “Pandemic”)
continued to have negative impacts on the business and operations of the
Group during the year. As a result of the tight monetary policy globally, the
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 has declined when
compared with the corresponding period in 2022. The Group has taken some
measures to mitigate the unfavourable impacts, including but not limited to
sourcing from different suppliers to increase the Group'’s profit margin.

The tight monetary policy in Nepal had an adverse impact on the economic
sentiment in Nepal which led to the decrease in the number of subscribers of
Dish Media Network Limited (the Company’s associate and the largest satellite
pay television operator in Nepal).

The ongoing China-US trade war still has some negative impacts on certain
segments of the operations of the Group and the Group sought to mitigate
such impacts by sourcing from suppliers in Southeast Asia, for the purpose
of avoiding the excessive tariffs imposed by the United States (the “US”) on
products from the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”).

Although the global economy is gradually recovering from the Pandemic,
the geo-political and geo-economic tensions are yet to be resolved. Given
these volatilities and challenges, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent
approach in managing its cash flow position and will make every endeavour to
identify business opportunities with promising potential in the manufacturing
segments in emerging markets or even other sectors so as to diversify the
Group's income source to weather adverse economic cycle.
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Since 2018, the Group has, by outsourcing its production to suppliers in
Vietnam, progressively wound down its own production facilities housed in
the Group's factory buildings built on an industrial land in Zhongshan, the
PRC (the “Land") owned by the Group. Most of the Group’s factory buildings
on the Land had been leased to third parties independent of the Company in
return for rental income. However, owing to the age of the factory buildings,
the rental return was low. As such, the Group has been exploring opportunities
to increase the investment return from such factory buildings. In July 2021, the
Group entered into a cooperation agreement with, among others, Guangdong
Huasuan International Industrial Park Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (&
ReEHAREXEREZRARLA)

cooperation between the Group and Huausan for the purpose of redeveloping

("Huasuan”) in relation to the

the Land into a landmark precision intelligent manufacturing centre and
research and development innovation hub (the "Redevelopment”) and
subsequently in July 2023, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement
with Huasuan to form an unincorporated joint venture for the purpose
of the Redevelopment and for the purpose of governing the cooperation
arrangement.

Going forward, the Board believes that the growth of the Group will depend on
business opportunities arising from new 5G peripherals, Internet of Things and
related products. In anticipation of such business opportunities, the Group's
research and development team is developing new 5G-related products with
reference to the market trend. New products under development include
next generation radio frequency and antenna products. The Group's research
and development team is working on these products in its research centre in
Hsinchu, Taiwan. Hopefully, the Group's new 5G-related products will bring
about more business opportunities as well as revenue and profits to the Group.

To strengthen the financial position and improve the liquidity of the Group,
on 27 March 2023, the Company conducted a rights issue on the basis of
three rights shares for every two adjusted ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Share(s)”) in issue on the record date (the “Rights Issue”). The Rights Issue
was completed on 5 July 2023.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express our
gratitude to our invaluable business partners, Shareholders, management and
employees for their continuous support and contribution to the Group. We
look forward to sharing the rewards ahead with you.

Kuo Jen Hao
Chairman
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBHENEEEN WEDNT

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group recorded an increase in gross profit ratio from approximately
10.68% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 13.10% for
the year ended 31 December 2023 due to the improvement in profit margin
of the Group's products in its media entertainment platform related products
segment and other multimedia products segment.

The Group's losses before finance costs, income tax expense, depreciation,
amortisation and release of prepaid lease payments was approximately
HK$95,074,000 (2022: approximately HK$23,070,000).

MEDIA ENTERTAINMENT PLATFORM RELATED
PRODUCTS

In response to the challenging economic environment, the Group’s media
entertainment platform related products segment continued to explore new
business opportunities in emerging markets. The revenue of this segment
increased by approximately 4.91% as compared with the year ended 31
December 2022.

—  The segment revenue of media entertainment platform related products
was approximately HK$97,454,000 (2022: approximately HK$92,890,000).

—  The segment results from operations were approximately HK$3,552,000
(2022: loss of approximately HK$1,388,000).

—  The segment margin was approximately 3.64% as compared with
segment loss margin of approximately 1.49% in 2022.

Outlook

The Group is exploring new business opportunities for this segment. The
China-US trade war is not expected to have a material adverse impact on this
segment as this segment does not have customers in the US.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EXHEHME

OTHER MULTIMEDIA PRODUCTS

Owing to the increase in material costs and freight charges, the profitability
of the Group's other multimedia products segment was lower than expected.
Major products of this segment included cables, multimedia accessories and
wireless mobile phone chargers for vehicles. The revenue of this segment
decreased by approximately 24.74% as compared with the year ended 31
December 2022.

—  The segment revenue of other multimedia products was approximately
HK$100,332,000 (2022: approximately HK$133,311,000).

—  The segment results from operations were approximately HK$15,690,000
(2022: approximately HK$4,910,000).

—  The segment margin was approximately 15.64% as compared with the
segment margin of approximately 3.68% in 2022.

Outlook

The Group is enhancing its product portfolio and developing new businesses
to cope with the new demand from customers. The China-US trade war has
some impact on this segment as some of the customers are located in the US.
The Group's trying to minimise such impact by sourcing from suppliers outside

the PRC, such as Southeast Asia and adjusting logistics structure.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EBHMENEERE S WED N (#)

SATELLITE TV EQUIPMENT AND ANTENNA PRODUCTS

The segment margin of the Group's satellite TV equipment and antenna
products segment showed a decline notwithstanding the gradual recovery of
economy from the Pandemic in North America. The revenue of this segment
decreased by approximately 29.92% as compared with the year ended 31
December 2022, while the segment results were decreased by approximately
42.68%.

— The segment revenue of satellite TV equipment and antenna
products was approximately HK$364,249,000 (2022: approximately
HK$519,753,000).

—  The segment results from operations were approximately HK$30,393,000
(2022: approximately HK$53,023,000).

—  The segment margin was approximately 8.34% as compared with
the segment margin of approximately 10.20% for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Outlook

Low noise blocking down converters ("LNBs") are receiving devices mounted
on satellite dishes used for reception, which collect microwaves from the
satellite dishes and facilitate the transmission of satellite television signals.
Apart from the sales of LNBs to the customers in North America, The Group
is exploring business opportunities in other areas such as cross-selling LNBs
to other existing customers of the Group in South Asia. The research and
development team of the Group endeavours to develop new products for next
generation radio and antenna communications. The China-US trade war has
some impact on this segment as most of the customers are located in the US.
Such impact is mitigated by sourcing from suppliers outside the PRC, such as
Southeast Asia.

8 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2023 Annual Report

FEERRERREER
BELENECEREBTIEGER  AEENHE
HRERRGERD DS FEELIR TR -
“ﬂm% SREE_T-_—_F+_-_A=+—HIt
FERADHI29.92% + D EBZELE IR D %942.68% °

— HEERRERRABERHNDBRENE
364,249,00078 7L ( —Z & = =4 : #9519,753,000
/%71:) °

—  DEEEEEY 303930008 T (T ==
£ 1 53,023,000/ 7T) °

— DEAEEAES3M% MEE_E-__F+=
A=+—BLFEMNSBFEERE1020% °

A=
RFEFESE25 ([LNBs ) R TR EFERGEAUEK
REARFERGEGEENEREE  E0EHE
EBEHRER - BRALEMNOESHEINBIN - RE
B FREMu R EEEE - flEBEARERNE
THEMIBERFEITINEGR XIHE - REERF
BEBR N AT —REGERRGBAEXMAER
ER - BRABOBPLUNER WA XZ 5D
b D EPER — LR E - BT ERE R T B AN
& (flansR g ) M E P e f T ER R T A FTRES o



BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

X¥EBMENMEREEN mED N (@)
GEOGRAPHICAL RESULTS ih 15 o EPEAE
ASIA CEW))!

—  The Group's revenue from Asia for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately HK$94,271,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2022 which was approximately HK$172,297,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 45.29%.

—  The Group's revenue from Asia accounted for approximately 16.77% of
the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately 23.10%).

EUROPE

—  The Group's revenue from Europe for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately HK$80,972,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2022 which was approximately HK$65,982,000, representing
an increase of approximately 22.72%.

—  The Group's revenue from Europe accounted for approximately 14.41%
of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately 8.85%).

MIDDLE EAST

—  The Group’s revenue from the Middle East for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$8,510,000, compared with the
year ended 31 December 2022 which was approximately HK$11,289,000,

representing a decrease of approximately 24.62%.

—  The Group's revenue from the Middle East accounted for approximately
1.51% of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately 1.51%).
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EHME

E1EfE 5 s B o AT (8)

NORTH AMERICA

The Group's revenue from North America for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$346,801,000, compared
with the year ended 31 December 2022 which was approximately
HK$447,901,000, representing a decrease of approximately 22.57%.

The Group's revenue from North America accounted for approximately
61.70% of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: approximately 60.04%).

SOUTH AMERICA

The Group’s revenue from South America for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$30,185,000, compared with the
year ended 31 December 2022 which was approximately HK$46,827,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 35.54%.

The Group's revenue from South America accounted for approximately
5.37% of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately 6.28%).

Outlook

As the Group's businesses in Asia, Europe and North America accounted for the

majority of the Group's revenue, the Group shall continue to focus on these

regions in the future.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EXHEHME

RIGHTS ISSUE

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 27 March
2023, 21 June 2023 and 4 July 2023, the circular of the Company dated 28
April 2023 and the prospectus of the Company dated 5 June 2023 (the “Rights
Issue Prospectus”) in relation to, among other things, the Rights Issue. Unless
otherwise specified herein, capitalised terms used herein shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Rights Issue Prospectus.

According to the Rights Issue Prospectus, the Company proposed to issue
738,242,235 Rights Shares, which are ordinary Shares, by way of the Rights
Issue, on the basis of three Rights Shares for every two Shares held by the
Qualifying Shareholders on the Record Date at the Subscription Price of
HK$0.12 per Rights Share to raise approximately HK$88.6 million before
expenses.

The Rights Issue was approved by the Shareholders at the special general
meeting of the Company (the “SGM") held on 22 May 2023.

The Rights Issue was completed on 5 July 2023, and an aggregate of
738,242,235 Rights Shares were allotted and issued to the Qualifying
Shareholders accordingly, which carried an aggregate nominal value of
HKS$73,824,223.50. The gross proceeds raised from the Rights Issue (before
expenses) were approximately HK$88.6 million and the net proceeds from
the Rights Issue after deducting the relevant expenses were approximately
HK$84.6 million. The net price per Rights Share was approximately HK$0.114.
The Company intended to apply the net proceeds from the Rights Issue for
partial repayment of outstanding loans of the Company and general working
capital of the Group. As at the date of this report, the Company had fully
utilised the net proceeds in accordance with the said intention. Details of the
results of the Rights Issue are disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 4 July 2023.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FEMEBELEEES WEDT (&)

DISPOSAL OF ALL INTERESTS IN MYHD AND
CONTINUATION OF LOANS AND GUARANTEE

References are made to the announcement of the Company dated 31
December 2018 (the “Announcement’) and the circular of the Company dated
25 May 2019 (the “Circular”). Unless otherwise stated, capitalised terms used
herein shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Announcement
and in the Circular. On 31 December 2018, the Vendor and the Purchaser
entered into the Agreement pursuant to which the Vendor conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase the entire
issued share capital of the Target Company, at the nominal consideration of
USS$T with effect from the Transaction Date. The Target Company was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly held 51% interests in MyHD.
All the Conditions set out in the Agreement had been satisfied and the Disposal
was completed on 25 June 2019.

The Vendor had agreed with the Purchaser under the Agreement to procure
that the Existing Loans shall continue to be advanced by the Company or SMT
(as the case may be) to the Target Company and/or MyHD (as the case may
be) under the then existing arrangements notwithstanding the Completion
taking place. Such arrangement confers the right to the Company or SMT
(as the case may be) to receive the payments for the Existing Loans from
the Target Company and/or MyHD (as the case may be) when the financial
positions of the Target Company and/or MyHD (as the case may be) improve
and have sufficient cash to settle the Existing Loans. As at 31 December 2023,
the Existing Loans which were past due amounted to an aggregate amount of
US$119,756,000, comprising aggregate principal amount of US$71,298,000 and
aggregate accrued interest (calculated based on the terms of agreements of
Existing Loans) of US$48,458,000 owed by the Target Company and/or MyHD
to the Company and/or SMT (as the case may be), the particulars of which are

as follows:
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

T I Em == = VAN ==

EEMEMEERENmED N (&)
Principal amount Accrued interest
outstanding as at as at
Lenders Debtors Prevailing interest rate Maturity date 31 December 2023 31 December 2023
RZBZ=% RZBZ=%
+=A=t-H p) =V gl
EXA BBA RiTHIZ= BEA HAREERSHE FEHFIS
SMT Target Company 3 months LIBOR 31.12.2020 US$9,554,000 US$2,477,000
+ 100 basis pointsihoteV (approximately HK$74,651,000)  (approximately HK$19,354,000)
BHRE ERE NG ={EARARITRR it St 322 9,554,000 7T 2,477,000% 7T
2 AN100{EE e +=A=+-A (#974,651,0007T) (#719,354,000/7T)
SMT MyHD 3 months LIBOR 31.12.2020 US$10,500,000 US$2,461,000
+ 100 basis pointsihete? (approximately HK$82,043,000)  (approximately HK$19,229,000)
RIERH MyHD =EABBRITRZE —E-TE 10,500,000% 7T 2,461,000% 7T
1 B0 00fEEE B i) +=ZA=+-8H (#782,043,000/7T) (#719,229,000%7T)
SMT MyHD 10% per annumete? 31.12.2020 US$42,653,000 US$36,227,000
(approximately HK$333,273,000)  (approximately HK$283,063,000)
RHRH MyHD R 0 () —T-TF 42,653,000 T 36,227,000 7T
+=A=1+-H (#7333,273,0007%7T) (#9283,063,0007%7T)
The Company MyHD 10% per annum®ete2 31.12.2020 US$8,591,000 US$7,293,000
(approximately HK$67,127,000)  (approximately HK$56,985,000)
YN MyHD FEFR OB W) —T-TF 8,591,000% 7T 7,293,000% 75
+=ZA=+-A (#367,127,0007T) (#756,985,000/87L)
Total US$71,298,000 US$48,458,000
(approximately HK$557,094,000)  (approximately HK$378,631,000)
a5t 71,298,000 7T 48,458,000 7T
(#7557,094,0007%7T) (#9378,631,0007T)

Notes: B3

1. As a reference, 3 months London inter-bank offered rates (‘LIBOR’) as applicable to these 1. ER2E RZTE——-_FREA—HEZ-T-_=F+1=A

two loans during the period between 1 May 2012 to 31 December 2023 ranged between

0.11775% and 5.54543%.

2. The prevailing interest rate shall be increased to 1

1% per annum after maturity date.

ST BAHMEANLEMEERN =@ A mBRITRER
B([RBERITRAERE DN T0.11775F £5.54543F

2. REBRE - BOTANE/RES
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FEMEBELEEES WEDT (&)

In December 2019, the Company was given to understand that the Target
Company and MyHD were in serious financial problem and ceased to operate
in late 2019. As such, the Company considered these loan receivables were
credit impaired and full impairment in the amount of HK$646,366,000 was
provided as at 31 December 2019. No interest income was recognised on
the outstanding loan principal for the year ended 31 December 2023 as the
recoverability of such interest receivables is remote.

The Vendor had also agreed that the Guarantee given by the Company to
MyHD shall continue for the time being after the Completion. The maximum
amount payable by the Company under the Guarantee would not exceed
US$3,500,000 (equivalent to HK$27,332,000). Notwithstanding that MyHD
ceased its operation in late 2019, the Company has not received any demand
for payment from MyHD under the Guarantee. As at 31 December 2022 and
2023, the Group had recognised the provision for financial guarantee in the
amount of US$3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$27,332,000) in

relation to the Guarantee.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Saved as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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REVENUE

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$562.0
million, representing a decrease of 24.7% compared with approximately
HK$746.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in

revenue was mainly due to the continued impact of the Pandemic.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$126.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, compared with approximately
HKS$77.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The loss is mainly
attributable to (i) the decrease in revenue of the Group; (ii) the decrease in
fair value of investment properties of the Group based on the latest property
valuation results; and (iii) the share of loss of an associate.

LOSS PER SHARE

Calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted
average number of 856,248,735 Shares (2022: 492,161,490 Shares) in issue.
Basic loss per Share was HK14.75 cents for the year ended 31 December 2023,
as compared with HK15.76 cents for the year ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately HK$28.7 million, compared to approximately HK$28.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

Income tax credit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HKS4.1 million (2022: expense of approximately HK$12.7 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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TRADE RECEIVABLES FEWE SR

2023 2022
—E-= —_=s=__

HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHET
Balance at 1 January A— A — BB &S 135,945 167,113
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+8M4%E 107,777 135,945
Average balance SEH s 121,861 151,529
Revenue for the year ended 31 December* BE+-A=tHI-FENKZE? 561,695 744,395
Average turnover days S EPEELDN = 79 74

Excluded sales to an associate

As at 31 December 2023, the trade receivables of the Group, net of allowance
of doubtful debts was approximately HK$107.8 million (2022: approximately
HK$135.9 million). The trade receivables turnover days was within the average
credit period of 60 days to 120 days given by the Group to its customers.

TRADE PAYABLES

* TEER—FHERAHE

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—0 " xEENERKRES
IR FINBR R IR B 15 49/5107,800,0008 L(— T ==
£ :135,900,000/7T) © EWE RN AAEREE
RAEERTEFHTHEEEROREI120KAA o

P+ B 5 BRX

2023 2022

—E-= —_=s=__
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Balance at 1 January — A — BB 188,071 232,153
Balance at 31 December B’\+ A=+—H®&# 175,895 188,071
Average balance EH s 181,983 210,112
Costs of sale for the year ended 31 December HET-A=-+T—HILFEMNHEERE 488,427 666,262
Average turnover days A 8 K2R 136 115

As at 31 December 2023, the trade payables of the Group was approximately
HKS$175.9 million (2022: approximately HK$188.1 million). The increase in trade
payables turnover days was due to the tightening of settlement with the
Group's suppliers to retain more cash for better cash flow management.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the overall cash and cash equivalent of the Group
was approximately HK$69.4 million (2022: approximately HK$79.2 million). The
Group managed its capital structure and liquidity to finance its operations
by using bank and other borrowings and funds generated from operations.
The Group’s current ratio (ratio of current assets to current liabilities) was
approximately 1.02 at 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately 0.74). As at 31
December 2023, the Group's total borrowings were approximately HK$421.6
million (2022: approximately HK$370.5 million), out of which approximately
HKS$87.2 million (2022: approximately HK$274.9 million) were due within one
year and the rest of approximately HK$334.4 million (2022: approximately
HK$95.5 million) were due over one year. Approximately 42.0% of the Group's
bank and other borrowings were in US dollars (“US$”") and the rest of them
were in Renminbi ("RMB”), Euro and New Taiwan dollars. The effective interest
rates on the Group's bank and other borrowings ranged from 2.20% to 9.00%
per annum. The gearing ratio (total borrowings over total assets of the Group)
increased from approximately 42.73% at 31 December 2022 to approximately
49.79% at 31 December 2023.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, except the Equity Pledge (as defined below) and
the Land Pledge disclosed in the section headed “Cooperation Agreement
and JV Agreement in Relation to the Redevelopment” below, the Group’s
general banking facilities included bank loans and other borrowings which
were secured by the following assets of the Group: (i) bank deposits of HK$6.0
million; (i) property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of HK$13.6
million; (iii) investment properties of HK$197.5 million; (iv) trade receivables
of HK$45.3 million; (v) inventories of HK$17.8 million; and (vi) pledge of the
Company's interests in Pro Brand Technology, Inc.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 1,054 (2022: 669) full
time employees. The employees of the Group are remunerated according to
their performance and responsibilities. They receive training depending on
their scope of work, especially training relating to workplace health and safety.
For details, please refer to Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive compensation
in the form of salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary bonuses relating to
the performance of the Group. The Company regularly reviews and determines
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Saved as disclosed below, there were no significant investments held as at 31
December 2023 nor were there other plans for material investments on capital
assets as at the date of this report.

(i) Cooperation Agreement and JV Agreement in Relation to
the Redevelopment
References are made to (1) the announcement of the Company dated
17 August 2021 (the “17 August Announcement’) in relation to the
cooperation agreement dated 26 July 2021 and entered into between,
among others, Huasuan and Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co,,
Ldd* (PILEF T EFLHBRAR) ('ZSS"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Guangdong Huasuan International
Industrial Park Investment Development Co., Ltd* (ER & FEEHBIRE
¥EIREERAER2AF) ("Huasuan’) (the “Cooperation Agreement’),
and (2) the announcements of the Company dated 19 July 2023 and 10
August 2023 (the “19 July and 10 August Announcements’) in relation
to the joint venture agreement dated 19 July 2023 and entered into
between ZSS and Huasuan (the “JV Agreement”).

*  Foridentification purpose only
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Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Huasuan and ZSS shall
cooperate to upgrade certain blocks of factory buildings and dormitories
constructed on the land situated at No. 16, Qianjin Second Road,
Tanzhou Town, Zhongshan, Guangdong Province, the PRC (the “Land”)
owned by ZSS and to redevelop some vacant and undeveloped parts
of the Land subject to prior consents and planning approvals from the
relevant PRC government authorities.

With a view to strengthening the cooperation between the parties, ZSS
and Huasuan entered into the JV Agreement to form a joint venture
in the form of an unincorporated joint venture under the name of
"Huasuan-Sandmartin Intelligent Manufacturing Park” CEHE S T Bk
&) (the "Joint Venture”) in the PRC and for the purpose of governing

the cooperation arrangement.

The sole purpose and business of the Joint Venture is to redevelop the
Land into a landmark precision intelligent manufacturing centre and
research and development innovation hub and the properties built
thereon shall be for leasing or for sale (the “Redevelopment”). Pursuant
to the JV Agreement, the Redevelopment shall be carried out on the
Land. The Group shall contribute the Land for the Redevelopment
and Huasuan shall be responsible for funding the entire costs for the
Redevelopment (save for the Land contributed by ZSS). If required,
ZSS as the entity undertaking the Redevelopment shall secure the
bank loans (the “ZSS Development Loan’) used solely for funding the
Redevelopment. As stipulated in the JV Agreement, Huasuan has the
sole responsibility of repaying the ZSS Development Loan, both loan
principal and interests.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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In relation to the allocation of the properties constructed on the Land,
the Group shall continue to be entitled to certain blocks of buildings
constructed on the Land as at the date of the JV Agreement (which
comprise factory buildings) (the “Existing Buildings”), the vacant area
and roads covered under the current real estate title certificate issued to
the Group. In relation to the new buildings to be constructed on certain
parts of the Land which are currently vacant, the Group and Huasuan
shall be entitled to 20% and 80%, respectively, of (i) the total gross floor
area of the new buildings; and (ii) the corresponding revenue that is
generated from the new buildings. In the event where certain parts of
the Existing Buildings are to be demolished and redeveloped under the
Redevelopment, the Group shall be entitled to (i) firstly, certain gross
floor area of the newly built buildings; and (ii) secondly, an additional 5%
of the remaining total gross floor area of the newly built buildings. After
the aforesaid allocations to the Group, Huasuan shall be entitled to all of

the entire balance of the gross floor area.

As continued commitment to the Redevelopment, Huasuan had paid
to the Group a cooperation fund amounting to RMB60 million as
security deposit (the “Cooperation Fund”), and in return, the Group had
provided in favour of Huasuan (i) 100% of the shareholding interests in
7SS (the "Equity Pledge”), and (i) one of the three pieces of land parcels
within the Land (the “Land Pledge”) as securities for the Cooperation
Fund. Upon the aforesaid allocation of the newly built buildings and
the corresponding revenue, the Cooperation Fund shall be refunded
by the Group to Huasuan and the Equity Pledge and the Land Pledge
shall be released by Huasuan and the Redevelopment is currently under
construction.

For more details, please refer to the 17 August Announcement and the
19 July and 10 August Announcements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's sales and purchases were denominated mainly in US$ and RMB.
The Group was exposed to certain foreign currency exchange risks but it
does not expect future currency fluctuations to cause material operation
difficulties on the ground that the recent pressure from depreciation of RMB is
manageable. However, the management will continuously assess the foreign
exchange risks, with an aim to minimise the impact of foreign exchange
fluctuations on business operations.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had provided guarantees to a bank to
secure the mortgage arrangement of certain property buyers. The outstanding
guarantees to the bank amounted to approximately RMB38,507,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$42,493,000) which will be discharged upon
satisfaction of the terms stated in the guarantee contracts, including the
release of the guarantee by the bank upon delivery of the properties to the

relevant buyers and completion of the relevant properties registration.

The Directors considered that the fair values of these guarantee contracts
provided are insignificant at initial recognition and the expected credit loss
was insignificant as at 31 December 2023 as the bank has the rights to sell the
properties and recover the outstanding sum from the sale proceeds upon the
occurrence of any default by the property buyers.

ARBITRATION

On 29 September 2011, the Group entered into a conditional agreement (the
“Conditional Agreement”) with an independent individual third party (the
“Original Shareholder”) and Technosat Technology JLT FZE (“Technosat’,
a company incorporated in Dubai, which was wholly-owned by the Original
Shareholder), to subscribe for 375 new shares in Technosat at a cash
consideration of US$7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$58,170,000), amounting to
15% of Technosat's enlarged capital. Technosat is set up to be engaged in
operation of digital TV and radio platform, pay TV channel, and sales and supply
of TV set top boxes.

As at 30 June 2012, the Group had paid a deposit of US$2,500,000 (equivalent
to HK$19,467,000) to Technosat to acquire new shares in Technosat which
was fully provided for impairment in the financial year ended 30 June 2012.
Pursuant to the terms of the Conditional Agreement, the Group is required to
pay a further sum of US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this 15%
equity interest in Technosat. The subscription is not yet completed up to the
date of approval of this report as the conditions precedent of the subscription
of new shares in Technosat including the consent and approval by government
authority in Dubai have not been fulfilled.
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Despite the Group's repeated request for information, there has been
no satisfactory response from the Original Shareholder or Technosat
("Counterparties”’) regarding the current status and the procurement of
obtaining government approval from the government authority in Dubai. The
Group has engaged legal counsel to act for the Group and started dispute
resolution proceedings against the Original Shareholder and Technosat.

On 21 January 2013, the legal counsel of the Original Shareholder and
Technosat served a notice to the Group's legal counsel for a claim on the
further payment of US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this 15%
equity interest in Technosat. The Group's legal counsel has replied on behalf
of the Group on 11 February 2013 in response to the claim of the Original
Shareholder and Technosat defending the claim as the Directors consider such
claim invalid, as the conditions precedent of the subscription of new shares in
Technosat had not been fulfilled and constituted a breach of the Conditional

Agreement.

The Group's legal counsel had repeatedly requested the Original Shareholder
and Technosat to commence the next step of the mediation process, but
there has been no satisfactory response from the legal counsel of the Original
Shareholder and Technosat up to the deadline set by August 2014.

As at the date of approval of this report, save as disclosed above, there was no
update on the arbitration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group continues to improve its corporate governance practices,
emphasising the attainment and maintenance of a quality Board, sound risk
management and internal controls, and high transparency and accountability
to the Shareholders. The Board and the management are committed to
the principles of good corporate governance consistent with prudent
management and enhancement of shareholder value. The Board believes that
good corporate governance will bring long-term benefits to the Shareholders
and the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has applied the principles
and has complied with all the mandatory disclosure requirements and
the code provisions (“Code Provision(s)") of the section headed “Part 2 -
Principles of good corporate governance, code provisions and recommended
best practices” of the Corporate Governance Code (“Corporate Governance
Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 (formerly Appendix 14) to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviation with following reason.

Under Code Provisions C.1.6 and F.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code,
independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors and

chairman of the board should attend general meetings.

Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, a non-executive Director and chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman’), and Mr. Wu Chia Ming, an independent non-executive Director,
were unable to attend the SGM of the Company held on 22 May 2023 due to
their respective other engagements.

Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, a non-executive Director and chairman of the Board, and
Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan, an independent non-executive Director, were unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") held on 28 June
2023 due to their respective other engagements.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix
C3 (formerly Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. After specific enquiry,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
regarding securities transactions set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023. No incident of non-compliance was noted by

the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at 31 December 2023, the Board consists of two executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin and Mr. Chen Wei Chun (chief financial officer), one non-
executive Director, namely, Mr. Kuo Jen Hao (chairman) and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan, Ms. Chen Wei-Hui
and Mr. Wu Chia Ming. A list of the Directors and their roles and functions is
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Mr. Hung Tsung Chin is the husband of Ms. Chen Mei Huei, a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive officer in the satellite
TV broadcasting business of the Group (“Satellite Broadcasting Services
Business Division”). Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors has
any financial, business, family or other material relationship with any of the
other Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are of sufficient number and calibre
for their views to carry weight. The functions of independent non-executive
Directors include:

bringing an independent view and judgment at Board meetings;

taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

serving on Board committees if invited; and

scrutinising the Company's performance and monitoring performance
reporting.

The independent non-executive Directors have made a positive contribution
to the development of the Company’s strategies and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments. They benefit the Board
and the Board committees by their skills, expertise, varied backgrounds and
qualifications through regular attendance and active participation at the
meetings of the Board and the Board committees.

Composition of the Board is disclosed, and the independent non-executive
Directors are identified, in all corporate communications to the Shareholders.

Confirmation of Independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has
been assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each of
the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual written
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and are independent.
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Roles and Functions of the Board and the Management

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Company;
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board is fully responsible for the formulation of business policies
and strategies in relation to the business operation of the Group, including
dividend policy and risk management strategies. The management is
delegated the authority and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group.

Appointment, Continuation of Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

All executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the
Company while the non-executive Director and all independent non-executive
Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Company with
a specific term of three years, setting out key terms and conditions of their
appointments. All Directors are subject to retirement in accordance with the
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws").

According to the Bye-Laws, (i) Directors appointed by the Board either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
("AGM")and shall then be eligible for re-election; and (ii) at each AGM, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every
three years. As such, no Directors have a term of appointment longer than
three years.

Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have made active
contribution to the affairs of the Group and four Board meetings were held to
discuss the matters relating to the rights issue of the Company and Dish Media
Network Ltd. and to review and approve the interim results and annual results
of the Group.

In addition to the regular Board meetings, the Chairman met with the

independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Further, on 13 December 2018, the Board has approved and adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). The Company aims to deliver
reasonable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders. In deciding whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board takes
into account, inter alia:

(i)  the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of

the members of the Group;

(i) the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the Group's liquidity position;

(v)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal and external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company;

(vi)  the Shareholders’ and the investors' expectation;

(vii)  the industry’s norm; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

However, there can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or
declared in any particular amount for any given period.
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Attendance Record of Directors

The attendance record of Directors at the meetings of the Board, the Board
committees and the Shareholders held during the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out below:

ESHFERE
NTREBE-_FT_=F+_A=+—"HLFEE=S
HFEZTEER EFZRETTRRBRAENHH
EAEPIE

Audit Nomination Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee General

Meetings Meetings Meeting Meetings Meetings
EH R’E M

ZEg% Z88g Zg5eg EPN-

Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of

meetings held meetings held meetings held meetings held meetings held

HWEEHEN HEEEN  HREEN  HREEN  HREEN
RE/BfT RE/BGT RE/ET RB/ET RB/EG

Name of Directors Expg SENRE  EENRY  2ENRE  BBHRE eB0RY
Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Hung Tsung Chin i 4/4 N/ATER N/AT R NANER 22
Mr. Chen Wei Chun REHEE 44 NATER NARER  NATER 2”2
Non-Executive Director FHTES

Mr. Kuo Jen Hao (Chairman) SAREE(LE) 4/4 N/ATNE A N/ATEH N/ARE A 0/2
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES

Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan EHsEL 4/4 33 1/1 212 12
Ms. Chen Wei-Hui REELT 4/4 33 " 212 212
Mr. Wy Chia Ming RERLE 4/4 33 1 21 112
Access to Information BERFEA

All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes that may
have affected the Group's business, including those changes to relevant rules
and regulations and are able to make further enquiries when necessary. The
Board has also agreed that the Directors may seek independent professional
advice in performing their directors’ duties at the Company’s expense. In
addition, all Directors have access to board papers and related materials.
They also have access to the advice and services of the company secretary to
ensure that board procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Liability Insurance for Directors

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against the Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage

is reviewed on an annual basis.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company organised online training
courses for the Directors. Such training sessions covered the Update on Hong
Kong Listing Rules, Corporate Governance of a Hong Kong listed issuer and
Anti-corruption and Directors’ Ethics Talk. The Company also updated the
Directors on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other

applicable regulatory requirements from time to time.

All Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Code Provision on
directors’ training. The Company has received from each of the Directors his/
her confirmation on taking continuous professional training. A summary of the
training for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:
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Reading Materials/
Journals and/or
Attending in-house
training session or

seminars
SMER,HT
&/ R8 MR
Name of Directors =y EIIRESHATE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin LB S A Vv
Mr. Chen Wei Chun FRIES A& v
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Kuo Jen Hao (Chairman) LBARGTE(EE) v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan ERAE LA Vv
Ms. Chen Wei-Hui PRE B2 V
Mr. Wu Chia Ming REREE Vv
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 states that the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer are separate to reinforce independence, accountability and
responsibility. Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, the Chairman of the Board, is responsible
for the formulation of development strategies, investment decision making,
overall project planning at the Group level, leading the Board and ensuring
that the Board functions properly and effectively, whilst Mr. Hung Tsung
Chin, the chief executive officer of several subsidiaries of the Company which
are engaged in manufacturing and trading of the media entertainment
platform related products, other multimedia products, integration of signal
and traffic communication and satellite TV equipment and antenna products
("Manufacturing and Trading of Electronic Products Business Division”),
is responsible for the management of the daily operation and general
administration of the Manufacturing and Trading of Electronic Products
Business Division.

Ms. Chen Mei Huei, the chief executive officer of the Satellite Broadcasting
Services Business Division, is responsible for the overall management of the
Group including all overseas offices.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established (i) the Audit Committee; (ii) the Remuneration
Committee; and (iii) the Nomination Committee, with specific written terms
of reference to oversee particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs. The latest
versions of the terms of reference of the Board committees are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice and

other assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

Audit Committee

Composition

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of reference. The written
terms of reference of the Audit Committee was further updated on 30
March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the members of the Audit Committee are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chen Wei-Hui, Mr. Lu
Ming-Shiuan and Mr. Wu Chia Ming. Ms. Chen Wei-Hui, who has appropriate
professional accounting qualifications as required under the Listing Rules, was
appointed as the chairperson of the Audit Committee. None of the members of
the Audit Committee is a former partner of the auditor of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things,
(i) being primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’'s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards; (iii) developing and implementing a policy on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services; (iv) monitoring the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements and the annual report and accounts,
half-year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, before
submission of the financial statements and reports to the Board, and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them; (v) reviewing the
Company'’s financial control, risk management and internal control systems;
and (vi) discussing the risk management and internal control systems with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty to establish

effective systems.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held three
meetings to consider, approve and adopt the risk management policy, and
review annual audit planning, annual results, interim audit planning, interim
results and the internal control review conducted by an external professional

consultant.

The attendance record of each Audit Committee member for the year ended
31 December 2023 has been set out on page 28 of this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

Composition

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
was established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of reference. The written
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was further updated on 30
March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the members of the Nomination Committee
are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan
(chairman), Ms. Chen Wei-Hui and Mr. Wu Chia Ming.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include, among other
things, (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company's corporate strategy; (i) identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and (iv) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee held one

meeting to (i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and (ii)
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy on 31 March 2020 which sets out the
criteria and process on the nomination and appointment of directors.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of the Board,
the Nomination Committee would follow the nomination policy and consider
factors including:

(@)  personal ethics, reputation and integrity;

(b)  professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s businesses and corporate development and
strategy;

(0 commitment in respect of sufficient time for the proper discharge
of the duties of a director, including devoting adequate time for the
preparation and participation in meetings, training and other Board or
Company associated activities;

(d) independent non-executive director candidates must satisfy the
independence requirements under the Listing Rules. The independent
non-executive director candidate shall be independent in character and
judgement and be able to represent and act in the best interests of the
Shareholders; and

(e)  any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee should make recommendation
to Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the general

meeting.

The attendance record of each Nomination Committee member for the year

ended 31 December 2023 has been set out on page 28 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

Composition

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of
reference. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was
further updated on 30 March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wu Chia Ming (chairman), Ms. Chen Wei-Hui and Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among other
things, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management of
the Group; (ii) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and
(iii) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Directors and senior management; and (iv) reviewing matters
relating to share schemes.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee held
two meetings to review the existing remuneration packages of Directors,
the performance of executive Directors and the key terms and conditions of
the service agreements and letters of appointment. The attendance of the
Remuneration Committee members for the year ended 31 December 2023 has
been set out on page 28 of this annual report.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management (other than
Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration band

FMESS

K19
ApRFHEEE((FMEEF )N _ZTHEF=
A+EtBARY - BAEEATANBELE - HFME
EENERRREEN T ——F=A=+A%=
T N\FRA-BE-—TEH - FWHEESNME
B RBLIFMITES - BIREALE(ERE)
REEZ T REMRAS KL -

FHZEENEZRE (AT EE)  ORARAY
AEEEERSREEENZBHFINBRLER -
MEFSRLES  (WREEFSMIIEETHE
BiEmas RELEEBNHFMNES  (IREFE
ZRENEERSREEBNHFMEE © Rivias
BREBROAEEE -

REE_Z_=F+-_A=+—BLEFERN  FM
ZEEAMTMAEZ ARSI ESTNRBEHFINGT
B HTEENRAMREHERZEENTIER
RARGEHE REBEE-_T-_=F+-A=+—HLF
€ IR B @K BN FERERSN A FREBE -

BE-_E-_=F+-—RA=+—RHLEFE -
B E(TBRIEES)NFHSENT -

=RERE

Number of individuals

E2 0 ] A
HKS$0 = HK$1,000,000 0 & 1,000,000 & JT

HK$ 1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 &JTE 1,500,000 & TT

HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /&JT 2 2,000,000 & 7T 0

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 (formerly
Appendix 16) to the Listing Rules are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance
functions set out below:

(@) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board;

(b)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of ethic and compliance

manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The board diversity policy was adopted by the Board on 1 June 2018 which
aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the quality of its performance. Selection of candidates on the Board is
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The Nomination Committee will assess the merit and contribution
that any Director proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be
appointed as Director against the objective and appropriate criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board reviews the
effectiveness of the board diversity policy on an annual basis.

GENDER DIVERSITY AT WORKFORCE LEVELS

Our approach for talent recruitment and retention is to employ a diverse
team that works together collaboratively and encourage differences and
individuality in employees with respect to equal opportunities, diversity
and anti-discrimination. The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) for the year ended 31 December 2023 is Male : Female =4.8:5.2.
The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced and the Group will continue
to maintain the gender diversity in workforce. For further details of gender
ratio together with the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the

environmental, social and governance report of the Company.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE POLICY

During the year, the Company has adopted the policy on obtaining
independent views and input. In accordance with this policy, the Board,
Board committees or individual Directors may seek such independent
professional advice, views and input as considered necessary to fulfil their
responsibilities and in exercising independent judgement when making
decisions in furtherance of their Directors’ duties at the Company’s expense
(the “Mechanism”). The Mechanism is established to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board.

Independent professional advice shall include legal advice and advice of
accountants and other professional advisors on matters of law, accounting, tax
and other regulatory matters.

In the event that independent professional advice, views and input are
considered necessary, the Board, Board committees or individual Directors shall
communicate with the company secretary or a dedicated person to start the
Mechanism, providing background and details of the relevant incidents and/
or transactions, and the issues involved which would require independent
views and input. They may direct any questions, queries, concerns or specific
advice to be sought to the company secretary or the dedicated person who
will then contact the Company'’s professional advisers (including, but not
limited to, legal advisors, accountants, independent auditor, internal control
advisor) or other independent professional parties to obtain such independent
professional advice within a reasonable period of time.

Any advice obtained through the Mechanism shall be duly documented and
made available to other members of the Board.

Despite having obtained any information or advice from the Chairman/
Chairwoman and/or any independent professional advisors through the
Mechanism, the Directors are expected to exercise independent judgement in
forming their decisions.

In addition, the senior management of the Company are, from time to time,
brought into formal and informal contact at Board meetings and other
corporate events. The Board has full access to all information provided by the
senior management of the Company it deems appropriate for the purposes of
fulfilling its role.

The Company has reviewed and considered the implementation of the
Mechanism to be effective during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board has appointed Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie (“Ms. Tung”) as the
company secretary of the Company with effect from 30 November 2019. Ms.
Tung has been nominated by Boardroom Corporate Services (HK) Limited
("Boardroom”) under an engagement letter made between the Company and
Boardroom. The primary person at the Company with whom Ms. Tung has
been contacting is Mr. Young Ho Kee Bernard, the project manager, in relation
to corporate secretarial matters. Ms. Tung has confirmed that she has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2023.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board endeavours to present to the Shareholders a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group's performance, position and
prospects. Accordingly, appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently, and judgements and estimates made by the

management for financial reporting purpose are prudent and reasonable.

Save as disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements, the adoption of relevant
new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards that became
effective during the year has no significant impact on the Group’s results of

operation and financial position.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND ITS REMUNERATION

The external auditor performs independent audit of the annual consolidated
financial statements prepared by the management. BDO Limited ("BDO") has
been engaged as the Company’s external auditor.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees charged to the financial
statements of the Group in respect of BDO's statutory audit and other services
amounted to approximately HK$2,150,000 and HK$320,000, respectively. The
fees of recurring audit services of subsidiaries performed by other auditors and
the fees of provision of other services were approximately HK$2,053,000.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal control and risk management which is designed and
operated to provide reasonable assurance that the Company's business

objectives in the following areas are achieved:

Effectiveness and efficiency of operations, including the achievement of
performance and operating targets and the safeguarding of assets by

the management;

Reliability of financial and operating information provided by the
management, including management accounts and statutory financial

reports; and
Compliance with applicable laws and regulations by each business unit.

The Company has put and continues to place considerable emphasis on
maintaining and enhancing the effectiveness of its system of internal control.
Under the Company’s internal control framework, risk management and
internal control are primarily the collective responsibility of every manager and
employee. For consistent compliance by every person in the Company, the
following key control policies and measures are implemented in the everyday

activities, which are summarised below:

1. Overall control environment, including code of ethics governing staff
conduct within the Group, and whistleblowing policy;

2. Management of financial and non-financial risks, including at the
company level the risk management functions of the Board; at the
business unit level management’s ongoing monitoring of operational
and other risks;

3. Major control systems and processes, including budgetary and cost
controls, financial reporting systems and processes for timely and quality
management reporting, and corporate policies and procedures for
approvals, reviews and segregation of duties in everyday activities;
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4. In relation to ongoing compliance monitoring and internal control 4, E)Eﬁiam%%/\%ﬁl SR ETT A EE TR A
reviews, the company secretary undertakes to monitor overall of CARWEEEREERY EMARR BT
compliance with the Listing Rules. The external professional consultant R INEEXEREZEREZEZE GERS
directly reports to the Audit Committee and is engaged to conduct S WEEH AT RRE TR R &
independent reviews on the internal control system and provide AEBEMRBRERRERZE &

recommendations on risk management of the Group; and

5. The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of 5. BRZEERNAAAANEE(RIERTS
the Company’s internal controls, including financial, operational and EEREREHNREEREARER) ST EHR
compliance controls and risk management. It has also considered the B MEESFH RUFERBEFENE
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training of staff of B BFE KR hETEIEERH -

the accounting and financial reporting functions.

In conducting these reviews, the following reports and activities are EET EIRFN  EZEEBN FREREIE
considered:

self-assessments made by management of various business units - BEBEBEUEMBRARTMNEERENHEZSR
and subsidiaries of their material controls and risk management [ERREEMTERETESHBAL
activities undertaken with reference to The Committee of Sponsoring (fcoso) ¥R EIRIELRE & AN E
Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSQ") enterprise risk BEREESEL BT - &

management framework; and

self-assessments made by business units and Group finance of the - EBBUREENHBEREEE R KER

resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting and B T E s ER  BIERRKEH - 240
financial reporting functions. The main conclusions are that: mr
the resources in the accounting and finance functions are - EBFNUBBECERTRE R

adequate; and

the qualifications and experience of the staff of the accounting . R

T OBt RV BEBETEMNET
and finance functions are satisfactory overall. FrE& ﬁﬁﬁﬁr&%% LARE °

During the year, the external professional consultant has reviewed the internal FRNCINEEEEMDESTIESBNAIEER

control and risk management systems of the Group, which include financial, SEBRG  BENK - 2 ENAREE LA)SZJ—LE
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions. BB EE -
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

An internal control and risk management system, no matter how well designed
and operated, is to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives. The design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur
or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.
In addition, the design of any system of controls is based in part on certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events.

Inside Information Policy

An inside information policy is in place which contains guidelines to the
Directors and officers of the Group to ensure that inside information of the
Group can be promptly identified, assessed and disseminated to the public in
a consistent and timely manner in accordance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules. The Company must disclose inside information to the public
as soon as reasonably practicable, unless the “safe harbours” provisions under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ") apply. The Board shall take
reasonable precautions in preserving the confidentiality of inside information
and the relevant announcement before publication.

The Board and the management will continue to look into opportunities for
further enhancing the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group
in the years ahead.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group regards internal audit as an important part of the Board and Audit
Committee’s oversight function. The principal objective of internal audit,
which is set out in an internal audit charter, is to provide the Board and
management with useful information and recommendations on the adequacy

and effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group.

40 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2023 Annual Report

EEMANERERR

AR EEMEREERRERRT RREEZ T
- HpERERRARERREHSEEIFRYHN
ReE - WEBEMIPBRAREERES B RNRER -
ERAGHRGIVARREFEERRHINEE
WBFLERAE BEIRM ST © BESD - EEEAFﬁﬁﬁb
REGHEARBR - EENFEEIEBHRE/T
SREMNERIMFFS RN R - SiwBlF
PRAINA A M SR R RGE =4 © Bbsh - (A
ERAR IR NERYARKREMFAEEZE TR

WEH EBER

RPRIEARBEERE  EhERmEERALHE
SABERMANES - ARARARELETHRAR
E o RA—HREHHAREERN  FHEREAR
BREAKRENAREE - FRIFRAE R LAE G
(IRFERPERE DA TH 228 HFEX - THIAR
REMBERENEATER TERARAREER
BHE -EFERTIRAIERRAENERGES -
AMRENTIHE RERASEOMENE -

EFehERERRETHS —HRIAE

SEABRPE IR R RIRKEE -

PR e

AN ERE T
AEERNBEARESTEREZZESNEER
BB ZE D - AEEITNEE B NN A EET
HE BASERNSEZRAESERHREBEER
EEEREEERBERENRER -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AUTHORITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Under the internal audit charter endorsed by the Audit Committee, the internal
audit function is authorised by the Board to have access to all records, people
and physical properties relevant to the performance of internal audit. The
external professional consultant has unrestricted access to the chairman of the
Audit Committee and reports directly to the Audit Committee for direction and
accountability. This reporting relationship enables the external professional
consultant to provide an objective assurance to the effectiveness of the

internal control system of the Group.

DUTIES

The duties of the external professional consultant are described in the
engagement letter entered into between the Company and the external
professional consultant. It mainly requires that (a) internal audits are conducted
with independence, objectivity and due professional care in compliance
with the relevant standards, guidelines, and the code of ethics; (b) systems
established are evaluated to ensure compliance with those policies, plans,
procedures, law and regulations which could have a significant impact on
the Group; (c) the approved internal audit plan is implemented, including
any other special tasks or projects requested by the Audit Committee; and
(d) the Audit Committee is updated with key audit initiatives and progress of
completion of the approved internal audit plan, including any change.

All above described duties may be adjusted depending on the resources
available for internal audit function. The management of the Group has the
responsibility to keep reviewing the resources’ availability for internal audit
function.

INTERNAL AUDIT RESOURCES AND MAJOR WORK
DONE IN 2023

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to review and
assess the risk management and internal control system of the Group. During
the year under review, the external professional consultant has assessed
(i) fixed assets management cycle; (ii) capital, investment and financial
management cycle; (iii) financial reporting and disclosure cycle; and (iv)
tax management cycle of major operating subsidiaries of the Group. The
external professional consultant submitted a review report with the relevant
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Board for implementation.
The Group and the Audit Committee will keep reviewing the resources’
availability for the implementation of internal control function and risk
management and will regulate the activities for both.
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The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the key areas of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems, including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of our accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting staff, and their training programs and budget, are
reasonably implemented and the Group has complied with provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code regarding risk management and internal control
systems in general for the year ended 31 December 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks when conducting its business
operations globally. The Board assists the Group in anticipating its risk
exposure, putting controls in place to counter threats, and pursuing its set
objectives. After the Board has identified the top risks of the Group, the
Directors will assess how much risk the Board is faced with through the Group's
operation and governance processes.

Based on the risk profile of each business unit, and taking into account the
management control and corporate oversight at Group level, the Audit
Committee and the external professional consultant would map out a risk-
based internal audit plan each year. The Company has separated its risks into

two levels:
(1) Enterprise risk level which is mainly externally driven and will be

mitigated by solution comes from management discussion; and

(2)  Operating risk level which is mainly internally driven and will be
mitigated by building up risk control matrixes for tests of controls and
remediation of deficiencies identified.

The following are the current top and emerging risks of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Commercial Risk

Commercial risk refers to potential losses arising from inadequate gross
margins and/or non-performance of trading partners or counterparties in the
regions that the Group is operating. It is important to ensure that our trading
partners or counterparties are reliable, financially healthy and willing to comply

with sound commercial practice.

Currently, the key commercial risks facing by the Group are international
economic conflicts. During the year, the PRC and the US are still engaged in
a trade war that each country continues to dispute tariffs placed on goods
traded between them. As some of the major customers of the Group are
located in the US and the major production facilities of the Group are located
in the PRC, the China-United States trade war has some impact on the Group's
business and operations. In order to mitigate the impact from the China-
United States trade war and to avoid the tariffs imposed by the US on products
originating from the PRC, the Group has managed these commercial risks by:

(@)  strengthening its supply chain management, such as encouraging our
suppliers to establish new production facilities in Vietnam to cope with
the production orders of parts and accessories of our products;

(b)  relocating certain manufacturing workflows to India by establishing local
production facilities to diversify the production facilities of the Group;
and

(c)  working closely with the customers in the US to streamline the process
of products delivery and customs clearance.

Financial Risk

Currency risk

For bank borrowings, the functional currency of each operating entity is
generally matched with its liabilities. As such, the management does not
expect any significant foreign currency risk associated with the Group's

borrowings.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages and maintains a level of operating cash flows deemed to
be adequate by the management to finance the Group'’s daily operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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Environmental Risk

The Group may be exposed to potential liabilities to third parties due
to pollution and non-compliance with environmental regulations and
requirements. At present, the Group has outsourced most of its manufacturing
process to suppliers and only maintained an assembly line in Zhongshan, the
PRC. The exposure to environmental risks is mitigated by the development
of close relationships with suppliers to ensure that all the materials used in
productions are met with environmental standards required by customers.

Compliance Risk

The Group has adopted internal procedures to monitor the Group’s
compliance risk to ensure that the Group is in compliance with the laws
and regulations where applicable. Besides, the Group engages an external
professional consultant to review the Group's corporate governance and legal
advisers to update the Group about the latest development in the regulatory

environment.

The Board has overseen the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review of the effectiveness of the
Company's and its subsidiaries’ risk management and internal control systems
has been conducted annually and the systems are considered to be effective

and adequate.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company actively fulfills its social responsibilities by protecting the
environment, making good use of and cherishing resources, adopting more
environmentally-friendly designs and technologies and improving the
environmental awareness of its employees, partners and customers, so as to
minimise the impacts of the business of the Company on the environment.
For details, please refer to the 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company, which will be published on the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company

(www.sandmartin.com.hk).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group's position and prospects in annual
reports, interim reports and other financial disclosures as required by the

Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the independent
auditor’s report on pages 69 to 77 of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication policy on 1 June
2018 and the Board shall review on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following
ways: (i) the holding of AGM and SGM, if any, which may be convened for
specific purposes which provide opportunities for the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Board; (i) the publication of announcements,
annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing
Rules; and (iii) the availability of latest information of the Group on the
Company's website.

General Meetings with Shareholders
Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and
communicate with the Company by mail, telephone, fax and email, details of

which are made available on the Company’s website.

Separate resolutions were proposed at the general meetings for such
substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring Directors. The
Company’s notice to Shareholders for the 2023 AGM was sent to the
Shareholders at least 21 clear days before the meeting and notices of all other
general meetings were sent to the Shareholders at least 14 clear days before

the meetings.
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On behalf of Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, the chairman of the Board, who was unable to
attend the 2023 AGM, Mr. Hung Tsung Chin, an executive Director, and the
external auditor were available at the 2023 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. With the assistance of the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited (“Branch Share Registrar”),
the representative of the Branch Share Registrar had explained the procedures
for conducting a poll during the 2023 AGM. The poll results announcement
is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company
respectively on the same day as the poll.

During the year, two general meetings were held. The 2023 AGM was held on
28 June 2023 and a SGM was held on 22 May 2023, the voting for both of them
were conducted by way of poll. The attendance records of the Directors are set
out on page 28.

Information Disclosure on Corporate Website

The Company endeavours to disclose all material information about the Group
to all interested parties as widely and as timely as possible. The Company
maintains a corporate website at www.sandmartin.com.hk where important
information about the Company’s activities and corporate matters such as
annual reports and interim reports to the Shareholders, announcements and
circulars are available for review by the Shareholders and other stakeholders.

When announcements and circulars are made through the Stock Exchange, the
same information will be made available on the website of the Company.

During the year, the Company issued various announcements in respect of

financial and inside information, which can be viewed on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Investor Relations

The Company recognises its responsibility to explain its activities to those with
a legitimate interest and to respond to their questions. In addition, questions
received from the general public and individual Shareholders are answered
promptly. In all cases, great care is taken to ensure that no inside information is

disclosed selectively.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy during the year and concluded that it is
effective because majority of the Directors attended the 2023 AGM held on 28
June 2023 either by person or by means of electronic facilities to communicate
with the Shareholders. In addition, all corporate communications and
regulatory announcements were published by the Company on its websites
and the website of the Stock Exchange in a timely manner.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders as required to
be disclosed pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code:

Convening a SGM and putting forward proposals at such meetings.

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Bye-Laws,
Shareholder(s) as at the date of deposit of the requisition holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit
a written requisition requiring a SGM to be called by the Board. The written
requisition (i) must state the purposes of the meeting, and (ii) must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11 Bermuda (the “Registered
Office”) or head office in Hong Kong at Unit 516, 5th Floor, Peninsula Centre,
67 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the
Board or the company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists. Such requisitions will be verified with the Branch Share
Registrar and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene a SGM by serving
sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been
verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of a valid
requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitions or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may
themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said date of deposit of the requisition.
In addition, such meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be
convened by the Board.

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number of
Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates, or not less than 100
Shareholders, can at the expense of the requisitionists request the Company in
writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next AGM
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition
signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited at the Registered Office of
the Company for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary with
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses and not less
than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any
other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available for viewing on the Company’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholding to the
Branch Share Registrar. Other enquiries from Shareholders may be put forward
to the Board through the Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to
the Board for handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as

follows:

The Company Secretary

Sandmartin International Holdings Limited
Unit 516, 5th Floor, Peninsula Centre,

67 Mody Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Email: ir@sandmartin.com.hk
Tel No: +852 2587 7798
Fax No: +852 2587 7728

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended bye-laws of the Company (the
“Amended Bye-Laws") at the 2023 AGM which was held on 28 June 2023, so
as to, among others, comply with the updated Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code which came into effect on 1 January 2022. The Amended

Bye-Laws is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNEREERBCERE

DIRECTORS
Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, aged 47
Chairman of the Board, Non-Executive Director

was appointed as a non-executive Director on 18 August 2017 and the
chairman of the Board on 24 August 2021. He graduated with a bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration from Aletheia University in Taiwan and holds
a master’s degree of business administration from Pace University in 2003 in
the United States. Mr. Kuo is a certified public accountant of the New Jersey
State Board of Accountancy.

He has several years of work experience in investment advisory, financial
advisory and corporate finance at PricewaterhouseCoopers, Bank of America
Merrill Lynch and Private Equity Management Group and held various key roles
at several private and listed companies engaging in (i) the administrative and
corporate business; (ii) corporate finance; and (iii) general management in
real estate development business, shipping business, retailing business and
logistics business. Mr. Kuo has a wealth of experience in business strategy
development and innovation management.

He is the chairman and the general manager of First Steamship Company
Limited (“First Steamship”) (a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation (“TWSE") (TWSE Stock Code: 2601) and is a substantial shareholder
of the Company and through its subsidiaries collectively holds 42.11% of
the issued share capital of the Company). Mr. Kuo is also a director and the
chairman of Grand Ocean Retail Group Limited (a company listed on the TWSE
(TWSE Stock Code: 5907) and is a subsidiary of First Steamship) and Taiwan
Environment Scientific Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Taipei Exchange)
(Taipei Exchange Stock Code: 8476). He is currently a non-executive director
and the chairman of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1073). He
is also a director of several subsidiaries of the First Steamship, including but
not limited to Mariner Finance Limited, Morton Securities Limited and First
Steamship S.A. He has served as a non-executive director and the chairman
of the board of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 102) from 28
December 2017 to 26 April 2019. Mr. Kuo was a director of IRC Properties, Inc. (a
company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange) from July 2017 to May 2018
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Mr. Hung Tsung Chin, aged 62
Executive Director, Authorised Representative

is the founder of the Group, which was founded in November 1989. He was
the Chairman of the Board until 18 August 2017. Mr. Hung acts as an executive
Director and authorised representative of the Company. He is currently
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive
officer of several subsidiaries of the Company which are engaged in the

Manufacturing and Trading of Electronic Products Business Division.

Mr. Hung has over 34 years of management experience in the electronics
manufacturing industry. He graduated from the National Chengchi University
in Taiwan, with a bachelor's degree in business administration. Mr. Hung also
completed the executives programme from the Graduate School of Business
Administration, National Chengchi University.

He is the husband of Ms. Chen Mei Huei, the director of several subsidiaries
of the Company and the chief executive officer of the Satellite Broadcasting
Services Business Division.

Mr. Chen Wei Chun, aged 47
Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer

joined the Group in May 2015 and was appointed as an executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28 August 2015 and 30
November 2017 respectively. He is also the director and the chief financial
officer of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Chen graduated from National Chengchi University and Shih
Chien University with a master’s degree in finance and a master’s degree in
business administration respectively. He is well experienced in accounting
and finance industries. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the head of
finance department of TTY Biopharm Company Limited and head of finance
department of KH.S. Musical Instrument Company Limited.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Ms. Chen Wei-Hui, aged 46
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairperson of Audit Committee, Member of

each of Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee

is an independent non-executive Director since 23 December 2022. She is
currently the chairperson of Audit Committee, member of each of Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee. She was conferred the Master’s
degree of Accounting from National Chengchi University in 2002 and
Bachelor's degree of Accounting from Fu Jen Catholic University in 1999, both
in Taiwan. Ms. Chen is a certified public accountant of the Republic of China, a
Certified Internal Auditor of The Institute of Internal Auditors-Chinese Taiwan
and a Land Administration Agent of the Republic of China. Ms. Chen is a Land
Administration Agent of Canaan Land Registration Office since 2022 and was
an Assistant Vice President of Taipei Exchange from 2005 to 2022 and Audit
Assistant Manager of Deloitte and Touche of Taiwan from 2002 to 2005.

Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan, aged 52
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee, Member

of each of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee

is an independent non-executive Director since 24 August 2021. He is currently
the chairman of Nomination Committee, member of each of Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee. He was conferred the degree of Master of
Law in Science and Technology from the Institute of Law of Science and
Technology, College of Technology Management at the National Tsing Hua
University in 2010, in Taiwan. Mr. Lu has been appointed as a member of the
Taipei Bar Association since 2013. Mr. Lu is a senior partner of Heng-Sheng
Attorney-at-Law since April 2016 and was a prosecutor of Taiwan Pingtung
District Prosecutors Offices and Taiwan Miaoli District Prosecutors Offices.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ESNEREERBCERE &)

Mr. Wu Chia Ming, aged 55
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Remuneration Committee,
Member of each of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee

is an independent non-executive Director since 1 December 2014. He is
currently the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wu has a
master’s degree in business administration from the Institute of International
Business, National Chen-kung University and a bachelor’s degree in electronic
engineering from Chung Yuan Christian University in Taiwan. He has nearly 29
years of experience in financial analysis and fund management. Currently, Mr.
Wu is the chairman of Fortune-Future Investment Co., Ltd. Prior to that, he was
a fund manager of KGI Securities Investment Trust Co., Ltd.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chen Mei Huei, aged 61

Director of several subsidiaries of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of
Satellite Broadcasting Services Business Division

is a co-founder of the Group since 1989. She is currently a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive officer of Satellite
Broadcasting Services Business Division. Ms. Chen is responsible for the overall
management of the Group including all overseas offices. She has been actively
engaged in the sales and marketing development of the Group in Taiwan
and the international markets for more than 34 years and has particular focus
on new customers and new market development in recent years. Ms. Chen
graduated from Tamkang University in Taiwan with a dual bachelor’s degree in
Spanish Literature and International Trade. She is the wife of Mr. Hung Tsung
Chin, an executive Director and authorised representative of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Mr. Frank Karl-Heinz Fischer, aged 64
Director of several subsidiaries of the Company, Vice President of the Group, Chief
Technology Officer of the Group

joined the Group in January 2008 and is currently a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company, and the vice president and chief technology
officer of the Group. He is responsible for the global marketing strategy
and technical support of the Group. Mr. Fischer has more than 34 years of
experience in hardware and software development for consumer electronic
products in Europe and has been involved in Digital TV technologies since the
beginning of Digital Video Broadcasting (“DVB”) Project in 1994. He graduated
as diploma degree engineer for automation technology and cybernetics from
the Technical University Leipzig in Germany.

Mr. Hsiao Yu Jung, aged 58
Deputy General Manager of the Group's Digital Video Broadcasing ("DVB’) division

joined the Group in July 2002 and is currently the deputy general manager of
the Group's DVB division. He is responsible for procurement, manufacturing
and development of the Group's DVB products and supervision of the
Company’s associate company in Nepal. Mr. Hsiao obtained a diploma in
mechanical design engineering from the National Formosa University in
Taiwan.

Mr. Su Jow Shi, aged 60
General Manager of the Group’s digital TV division

joined the Group in September 1995 and is currently the general manager
of the Group's digital TV division. He is responsible for the Group’s digital TV
operations in South Asia region. Mr. Su graduated from the San Diego State
University where he earned a Master of Public Administration degree.

Ms. Su Wan Ling (also known as Ms. Julia Swen), aged 58
Director of Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

has been working in our Group since 2007 and is currently a director of Pro
Brand Technology, Inc. She is responsible for promoting cable products,
satellite and digital television products in the market of the United States.
Ms. Su graduated from the University of California, with a bachelor's degree
in Biochemistry; a master’s degree in Environmental Science and a master’s
degree of Business Administration. She has over 29 years of experience in
research of biotechnology field and business management.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Mr. Sven Willig, aged 50
General Manager of Intelligent Digital Services GmbH (“IDS")

has joined the Group since 2005 and is currently the general manager of IDS.
He is responsible for business and project development of IDS. Mr. Sven has
over 24 years of management experience in the development and quality
control of digital television technologies.

Mr. Huang Jung-Sen, aged 54
Director of Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

has joined Pro Brand Technology, Inc,, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group since 2017 as a director and chief technology officer, Asia Region and
deputy general manager of Pro Brand Technology, Inc. and was promoted
to general manager of Asia Region on 1 February 2021. He is responsible for
the entire proactive product development and sales of LNBs in Asia Region of
Pro Brand Technology, Inc., as well as product development and sales of the
new product line, i.e. home network. Mr. Huang graduated from the Yuan Ze
University in Taiwan with a master’s degree in electrical and communication
engineering. He has 28 years of experience in overall technology development,
management and sales of high frequency and microwave-related fields and
related businesses.

Mr. Tsai Li Che, aged 45
General Manager of China Region, Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co., Ltd.*

joined the Group in December 2001 and is currently the general manager of
China Region of Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co., Ltd. He is responsible
for the operation of multimedia business in China region. Mr. Tsai graduated
from Murdoch University with a bachelor degree of information technology. He
has 23 years of experience in technology development and management and
the relevant sales business in the field of international trade of multimedia.

*  For identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The Board has the pleasure of presenting the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating results for the year ended 31
December 2023 by principal activities is set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 78 to 79 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set
out as below:

Section(s) in the annual report

EEEMAREAKREBE_T_=F1+_5
=+ HEFENFRIEEEFRREMBHRE

EFEXRK
AR A—REEERAT - HEBHBA
SEBRNAEBRARBRAM 2 -

SilZoES

ARBHE-B-=FT-A=+-ALFEEE
B Rt RIS RS AT B A R R A B R
REOWIRE7 -

45
AEEEE-_T-_—F+-_A=-+—HLFEMNE
BHENAERFBEEFVENGABEREME
AL

£ 0]
AEEBE-E-=F+ A=t ALFENE
BEERIIMT :

Page no. of the
annual report

FEHEH FEHHEE

a. Fair review of the Company’s business Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 14

RRBEBOHE RIS EBMEREREN mEST FoEZEFE14H
b. Description of the principal risks and Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders 4t05

uncertainties the Company is facing TRBRERE B4EEFSE

MR R B EE YK EZ@m R R Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 14

RERZ BB RERENRENS FOEEE14H
C. Particulars of important events affecting Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 14

the Company that have occurred since the 58I E & B IR Bl E DT FOEZEF148

year ended 31 December 2023 Financial Review 1510 22

BEEZE-_T-_=F+-A=+—H gl FISEEENE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHRE &

Section(s) in the annual report

Page no. of the
annual report

TEHEH TEHZHE
Indication of likely future development of  Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 14
the Company’s business (¥EMENREEENREASNT FOHZEF14H
ARBEBARKA R EROITR
Analysis using financial key performance  Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 14
indicators BB REBEENREST FoEEFE14H
ERMBEEERREENT Financial Review 1510 22
gl FISEERENE
Financial Summary 196
MBRE 21968
Discussion on the Company'’s Corporate Governance Report 23t049
environmental policies and performance 2B ATRE FEBEEF49H

BREARRREBELKRBANN

An account of the Company’s key
relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Company and on
which the Company'’s success depend
ARABEEES - TP RHEEAR
HARBBERTERARRAIHKY
PR RE B EoAth A+ BO BB R AR

Discussion on the Company's compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Company
RARETHARRAEAZENERA
ER SR TE BN A R

Further information about the Company’s

environmental policies and performance will be described in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023"

(a standalone report)
BERAARRRBRHRRRENE-FTERE
RIZEZ=FRIR HeRE/BE]

(= BYHE)PIRE

Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis
BB R ERENREST
Report of the Directors

E=gWms

Corporate Governance Report
EERRE
Report of the Directors

E=gns
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETRE#E

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted the Dividend Policy, pursuant to which the
Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders, provided
that the Group records a profit after tax and that the declaration and
distribution of dividends does not affect the future growth of the Group.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and may be adopted
changes as appropriate at the relevant time to ensure the effectiveness of the

Dividend Policy.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of the movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated

financial statements of the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity linked agreements were entered into during or subsisted at the end
of the year ended 31 December 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies were a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any distributable reserve
(2022: Nil).

Details of the movements in reserves during the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in page 82 and page 83 to the consolidated financial statements of

the Group.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus account of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium

accounts.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any donation for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEQWE (E

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-Laws, from time to time in force, provide that every Director is entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses and
damages which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance

throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

The permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year ended 31
December 2023 for the benefit of the Directors.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group is set out on page 196 of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate sales attributable to
the Group's five largest customers amounted to approximately 57.7% of the
Group's total sales and the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer

were approximately 29.5% of the Group's total sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate purchases attributable to
the Group's five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 31.7% of the total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 9.6% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (who to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the issued shares of the
Company) had any interests in the five largest customers and suppliers of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts other than employment contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2023.

LITIGATION

The details of the Group's litigations proceedings are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin
Mr. Chen Wei Chun

Non-executive Director

Mr. Kuo Jen Hao (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Chia Ming

Ms. Chen Wei-Hui

Mr. Lu Ming-Shiuan

In accordance with Bye-Laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Hung Tsung
Chin and Mr. Wu Chia Ming shall retire from office by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

No retiring Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has entered
into a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEQWE (E

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there was no change to
information required to be disclosed by the Directors pursuant to paragraphs
(a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the Company's
interim report 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management, together
with those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and Corporate Governance Report on page 34
respectively.

The emolument payable to the Directors (including salary and other benefits)
are recommended by the Remuneration Committee of the Company for the
Board's approval, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Connected Transaction” in this
report, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its
fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a Director
or his or her connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was considered to be interested
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

References are made to the Rights Issue Announcements, Circular and
Prospectus. Unless otherwise specified herein, capitalised terms used
herein shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Rights Issue
Announcements, Circular and Prospectus.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

On 15 March 2023, the Company entered into the Underwriting Agreement
with First Steamship in respect of the Rights Issue, pursuant to which First
Steamship has agreed to subscribe for the Untaken Rights Shares, being all
the Unsubscribed Rights Shares that are not placed by the Placing Agent or
they have been placed but the placees have not paid therefor at 4:00 p.m. on
the Placing Completion Date. The above transaction constituted connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and was subject
to the reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as one or more of
the applicable percentage ratios exceeded 5%.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of significant related party transactions made during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

The related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules. The Directors
confirmed that the Company was in compliance with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of each Director
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in
the register pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(@) Long positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company

EETHRE &

R-ZZBEZ=F=A+HHB » NAQFHEEMEL LT
VAR Bt SMBEERESEBRTEHE
R FEEAGERBET » REBRERAEERRGD - B
S 4 D R IR iR S B 1 B AR AE B AR D A AT
%&E&HHT%EH%E%U’*%%MMZ%E* R
HREKD - Eai R K ETRBIE4AZRNTRE
$w,.ﬁ%ﬁkx% mER—ExZEERA DL REB
B5%  WEBSF EMRAUNEMAAZTBE N ZHE - A
5 BB PR AL ERE ©

HEBALIRS
REE=ZTE-_=F+-A=+—HLFERH#ETZ
BAEBALIRZIMERANEBEILRE MISEREM
39 HEEE o

ZEBRB ST AEBA ETHANETHOBEES
%/Tiitﬁﬂi_sc% EECOHRAQARDEST LT
HABUAZBE T ZHERE °

EERBESTRAERKMD - HEKR
REZTFHERR “%

R-IZEBE-_=F+_-A=+—8 EFRAQNAHRS
THRAESEARARRREMAEEB(EERESFR
HE GBI EXVER) MRS ~ HERERRD RESH T )
E*E%J%Zm%&Eﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ%xv%%7&8/h ,,\%HQK
NEI LB ERZ AR (RREFEREE
FHAE flﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁMX%&“‘VE%%%VE%EE’J’f& SEC%
£) ) BERAREES M EEIEHISE3525BF
EE’JMEH%WWE SEORE  HOBRIBIZESTRIE
MERRNE) MEBRZTRED AR WT ¢

(a) RARFARYG  HEROREZNEFR

Z
\

Percentage

Number of of the issued

Name of Director Capacity Shares held share capital
BEEnE =27) FrERB#E BRTREABAL
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin Interest of controlled corporation 140,000,000 11.38%2

HERE REHNEE RS

Notes:
1. These Shares represent Shares held by Metroasset Investments Limited in which Mr.

Hung Tsung Chin beneficially owns 45.09% of the issued share capital.

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,230,403,725 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2023.

1. EiqﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁMetroasset Investments Limited# A &)
IR R A B A %R R M45.09% 2 FHAT
x$

2. BER-T_=F+_A=+—HEBHITRHEE
1,230,403,725/% 51 & -
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= E TS (E

(b) Long positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of associated corporations of the Company

Name of associated corporation:

Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

(b) REATMEBEENRG - HERORE
FNER
FEEDZE S
B BRI AR A A)*(Pro Brand Technology, Inc.)

Percentage
Number of to the issued
Name of Directors Capacity Shares held share capital
=g &1 FEROBE ERTREAESL
Mr. Chen Wei Chun Interest of controlled corporation 350,000'
BRiESHEE Rt EE R R
Beneficial owner 300,000°
ERBEEA
Total 650,000 0.82%°
st
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin Beneficial owner 450,000° 0.57%°
HRE K ERBEEA
Notes: BiE
1. These shares represent 350,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc, a non-wholly 1. ZERMARERBUHMEREAERAAFAENERAF

owned subsidiary of the Company, held by Jun Zhong Investment Limited* ($3fh#&
ABPRZAR) in which Mr. Chen Wei Chun beneficially owns the entire issued share

capital.

2. These shares represent 300,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly

owned subsidiary of the Company, owned by Mr. Chen Wei Chun.

3. These shares represent 450,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, owned by Mr. Hung Tsung Chin.

4. The calculation is based on the total number of 78,923,970 Shares in issue as at 31

December 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were
required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO; or () to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, the following companies and persons, other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company, had long positions of 5% or
more in the Shares and underlying Shares which fell to be disclosed to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

EFEWME#)

BRERFIEBREN RZT_=F+=-A=+—
B BMEEERARARSTRABRARREME
I AEEE (E & BB S LB HREIEXVER) 75
n - EROREEETQEBREESFRBRK
PIZEXVEBSR 7 K873 BRB AN AN X B) M B 52 Ffr 0 (1]
Bamgok R (BREEREEF MEFRMIBRGRX
WREFLRIEHRBNERIAR) : bOBRAR
B R RERGIF3S2RBFEN S L MAR S
FAR ¢ HOBBRETRAME AR MR
B EfAIEESIAR -

RERSRBEHEOATHRENRR
R KR

RZZBZ=F+-"A=1+—8 " REARAREE
7 R AERGIF336EFENELM - U TRRRA
T(EERARARHTRABRIN) EHERIERZS
REEGRBIFEXVERF 20 88 R F 30 BBAR AN R B H
FRHYS% A LD MARBER D VIR

Number of
ordinary shares Percentage

and underlying of the issued

Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares held share capital

FrisgiBER BETRA

BREBE 54 RiEBROEA ERalrd

Metroasset Investments Limited' Beneficial owner 140,000,000(L) 11.38%°
EnHEA A

Ms. Chen Mei Huei? Interest of controlled corporation 140,000,000(L) 11.38%°

REFZ L RESEE MR
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EETRE#E

Number of
ordinary shares
and underlying

Percentage
of the issued

Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares held share capital
FiFEBER BRITRA
RREH 54 RiEBERGEA Aot
First Steamship Company Limited? Beneficial owner 473,869,283(L) 38.51%°
=R AR AR EnEEA
Interest of controlled corporation 44,197,255(L) 3.59%°
SV A E R R
Legacy Trust Company Limited* Interest of controlled corporation 187,118,394(L) 15.21%°
AR HEE R
Chen Ming-Jieh Beneficial owner 120,000,000(L) 9.75%°

RaRE BEmEA A

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any Company
or other person (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short positions of 5% or more in the shares and
underlying shares for the year ended 31 December 2023 which fell to be
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Notes:

1. These Shares are held by Metroasset Investments Limited, 45.09% of the issued share capital
of which is beneficially owned by Mr. Hung Tsung Chin.

2. The Shares are the same batch of Shares (as referred to in note 1) held by Metroasset
Investments Limited, 44.38% of the issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by
Ms. Chen Mei Huei, the spouse of Mr. Hung Tsung Chin.

3. First Steamship Company Limited is interested in 518,066,538 Shares. It holds 473,869,283
Shares as beneficial owner and 44,197,255 Shares through Grand Citi Limited, which is
wholly-owned by Grand Ocean Retail Group Ltd., which is in turn owned as to 58.62% by First
Steamship S.A., a wholly-owned subsidiary of First Steamship Company Limited.

4, Disclosure of the percentage of the issued share capital held by Legacy Trust Company
Limited is made as per the announcement of the Company dated 4 July 2023. Legacy Trust
Company Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Vincent Chok.

5. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,230,403,725 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2023.

(L) - denotes long position; (S) - denotes short position
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the laws
in Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
under which the Company would be obliged to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to the existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained the amount of public

float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been audited by BDO. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO as the
Company's auditor for the ensuing year is to be proposed at the 2024 AGM.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to Shareholders
by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders are unsure about
the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult an
expert.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETRE#E

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend, speak
and vote at the forthcoming AGM to be held on Friday, 7 June 2024, the
register of members of the Company (“Register of Members”) will be closed as

appropriate as set out below:
Latest time to lodge transfer documents No later than 4:30 p.m. on
accompanied by the relevant share certificates Friday, 31 May 2024

for registration with the Branch Share Registrar

Record Date Friday, 31 May 2024

Closure of the Register of Members Monday, 3 June 2024 to
Friday, 7 June 2024
(both days inclusive)

For purpose mentioned above, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Branch Share Registrar, at Room 2103B, 21/F., 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong no later than the aforementioned latest time.

For and on behalf of the Board

Kuo Jen Hao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 April 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

|IBDO

&% : +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SANDMARTIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sandmartin
International Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 195, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited
ERUGEREEMEHRMERAR

B ZEAD RS

25 Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EETHEERIRE
FEHI2518

BESTEREZRERAFAZERRE
(REFRZEAMA L ZFRAF])

=R
HAEERHNEBEEFI5EANERST B
ERARAR(EAR D RENBRAR(AEL &
SENGEAVHERR  LEWBHRREBER =
T —F+ A=t HNEAMBEIRARLEE
ZBELEFRENGE B EMEEKER  RaE
DS PHRNGAAERER - UAREAMBHRERN
i BREASFBERER -

BMRE  ZEREVBRERERESASHMA
2([BEESHMAE]) BHE BN IEHREER
BEEEQAFHRMT BEEER-_ZT==%+2=A
=+ —HNGREMBRARBEZB EFENGE
HBERARGERERE - WEIRBE B A &M
BRATZAERE -

BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

B N2 B R

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3(b) in the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$126,566,000 attributable to
owners of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of
that date, the Group had net liabilities of HK$36,963,000. As stated in note 3(b),
these conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 3(b), indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of

this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of receivables
(Refer to notes 5, 21, 22, 25 and 37(b) to the consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries with a principal amount of US$71,298,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$557,094,000) and related interest receivables with a gross
amount of US$48,458,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$378,631,000),
several receivables from an associate, Dish Media Network Limited, including (i)
loan to an associate with a principal amount of HK$23,268,000; and (ii) amount
due from an associate (including trade and interest receivables) with a gross
carrying amount of HK$43,075,000. In addition, the Group had trade and bills
receivables with a gross carrying amount of HK$238,981,000 as at 31 December
2023.

The Group elected to measure loss allowances for amount due from an
associate which is trade in nature and trade and bills receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and calculated expected credit losses (“ECLs") based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has engaged an independent specialist in assisting
the Group to establish a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the

associate and the economic environment.

The Group measured the ECLs of loan to an associate and interest receivables
at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs is the portion of
the lifetime ECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. The Group measured the ECLs of loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries using lifetime ECLs as these receivables are considered credit-
impaired. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the
Group has engaged an independent specialist to consider reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment

and including forward-looking information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

B N I ENRD R & (&

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of receivables (Continued)

Based on the Group's measurement, ECLs of loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries, loan to an associate, amount due from an associate and trade
and bills receivables of HK$935,726,000, HKS$3,689,000, HK$6,390,000 and
HKS$131,204,000 respectively were recognised as at 31 December 2023. As a
result, the net amounts of loan receivables due from former subsidiaries, loan
to an associate, amount due from an associate and trade and bills receivables
were nil, HK$19,579,000, HK$36,684,000 and HK$107,777,000 respectively as at
31 December 2023.

Accordingly, provision for ECLs on financial assets of HK$11,886,000 were
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

We identified impairment assessment of receivables as a key audit matter
because significant amount of judgment and estimation was involved in

determining the ECLs allowance.

Our response
Our key procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
included:

Evaluating the independent specialist's competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

- Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing analysis of trade
receivables;

- Testing the accuracy and evaluating the relevance of the historical loss
data as an input to the expected credit loss model (“ECL model”); and
- Involving valuation specialist in
- Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the design and
implementation of internal controls relating to credit control, debt

collection, estimate of expected credit losses and making related
allowances under ECL model;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of receivables (Continued)
Our response (Continued)
- Obtaining and understanding on the key data and assumptions of
the ECL model adopted by the Group;

- Assessing the appropriateness of groupings of trade receivables

into categories of shared credit risk characteristics; and

- Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and forward
looking information to assess the reasonableness of the expected
credit loss rates.

Investment properties
(Refer to notes 5 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements)

The Group held several industrial properties located in The People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") which are classified as investment properties measured at fair

value.

The aggregate fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 31
December 2023 amounted to HK$197,471,000, representing 23.3% of the
Group's total assets as at that date.

The fair value of industrial properties in the PRC held by the Group with fair
values of HK$145,112,000 and HKS$9,821,000 was estimated using market
comparison approach and income approach respectively. The fair value
of investment properties under development in the PRC with fair value of
HKS$42,538,000 was estimated using residual approach. The valuation of the
investment properties are carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer who possess appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation
of properties in the relevant locations. The appropriateness of the valuation
is dependent on determination of certain key assumptions that require an
exercise of management judgement included reversionary yield, estimated
rental value, discount on quality of comparable properties and adjusted market
price and estimated budget costs of the properties under development. We
identified valuation of the Group's investment properties as a key audit matter
due to the size of the balance and determination of the fair values involves
significant judgement and estimation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

B N I ENRD R & (&

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Our response

Our key procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties
included:

- Evaluating the independent professional valuer’'s competence,

capabilities and objectivity;
- Involving valuation specialist in

- evaluating and assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions adopted; and

- checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the
input data used in the valuation.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to

any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

B N2 B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Yu Tsui Fong

Practising Certificate Number P05440

Hong Kong, 12 April 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

,-\-|/\ |:|\/

N H fth 2 T 4 o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

T2}

2023 2022
—E-= ===
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B =E FHET T
Revenue Wz 6 562,035 745,954
Cost of sales B E A A (488,427) (666,262)
Gross profit EH 73,608 79,692
Other income, gains and losses HAn A ~ Wz R Esa 8 19,069 41,899
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of investment & YR A FE
properties CRA) /1 hn 17 (636) 34,974
Write off of investment properties for WEHBEER 2 IREMS
re-development = (21,051)
Distribution and selling costs RIS PNETZR= DN (23,973) (23,147)
Administrative and other expenses TERREMAS (95,488) (92 967)
Research and development costs I N (26,059) (22,939)
Share of loss of an associate FE(E—EH & A AR EE 20 (46,717) (45,427)
Loss on changes in ownership interest W — s N E A
in an associate =B B EiE = (1,240)
(Provision for)/reversal of expected credit losses & R & EMTELZEEIE
on financial assets (B4%), /B (11,886) 10,526
Finance costs BhE R AN 9 (28,677) (28,161)
Loss before income tax expense FrEBiXHAIEE (140,759) (67,841)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrsfiE e,/ (ZH) 10 4,126 (12,674)
Loss for the year KREEEE 11 (136,633) (80,515)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax Hp 2 mEua (HkRHE)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HEingeEH BB VAE -
profit or loss:
- Exchange differences on translation of —MEIGINERRIE K25
foreign operations 11,912 (4,676)
— Re-measurement loss on defined benefit plan  — R ERBFFHE 2 EF T EEE - (124)
— Reclassification of currency translation reserve  — A —EIE# & N B B RS
to profit or loss upon changes in ownership BEREEHEREBET SR
interest in an associate B - 3,073
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHMEEWE 11,912 (1,727)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEELHIREEARE (124,721) (82,242)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

NN
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE-T_=E 7= A=N SiEN
2023 2022
=LA==4E A
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
Lz FTERT FHIT
Loss for the year attributable to: THZIEEERFEERSSE :
— Owners of the Company VNG 2PN (126,566) (77,548)
— Non-controlling interests — FEPERR R = (10,067) (2,967)
(136,633) (80,515)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: T 5| & ERE(L 2 E US4
— Owners of the Company —ARNBHEB A (117,938) (81,052)
- Non-controlling interests — FEPEA R e (6,783) (1,190)
(124,721) (82,242)
Loss per share BREE 14 HK cents &1l HK cents 7811l
- Basic —&K (14.75) (15.76)
- Diluted —¥E (14.75) (15.76)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR e BRI R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
e =S = H SN H

2023 2022
= — i 2 —
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
iz FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR E 15 107,330 58,809
Prepaid lease payments TERHEERIE 16 1 1
Investment properties WEYHE 17 197,471 231,949
Goodwill EES 18 31,145 8,772
Intangible assets mIEE 19 5,109 3,635
Interest in an associate R E QR AR 20 4 46,722
Deferred tax assets RER IR E B 23 4,597 4,247
Total non-current assets JEMEBVEELE 345,657 354,135
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 24 123,884 137,404
Trade, bills and other receivables BB ZRM - EREE N EME
WA 25 245,597 229,071
Prepaid lease payments TN HEERIA 16 26 27
Loan receivables EUWE K 22 - -
Loan to an associate BT —HEBERARNER 21 19,579 20,803
Amount due from an associate FEUR —fEI B & R B FR0E 21 36,684 38,015
Pledged bank deposits BIRRITER 26 5,970 8,252
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFERIRS 27 69,359 79,158
Total current assets MENE EAE 501,099 512,730
Current liabilities REEE
Trade, bills and other payables JEE SRR - ENEEK
Hfth &~ 5RIR 28 342,950 356,072
Contract liabilities BREE 29 21,115 17,673
Tax liabilities MIEAE 10,561 15,697
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 31 79,728 269,941
Provision for financial guarantee B TSR 30 27,332 27,332
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 7,497 4,979
Total current liabilities BB ERHE 489,183 691,694
Net current assets/(liabilities) REEE (AE)FHE 11,916 (178,964)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBERE 357,573 175,171
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

R ERE N )

I\‘/—.I_\
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
N=F==01= s el
2023 2022
=ECAR S o —
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FH&xT T
Non-current liabilities FnBAE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 31 281,984 81,990
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIEARE 23 60,179 66,786
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 52,373 13,544
Total non-current liabilities ERBREERE 394,536 162,320
Net (liabilities)/assets (BB EBESE (36,963) 12,851
Capital and reserves attributable to owners N2 T#EH AEERA R HE
of the Company
Share capital %N 33 123,040 49216
Reserves = (181,400) (74,989)
Capital deficiency attributable to owners RNARHEE ANEGEREA
of the Company (58,360) (25,773)
Non-controlling interests IR IR R = 21,397 38,624
Total (capital deficiency)/equity (BAREL), TEREE (36,963) 12,851

On behalf of the directors

Hung Tsung Chin
HEEE
Director

EE

Chen Wei Chun

BRI

Director

EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

l\\/T\
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAERARE
Share Capital Defined Property  Currency Non-
Share Share  option  Statutory redemption Contributed benefitplan  Special revaluation translation Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reseve  sumplus  reseve  reseve  reseve  reseve  losses Total  interests Total
ERE s [2 RERH DEER  SRAE FER
Rt RhHEE BE tERE Bf EEER HERE RIRE ] i ZiEE it & i
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO000  HKS000
Thr Thn Thr Thr TR TEr Thr  Thr TEr TR Thr  TEr TR Thn
(Noted) (Note d) (Noteb)  (Noteq)
(¥ (b () (i
Balance at 1 January 2022 RoB-E-B-RAzih 49216 50880 7960 32699 113 506750 14 8175 100437 (15537 (770,138) 55219 39814 95,093
Logsforthe year KEEER = - = = - = = = = - (S) (7548 (%67)  (80519)
Other comprehensive income netoftax — Eft2EUNE(RTA)
xchange differences on transation of RSB FHmENE 28

foreign operations - - - - - - - - - (64%3) - (6493) 1777 (4676)
Re-measure loss on defined bengfit plan RM‘J#J = = - - - - (124) - - - - (124) = (14)
Reclassfication of currency transltion R-THRE4A Wfﬁ

resenve o proft oross upon changes E%}ﬁ%f*ﬁi%

n ownership interest n an associate - - - - - - - - - 3083 - 3013 - 3073
Total comprehensive income fortheyear  AEE2AURAE = = = S = = (14 = = (B30 748 B0 (110 (8224
Trangfer &% - - - % - - - - - - (%9) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2022 and ZECCEYCRCT-AR

1 January 2023 CECZE-F-RzEH 4916 50,880 7960 33,694 1713 506,750 - 89,175 102437 (18917) (348,681)  (25773) 38624 12,851
Loss or the year KEEER - - - - - - - g - - (126566) (126566)  (10067)  (136,633)
Other comprehensive income, netoftax—— EM2 RS (HRHE)

Bxchange diferences on tinglation of RESENSBREENES 28

foreign operations - - - - - - - - - 8,627 - 8,627 3,285 1912
Total comprehensive income fortheyear  AEE2AUREE - - - - - - - - - 8627 (126566) (117.939) (6782 (124721
Acaquisiion of subsidaries (note 34 WEHB AR (M) S g e S g g S S g S S - (10445)  (10445)
Issue of shares upon righisissue (note 33(e) ~ EREEARA 38U 1158 e S g g S S - - -3 - BM
Transfer 1 S g e 102 S g S S - - (102 - - -

73824 11,528 - 102 - - - - - - (102) 85352 (10445) 74907
Balance at 31 December 2023 RoB-ZEtZR=t-R2E48 130400 62408 7960 33,79 1713 506,750 - 89175 102437 (10290) (975349)  (58,360) 21397 (36963)
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Notes:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

The statutory reserve is required by the relevant law of The People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC. The statutory reserve can be applied in
conversion into PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of a capitalisation issue.

The special reserve represents:

(i) the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries
and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued for the acquisition at the time
of a group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares and the surplus
arising pursuant to a capitalisation of advances from shareholders as part of the

group reorganisation;

(ii) the difference between the consideration for acquisition of a subsidiary satisfied by
way of partial interest of a subsidiary without the overall gain or loss of control in the
partial disposed subsidiary and the fair value of net asset acquired; and

(iii) the acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary without the overall gain or loss of

control in that subsidiary.

The property revaluation reserve is frozen upon the transfer of properties from property, plant
and equipment to investment properties and will be transferred to accumulated losses when
the relevant properties are disposed of.

The amount of HK$506,750,000 standing to the credit of the share premium account of the
Company was reduced to nil and that the credit arising therefrom was transferred to the
contributed surplus account arising from the capital reorganisation during the year ended 31
December 2021.

B EE -

—H= N\ /
D
I\‘/—.I_\ 1: / i m 7 @J %:Z (/Hg

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

EEBRETERNMIN P EARKMB(HEDOHER
AR BREREERTE  EERBAIEBERNMLEITHE
B BT A R B AR o

Fr Rl -

(0] FIT S R B 8 2 R B 7 Y T B AN 2 B AR AR 70 A
TEBEARR R FRMETHAR R RN EE
RIRB R BRBIEER (REREEN D)
FREABERZ RMERR

(i) A—TFEMBARNMBO R (TRERESRIKEZ
7oy HE T A R 6 ) BN E —RNE A
AREEMRBFEEATENEE R

(i) WE-RNBARRIMES (LEBRBESIREX
BB A R RIS HIAE)

MEBHHENEVE  BERREEBVEEREME
R & - B SRR ERERERAER -

AR B G 55 B AR 2 AR £ %8506,750,0008 TERES
MELEEZEREEBRERE_S-—F+=-A=1+—
BIEFE#ETRAEAEE 2 BERBHBRER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

1\\/—_|—\/\EE \/ //|L£%§

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

2023 2022
—E—= —E-F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E FET THIT
Cash flows from operating activities REXKEESRE
Loss before income tax expense FriS%i sz H Al &5 18 (140,759) (67,841)
Adjustments for: A TAEL A :
Amortisation of intangible assets L E 376 336
Decrease/(increase) in fair value of investment ¥ & WEBAFLER D, (3EH0)
properties 636 (34,974)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1%¥ - BE R ERETE 9,441 10,230
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 7,191 6,016
Gain on termination of a lease LIEEEr s (87) =
Provision for/(reversal of) expected TREENTEHREESE
credit losses on financial assets B (B@) 11,886 (10,526)
Finance cost B AR 28,677 28,161
Write off of investment properties for BEHRIEER 2 IREME
re-development - 21,051
Loss on changes in ownership interest R —EEE & N BB e s E)
in an associate ZEE = 1,240
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BEKRENETE
equipment 939 7
Loss arising from the formation of BN R EEREE
joint operation 23,475 =
Loss on disposal of intangible assets LEEFEENEBE = 83
Impairment loss on inventories FERERE 3,423 4,036
Interest income R B A (2,523) (552)
Interest income from an associate ke —REEE QR B A (1,012) (1,012)
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories =FE /JWE)EETET%@ (675) (2,360)
Release of prepaid lease payments ﬁé‘@ﬁﬁfﬂg\ = 28
Share of result of an associate B —EEEE A 7 SO 46,717 45,427
Operating cash flows before working EEECEHINLCERERE
capital changes (12,295) (650)
Decrease in inventories FERD 31,118 64,587
(Increase)/decrease in trade, bills and JENE SRR - EINEE &
other receivables E i EURERIB (B 0) R (5,840) 16,076
Decrease in trade, bills and JEHT%H%TA EREER
other payables H th A5 SR IB R (63,549) (32,653)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities = ,“’jjé{fi o/ Crid) 3,442 (7,640)
Decrease in amount due from JiE U — R B R RO FRIE R
an associate 238 176
Cash (used in)/from operations e (A ENRS (46,886) 39,896
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

1\\/T\ e EE:

\ Z ;/iﬁl E % (/”5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE_Z-_=F+-_A=1T—HILFE
2023 2022
o —E-F
Note HK$’000 HKS'000
iz FET FHET
Income tax paid BEATPTSH (7,056) (7,168)
Interest received B FE 2,523 552
Interest paid BEFE (25,762) (26,861)
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities IEEREB (BT ) sl e/ %8 (77,181) 6,419
Cash flows from investing activities BREXBBEERE
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits 2 IR TERUR D, (3E 1) 2,282 (4,649)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BB MEREMEHRIE
plant and equipment 5,318 200
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYX  HEREE (11,334) (6,063)
Net cash used in acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B AR TR IR & F 58 34 (9,655)
Addition of investment properties NEREYE - (7.677)
Addition to intangible assets NEELEE (1,681) (1,580)
Net cash used in investing activities REZFEATHE© F5E (15,070) (19,769)
Cash flows from financing activities REITBHEESRE
New bank and other borrowings raised FTEERT &ﬁ@fﬁ% 35 144,651 156,244
Repayment of borrowings BimEe 35 (138,833) (167,975)
Payment of interest element of lease liabilities ﬁﬁfﬁfﬁ ERPsR:iSs) 35 (2,915) (1,119
Payment of principal element of lease liabilities X MHFHEBEBEARE D 35 (6,252) (3,135)
Issue of shares BITR G 85,352 =
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities A ETBAE (B )% F5E 82,003 (15,985)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERRSZEYR FE (10,248) (29,335)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FNREMIREEEY
of the year 79,158 111,354
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes YN TR SR A B R 449 (2,861)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRBEFRESEBY 69,359 79,158
Analysis of the balances of cash and ReRBSEEYESIIT:
cash equivalents:
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRRE 69,359 79,158
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R 2R BT 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
e el Ale e B SARS (Bl

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 1. —REH
The Company is incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its AR BRBREIMEZZERAR - EfE
shares are listed on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong DREBBMEX S ER AT ([BRET]) XK
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office T e RARGEM M EEM U R EEEEEH
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the BRARFERA BN ZETHIFE o

corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as the “Group”) ARalREWBAR(TXAEIAER] )RS
engages in manufacturing and trading of satellite TV equipment BEBRRBEERMNEMSFERNRERE
products and other electronic goods. The details of principal activities 5 HB AR EZEB 2 BHNGRE T
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial SRR MFE42 o

statements.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RMBEBUBHRMEEAN(EBIHB

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) HEZED D)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective on (a) RAHT RBITEBHMBRESE
1 January 2023 Al—R=T==F—F—B4&X
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ERMBREENE R RREH
Amendments to HKAS1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies BERSTENEIRR  LHERES

and HKFRS Practice BN BREEAIEE
Statement 2 HERIE B ETA
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting EFGERNFTN  gihETE
Estimates EHEN
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BERGHENSRN FEE-RFNEE
Liabilities arising from a Single CHEN RBEREET
Transaction BIE
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform BERLENE RN BERRENE
— Pillar Two Model Rules BaTAR — SR RER
Except for Amendments to HKAST and HKFRS Practice Statement BEBGHENE 1R MEBYHHRESE
2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies, none of these new or BIVERERIE SRS AN B ST R IR R
amended HKFRSs has a material impact on the Group’s results SN R EF TS SE ] B A SR
and financial position for the current or prior period and financial B AR BN AHE S BEEE ¥4
statements disclosures. O BARR R BmEREENREERNY
-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective on

1 January 2023 (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

Amendments to HKAS T and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure

of Accounting Policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material accounting
policy information and provide guidance on applying the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosure. The Group has
revisited the accounting policy information it has been disclosing
and considered it is consistent with the amendments.

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective

The following new or revised HKFRSs have been issued, but are not
yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group's current intention is to apply these changes on the date
they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and

Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?
and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T-_=F+-_A=1+—HILEE

2. RMBEBMBRELEN(EFEBHE
WEER D) (&)

(a)

(b)

RANHETRETEBHBHREE
A—R-ZF-=F-A—-HB4£X%(#&)
AEBERNKETRENBRE LR
HOMEE R S A0 T STt

BB ERE 15 R BB R & £ R
1ERBRIZ2 G aVEE] A-B AT R K2
ZEEFAREERBEERSABE
B UREZERSEAR EFTHE
BEREHRES - ARECEFTEMRE
MEBRER  URF/EBRZFESR
R—F e

EEME E RERZHETRIEET
BEMBREER

AT BT B AR B RE LD
R BRARERE W EEREER
BRM - AEBEBRNABNZFEHE
MEBHRAZEZE -

BEMBREEA REEREBZNT]
FIORREBEE HAERAZEMN
EAFR{METE  BELELIE

BEGRAFIRN  REESIEARPR
EHEN FRE

BRI ENF IR  MERENFRYEE
CHES

BB SRS LR ERERNAEERE
F165MIERTA

BREHENEIRR  HEAREZH
BAMBREE]
EYL L[ HEN

BAGENENR  RTAHBE
BRI
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
SRS I = N E I FE

HE-T-

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Sandm

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)
] No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

P Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these new
accounting standards and amendments. The Group does not
expect the above new or revised HKFRSs to have material impact
on the Group's consolidated results and consolidated financial
position upon application.

New guidance on accounting for the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong issued by HKICPA

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(“the Amendment Ordinance”) was enacted. The Amendment
Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived
from employers’ mandatory contributions under the mandatory
provident fund (“MPF") scheme to offset severance payment
("SP") and long service payments (“"LSP") (“the Abolition”).
Subsequently, the Government of HKSAR announced that the
Abolition will take effect on 1 May 2025 (“the Transition Date”).

The following key changes will take effect since the Transition
Date:

—  Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP/SP in respect
of the employment period after the Transition Date.

—  The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated using the last
month'’s salary immediately preceding the Transition Date,
instead of using the last month’s salary of employment
termination date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 195
have been prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the HKFRSs) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties which are
measured at fair value. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and

services.

During the year, the Group incurred a net loss of HK$126,566,000
attributable to owners of the Company and at the end of
reporting period, the Group had net liabilities of approximately
HK$36,963,000. As at the same date, the Group had bank and other
borrowings of HK$79,728,000, which is subject to repayment or
renewal in the next twelve months after the end of the reporting
period. In addition, the Group had capital deficiency attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$58,360,000 as at 31 December
2023.

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T-_=F+-_A=1+—HILEE

3. mEER

(a)

(b)

HEHIER

BN E78EEF 195 B HERA MK DE
BIBEFMEE AV BREER - EEEE
ER([EBSTHER ) RARE(ATHE
BBMBmEER])  REBRBENZ
BERATEMAER o 1IN - SREM BT
BIEH R FTEE 5 LT AR R AT AR E A A

FFEERRSESERR
HEMBRRODRBRELKNANGR -
REMETDRRNFEFERI - ELK
AR—REEENILINE m MR P2
M2REZRFE-

RER - AEEHERQRES AEL
5 B8 126,566,000 70+ MR S B
AEEE B EFEEH36,963,000/4 7T © [
B AEBEBERRERRERKRTZ
BARNEEXREENRITREMEE
79,728,000 7T © AN RZT =4
+ZA=1+—8 xEEEARTER
AFE(EE AR B 458,360,000/ 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

38

20

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company (“the
Directors”) have given consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance in
the preparation of a cash flow forecast covering a 18-month period
from the end of the reporting period (“Cash Flow Forecast”) for
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. A sensitivity analysis has also been
performed by considering reasonably possible changes of the key
parameters in the Cash Flow Forecast. In addition, the following
plans and measures have been taken into account:

(1)  Based on communication with banks, the Group should
be able to renew most of the existing bank and other
borrowings that have expired or will expire in 2024 on
the basis that the Group have complied with the terms of
the loan arrangements and, based on the experience of
the Directors, there is sufficient headroom of the credit
enhancements provided by the Group over the amounts of
borrowings;

(2)  As of the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Group has unutilised bank loan facilities totalling
HK$184,000,000, comprising trade and term loans of
HK$85,783,000 and HK$98,217,000 respectively; and

(3)  The Group has implemented measures to launch new 5G
peripherals, Internet of Things and related products and
control costs and expenses so as to generate revenue and
cash flows to the Group.

Based on the cash flow forecast and the sensitivity analysis,
the Group would have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the at least twelve months subsequent to end of reporting
period. Accordingly, the Directors considered that it is appropriate
to continue to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a

going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

()

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, there are inherent uncertainties
associated with the future outcome of the Cash Flow Forecast
that, inter alia, includes whether the business outlook of the
Group would not significantly deteriorate or change out of the
Directors’ expectation, the sales performance of newly launched
products would achieve the targeted sales level and margin, the
cost control measures could be effectively implemented without
compromising the competitive edge of the Group, the Group
would be able to renew the bank and other borrowings within the
period of the Cash would be able to renew the bank and other
borrowings within the period of the Cash Flow Forecast. These
conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt about the Groups ability to continue as a going
concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to adjust the value
of assets to their estimated net realisable values, to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities
respectively, and to provide for any further liabilities which may
arise. The effects of these potential adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollars
("US$"), while the consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS"). As the Company is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, the Directors consider that it will be
more appropriate to adopt HKS as the Group’s and the Company's
presentation currency.

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

4.

92

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a)

(i)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with
the Group's accounting policies.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

The carrying amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary is
the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such
non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such
non-controlling interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(ii)

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities
and assets meets the definition of a business and control
is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a
particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group
assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired
includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive processes
and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit

or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets and liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair values.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net of the acquisition-date fair value amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
a bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

4.

94

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(Continued)

(i) Business combinations (Continued)
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may
be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or,
when applicable, on the basis specified in another standard.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associate are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associate
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related

assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group
(such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised
in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement when there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the Group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the same
principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as joint
operations, where the Group has both the rights to assets and

obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement.

The Group accounts for its interests in joint operations by
recognising its share of assets in accordance with its contractually

conferred rights and obligations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

4.

26

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable assets and

liabilities acquired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to
each asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset
will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below
its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in use
(if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Trading of satellite TV equipment products and other electronic goods
Customers obtain control of the satellite TV equipment products
and other electronic goods when the goods are delivered to and
have been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the
customers accepted the satellite TV equipment products and
other electronic goods. There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 60 to 120 days.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.

If the considerations (including advances received from
customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the
output method then the Group recognises a contract liability for

the difference.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE T

4.

28

=F+A=+—BILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and amortisation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their expected residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposals or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation. These include land and properties under
development that is being constructed or developed for future

use as investment property.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Leasing
The Group as a lessee
All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of

financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would

comprise:
() the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability
(see below for the accounting policy to account for lease

liability);

(i) any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received,;

(iiiy  any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

B

4.

=—F—

EFIE_=F+T_A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Leasing (Continued)
(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease,

unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures
the right-of-use assets at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liability. For right-of-use asset that meets the definition of
an investment property, they are carried at fair value.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are
held for rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS 40
“Investment Property” and are carried at fair value. The Group
accounts for leasehold land and buildings which is held for own
use under HKAS 16 "Property, Plant and Equipment” and are carried
at cost.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of
the lease. The lease payments are discounted using the Group's
incremental borrowing rate, as the interest rate implicit in the
lease cannot be readily determined.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by:

(i increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability;

(i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made; and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Leasing (Continued)

Lease liability (continued)

(i)  remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect revised in-

substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with
the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one or more additional
assets being leased for an amount commensurate with the
standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the
modification is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases,
where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether
that is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional
assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the
discount rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-
of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease
are accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts
for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, recognising the remaining lease
payments as income on a either a straight-line basis or another

systematic basis over the remaining lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment
properties are measured in accordance with the above general
principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner

as to how the properties will be recovered).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

1)

(k)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be

settled or recovered.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of the
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

below).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories is determined on a first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A
trade receivable without a significant financing component

is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at
amortised costs as these assets are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") on trade receivables and financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime
ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is

exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()  Financial Instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest
rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based on lifetime
ECLs except when there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
allowance will be based on the 12-months ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and

including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past

due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

U]

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to action such
as realising security (if any is held); or the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired

when:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or being more
than 90 days past due;

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not consider

otherwise; or

it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss

allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()  Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or

loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non-credit-impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade, bills
and other payables and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit
orloss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

amortisation process.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

U]

(iv)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the
loss allowance, being the ECLs provision measured in
accordance with principles of the accounting policy set out
in note 4(0)(ii); and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or

expires.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
e el Ale e B SARS (Bl

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Expect for those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern assumption

As mentioned in note 3(b), the directors of the Company have prepared
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 based on a going concern basis. The assessment of the going
concern assumption involves making judgement by the directors of
the Company at a particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are uncertain. The Group’s management has
prepared a cash flow forecast of the Group covering a 18-month period
from 1 January 2024 to 30 June 2025 and concluded that there will
be sufficient funds from the Group’s existing cash and fund resources,
and cash flows to be generated from its operations to finance its future
operations to maintain the Group as a going concern in at least twelve
months subsequent to the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group and the Company
have the capability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties situated in the PRC with carrying amount of HK$197,471,000
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$231,949,000) are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale; therefore, the Directors have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of such investment
properties are recovered through sale is rebutted. As a result, the
Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on land appreciation tax
on changes in fair value of these investment properties but has only
recognised deferred taxes on enterprise income tax.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.
Impairment loss on receivables, loan to and amount due from an associate

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,

changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

B
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss on receivables, loan to and amount due from an associate
(Continued)

At each end of the reporting period, the Group assesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk for exposures since initial
recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected
life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes
quantitative and qualitative information and also, forward-looking

analysis.

For more detailed information in relation to the assessment of ECLs of
financial assets, please refer to note 37(b).

Estimated impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and property, plant and
equipment

Determining whether goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment are impaired requires an estimation of the value in
use of the CGUs of the business of satellite TV equipment and antenna
conducted by Pro Brand Technology, Inc. ("PBT"), to which goodwill,
intangible assets, and property, plant and equipment have been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The discount rate
represents rate that reflects current market assessments of the value of
money and the risks specific to the assets for which future cash flows
estimates have not been adjusted. Where the future cash flows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$31,145,000 (2022:
HK$8,772,000) and the carrying amount of related intangible asset and
property, plant and equipment for these CGUs were HK$5,109,000 (2022:
HK$3,635,000) and HK$88,698,000 (2022: HK$50,468,000), respectively.

Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 18.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Write-down of inventories

Provision for slow-moving inventories is made based on estimated
net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the provision
amount required involves management judgment and estimates
in identifying obsolete and slow-moving inventories and estimate
relevant market values for those inventories identified. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value of inventories
and provision charge/written back in the period in which the estimate
has been changed. As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying
amount of inventories was HK$145,816,000 (2022: HK$156,513,000),
and accumulated allowance of inventories of HK$21,932,000 (2022:
HK$19,109,000) was recognised as at 31 December 2023.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves significant judgement in
determining the amount of the provision and the timing of payment.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax expense is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises taxes based on estimates of the likely outcome
with reference to current tax laws and practices. Where the final tax
outcome of these transactions is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the year in which such determination is made.
Deferred tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary differences
and tax losses will be recognised when management considers it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the originally estimate, such differences will
impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax expense in

the period in which such estimate is changed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement on investment properties
Investment properties included in the Group's financial statements
require measurement at, and disclosure of, fair value.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
items;

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1
inputs; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data).

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement
of investment properties, please refer to note 17.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REVENUE

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for goods
sold, less returns and discounts, and services provided by the Group to
outside customers during the year. An analysis of the Group's revenue is
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as follows:
2023 2022
SEEA=S =
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FATT
Sales of goods HEEm 562,035 745,954
SEGMENT INFORMATION DEHER

The segment information reported externally was analysed on the
basis of their goods and services delivered or provided by the Group's
operating divisions which are consistent with the internal information
that are regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of performance. This is also the basis of organisation in the
Group, whereby the management has chosen to organise the Group
around different products and services.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Specifically, the Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:

(i) Media entertainment platform related products
Trading and manufacturing of media entertainment platform
related products, which are mainly used for satellite products

equipment.

(ii) Other multimedia products
Trading and manufacturing of components of audio and video
electronic products such as cable lines.

(iii) Satellite TV equipment and antenna products
Trading and manufacturing of satellite TV equipment, antenna and

other related electronic products.

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group's
reportable segments:

Revenue from contracts with customer within the scope of HKFRS 15

7 EREF (R
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NV
=
T -

2023 2022

—EgE-= -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Media entertainment platform related products HESRE T ZEHEER 97,454 92,890
Other multimedia products HEMEEEEmD 100,332 133,311
Satellite TV equipment and antenna products BEERRENKREER 364,249 519,753
562,035 745,954
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=FT—_A=N gHil4E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Segment Revenue and Results DEBUN IR R A
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by A 2MMEE DI DI ARE B M= K FEE
reportable and operating segments: AR
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_S-_=%+-A=+—HILEE
Media
entertainment Satellite
platform Other TV equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Total
jog et HitZEE HEEREE
TEHBEER Em RRBRER st
HK’'000 HK’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FEx FERT TER
Revenue W g
External sales HNEREE E 97,454 100,332 364,249 562,035
Results &
Segment results DEELE 3,552 15,690 30,393 49,635
Provision for expected credit LT —EEERARNER
loss on loan to an associate WIEAEEBIERE (1,224)
Provision for expected credit U —FE1 B & A Bl 5RIBH)
loss on the amount due TEHEEEBRE
from an associate (2,105)
Provision for expected credit loss ~ JEINE FERNBHREE
on trade receivables EriEBHE (8,557)
Other income, gains and losses HaUWA - Uezs K EE 19,069
Research and development costs A ZEACA (26,059)
Administrative and other expenses 17 [z B fh B ¢ (95,488)
Share of loss of an associate G —fEH 2 A a2 B (46,717)
Finance costs BhE A AN (28,677)
Net decrease in fair value of REMEN R TE
investment properties WA (636)
Loss before income tax expense  FT15%: 2 H A E 18 (140,759)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

B

7.

E-F-SH+- A=+ —HILER

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEHERE)
Segment Revenue and Results (Continued) DEBU R I A ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 BHE_ T _—_F+_-_A=1+—HILFE
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Total
IR BE R &L Hih 2 [HESTERE
FERHEER Em KRR E @t
HK'000 HK'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAExT FAT FAT FAT
Revenue W25
External sales HNEBEH 92,890 133,311 519,753 745,954
Results E4
Segment results DEPELE (1,388) 4910 53,023 56,545
Provision for expected credit BT —EBERNRNER
loss on loan to an associate MIBEZEEIBRE (1,260)
Provision for expected credit JRE U — 1Bt 2 B IR R
loss on the amount due TRHREE R B EE
from an associate (1,500)
Reversal of expected credit loss JEWE ZERFNTEREE
on trade receivables 518 5 [o) 13,286
Other income, gains and losses HaA - s kEsE 41,899
Research and development costs  AfF3E AL AR (22,939)
Administrative and other expenses 17 Kz B fh B % (92,967)
Share of loss of an associate JEE—fEHt & A a2 B (45,427)
Finance costs & B AN (28,161)
Write off of investment properties  #i$5FR{EE R IR E W
for re-development (21,051)
Loss on changes in ownership i) R WNGIE 2=
interest in an associate EnEE) BB (1,240)
Increase in fair value of EMER N TEEIE N
investment properties 34,974
Loss before income tax expense  FT{SH X HATE B (67,841)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BEZB_=F = H=N g

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Segment Revenue and Results (Continued) a6 ES (¢ )
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the SIS R EEFH AN 4 A EETE S
accounting policies of the Group described in note 4. Segment results SR ARR o 5 PR 4 5 = 5 2B BT BEEY 35
represent the profit earned by each segment without allocation of o HY RSO RIEBREEERERE BE T
provision for/reversal of expected credit losses, administrative and other B REMEY - ﬁﬂﬁé}mﬁ CHAREA - 3SR
e e el o ol T Y RMAEERZRRRE RRRED
in fair value of investment properties, share of loss of an associate, loss $1§E}j @J fEfa— Fﬁ%%@ TZFETE AN
, - . : . . FMERNREEERRED BB IR EK
on changes in ownership interest in an associate and finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the A o B ERD B R KB E M ER 2B R
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment. RERENHA -
Segment Assets and Liabilities PBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by RAEREEEDHOMNAEBRMEERAR
reportable and operating segments: N
At 31 December 2023 R-B-—=F+=-A=+—H
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Total
HERgE HaZER HEEERE
FEMHBER Em RRBER et
HK'000 HK'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET THET FHT
Assets BE
Segment assets DEPEE 64,101 15,626 371,397 451,124
Bank balances and cash wITREF RS 69,359
Pledged bank deposits BEIPIRITFER 5,970
Unallocated corporate assets AOBAREE 320,303
Consolidated assets SLEEBE 846,756
Liabilities =R+
Segment liabilities DEBEE 37,918 59,174 152,803 249,895
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 361,712
Lease liabilities a“ﬂia’éiﬁ 59,870
Unallocated corporate liabilities AN W/NGIN=R 212,242
Consolidated liabilities GEBE 883,719
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE_T_=ft"A=1+—HLEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Segment Assets and Liabilities (Continued) PTHEERERE(E)
At 31 December 2022 REE ==t = f =qr=—g
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Total
RS AR L HitnZ g HESERE
FEREER Em N RGEm #Et
HK'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FH&TT FHIT
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 86,576 19,545 320,453 426,574
Bank balances and cash wITRAFRRE 79,158
Pledged bank deposits BEIPRITFER 8,252
Unallocated corporate assets RO AREE 352,881
Consolidated assets LEEE 866,865
Liabilities =i
Segment liabilities DEEE 63,728 83,910 110,268 257,906
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 351,931
Lease liabilities fﬁﬁﬁﬁ 18,523
Unallocated corporate liabilities AP ARAE 225,654
Consolidated liabilities KEAaE 854,014
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating ERHSBRBEERDHEDEEIR
resources between segments:
all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain KTEZFW% ME Ne&h - WEWE -
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, loan to an LT —RHEBEARTNER - ER—F
associate, amount due from an associate, interest in an associate, M’“ NAIFIE - R—HBEAa 2 #ER
deferred tax assets, loan receivables, certain other receivables, BEMIBEEE  EBRER - BTHME
bank balances and cash and pledged bank deposits; and WEIE ~ RIT#1F RIR e B R RT
BHON FIBEEARELEDE + &
all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than BETHMENTIE - BHIBEEE BT
certain other payables, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, bank MIEAE RITRHEMES  MBER

and other borrowings, provision for financial guarantee and lease

liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE-T_=E 7= A=N SiEN
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEERE)
Other Segment Information HihnBER
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZE_=F+"HA=+—HLFE
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia  and antenna
products products products Unallocated Total
RERRG HitZHE HESHRRE
TEHRBER Em RXBEM AOE Bt
HK'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$’000
THER THER TET TR TR
Amounts included in the measure of 5t &5 EpiE EY:?E‘BELX&:
segment profit or loss or segment it AMSHE
assets:
Additions to non-current assets* REFRBEE" 452 - 84,019 3,207 87,678
Depreciation and amortisation WE R# 240 18 7,248 - 7,506
Write-down of inventories TFE MR 3,423 - - - 3,423
Reversal of impairment loss on EEFERESE
inventories (675) - - - (675)
Amounts not included in the measure St 2D EPIBZE F5t AH)
of segment profit or loss: g
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 775 43 6,923 1,761 9,502
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEERE)
Other Segment Information (Continued) Hith o EpER (F)
Year ended 31 December 2022 FE = = B = r—[E 5
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna
products products products Unallocated Total
RERE Hthz iR HEITRRE
TEEBER Em RARGEM AOEE st
HK'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THT THET TEx THx THT
Amounts included in the measure of ~ FFENEERHK N FEE
segment profit or loss or segment R AR &% :
assets:
Additions to non-current assets* REFRYEE = = 10,304 841 18,715
Depreciation and amortisation E R# 210 35 6,938 = 7,183
Write-down of inventories FEHR 4036 - - - 4,036
Reversal of impairment loss on REGFERERE
inventories (2,360) = = = (2,360)

Amounts not included in the measure s 25 EFIBZEB AN

of segment profit or loss: 8
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 486 145 7,680 1,088 9,399
Release of prepaid lease payments REBEAEERE 28 = - - 28
* additions to non-current assets included additions on property, plant and equipment, * AREBEIIFTRHEECIEREVE BELSRE BFE
intangible assets and investment properties. BERKREMSE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Disaggregation of Revenue from Contracts with Customers PIFEBEEFSHAWE
Media
entertainment Other Satellite TV
platform related multimedia equipment and
products products antenna products Total
RERATERRER HitZREER FEERRBERARER st
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZBCZE |ZE-ZF |ZBZZE |ZE--F |ZBZ=F |ZZ--F |[ZB==f [ZZ-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 | HK$'000 HK$'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000
THER T TR ThEr TR THL TR THL
Primary geographical markets FEBF TS
Asia il 19,548 31,585 18,865 33995 55,858 106,717 94,271 172,297
Europe gl 75,368 55,208 2,293 5974 3,311 4800 80,972 65,982
North America it% - = 78,714 90,647 268,087 357,254 346,801 447901
Middle East hE 1,636 4588 - 41 6,874 6,660 8,510 11,289
Africa FEM 902 802 - - - - 902 802
South America EES - 699 454 1,954 29,731 44174 30,185 46,827
Other regions HitE - 8 6 700 388 148 394 856
Total LoH) 97,454 92,890 100,332 133311 364,249 519,753 562,035 745,954
Major products/services IEER/BRE
Set-top box (STB) A 12,123 24,747 5 = = = 12,123 24,747
Other media entertainment products E oI EEIRGE R 72,682 47347 - - - 72,682 47347
Connector b - = 2,719 3,387 - - 2,719 3,387
Cable and assembly BERAR - - 24,676 48291 - - 24,676 48291
Networkings e - = 33,243 32,685 - = 33,243 32,685
Other multi-media products HihHHEER = = 39,694 48,948 = = 39,694 48,048
Satellite TV antenna equipment BEERAER
products SEER - - - - | 364,249 519753 | 364,249 519,753
Internet Service Provider (ISP) RERBRE 12,649 20,79 - = - = 12,649 2079%
97,454 92,890 100,332 133311 364,249 519,753 562,035 745,954
Timing of revenue recognition R
Ata point in time RERY 97,454 92,890 100,332 133311 364,249 519,753 562,035 745,954
Transferred over time BE R R A S - - - - _ _ _
97,454 92,890 100,332 133311 364,249 519,753 562,035 745,954
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
e el Ale e B SARS (Bl

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical Information
The Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC (country of
domicile), Taiwan, Europe, and North America.

The Group's revenue from external customers, based on location of
customers, and information about its non-current assets by geographical

location of the assets are detailed below:

7. DEHEH(E)
1 39
B BN RILE -
KEEPITE
Revenue from

AEBHEBHERMATE(ERERMER) -

AEERBINDEF (REBFFHAEN) MM
REBREEMEMHE D HFERBDEENE

external customers

Non-current

assets (note)

REIMBEF W FREBEE (M)
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=HE —E--F —EC-=E cETE=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THET TERT THEL
Asia M
- Taiwan ) 6,220 15,203 29,049 17,606
- Nepal — BBl 19,477 30,939 4 46,722
- PRC (country of domicile) —Hh B (FRMER) 9,232 20,542 211,628 263,008
- India —HE 37,897 32,772 - =
- Hong Kong — &% 9,741 61,634 - -
- Vietnam —¥iFg 8,653 9,587 72,168 =
- Others —Hi 3,051 1,620 12,267 9,832
Europe BN
- Germany —1ZH 59,193 43434 80 55
- Italy -V 592 1,124 s =
- Spain — R 13,075 10,935 17 17
- Greece & 1,000 581 - =
- France —EH 1,898 1314 - =
- Poland —K# 1,327 3,486 = =
- UK —HE 599 3,824 = =
- Ukraine —-BEnE 632 = - =
- Russia —RE 932 = = =
- Others —Hft 1,724 1,284 _ =
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Geographical Information (Continued) 19 R (4E)
Revenue from Non-current

external customers assets (note)

REIMBEF H B FREBEE (M)
2023 2022 2023 2022
=254 —E-F =F= =t - S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET TERT THEL
North America tE
- United States of America ("USA") —XHBERE([XH]) 323,874 396,842 15,847 12,648
- Canada —-mex 9,504 23874 = =
- Mexico — =P et 13,420 27,178 - -
- Others —Hfp 3 7 = =
Middle East e
- United Arab Emirates ("UAE’) — AR S P RE
([PHE ) 6,874 6,843 = -
- Others —Hit 1,636 4,446 = =
Africa FEM
- Egypt =3 144 424 = -
- Morocco —EE&e) 294 = = =
- Others —Ef 464 378 - -
South America EES
- Brazil -BA 389 629 = =
- Chile —EH 5,828 8,325 = =
- Argentina —PiRE 15,740 17,416 = =
- Columbia —EHatt s 3,115 9,685 S =
~ Ecuador -EA%ZR 1,341 2,078 = =
~Peru —HE 3,394 7917 - =
- Others —Hh 378 777 = =
Other regions H b= 394 856 - =
562,035 745,954 341,060 349,888

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial instruments.

M FRBDEETRBEELEHAEERSRTA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Information about Major Customers FEEFER
Revenue from customer contributing over 10% of the total sales of the BASERHEBTEI R0 F /B e
Group is as follows: PO
2023 2022
—E-=H —T-_fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FAT
Customer A ZEA 165,751 242,144
Customer B ZFB N/A 38 F* 94,752
Customer C EFEC 83,111 N/A N3 F
Note: Revenue from the above customers are from the satellite TV equipment and antenna B5E : EdRPREREFEERRBERRFERDEL
products segment.
% Revenue of these customers in respective years is less than 10% of the Group's total 3 BEERAREENRZ DN AEB HERTEI0% -

sales.

8. OTHERINCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HfttlA - WEREE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-fF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FHET
Government subsidy (note) R B (B E) 242 749
Ancillary service income from tenants RAEMPHEERBHKA 13,880 15,921
Interest income B A 2,523 552
Interest income from an associate R B — B E QBT B YA 1,012 1,012
Rental income HEWA 15,695 16,958
Sales of scrap materials and samples [ mm R AN SH 18 -
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) HNESTE 5 W as (8518 ) IS 58 2,065 (2,779)
Loss arising from the formation of joint operation R HERGEEERER (23,475) =
Others Htt 7,109 9,486
19,069 41,899

Note:

The Group received various government subsidies from local government authorities in the
PRC of HK$242,000 (2022: HK$557,000). During the year ended 31 December 2022, included
in profit or loss is HK$192,000 of government grants obtained from Employment Support
Scheme ("ESS") under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government
supporting the payroll of the Group's employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to commit
to spend these grants on payroll expenses, and not reduce employee head count below
prescribed levels for a specified period of time.

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies relating to these grants and
subsidies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

=T
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
=F+ A=+ -HIEFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BERA
2023 2022
=F == S0 dd
HK$’000 HKS'000
THExT T
Interest on bank and other borrowings IRITREMEEF S 25,762 26,861
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGENE 2,915 1,300
28,677 28,161
10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 10. FIBR(ER), HH
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT THIT
The tax charge comprises: MBS 81E -
Current tax: NEARIIE -
- the PRC —rh 2,163 6,785
— Jurisdictions other than the PRC and Hong Kong — I EEBAIIN BERE R 979 6,306
3,142 13,091
Over-provision in prior years: BEFEHBEERE -
~ the PRC — (1,090) (2,646)
- Jurisdictions other than the PRC and Hong Kong — KRB E AN BERE R 107 (758)
(983) (3,404)
Deferred taxation: IRAERIE -
~ Current year (note 23) — REE(HFE23) (6,285) 2,987
(4,126) 12,674
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax rates applicable to the Group’s principal operating subsidiaries
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

the PRC

The applicable PRC enterprise income tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% in accordance with the relevant income tax law
and regulations in the PRC.

Hong Kong
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits.

No tax is payable on the profit arising in Hong Kong as the entity
operating in Hong Kong incurred tax losses for both years.

United States

The Group's subsidiaries in the US are subject to United States
Federal Income Tax at 21% (2022: 21%) and States Income Tax at
6% (2022: 6%).

Europe
The Group's European subsidiaries are subject to profit tax rates at
a range of 25% to 30% (2022: 25% to 30%).

Macau

According to the Macau Complementary Tax Law, complementary
tax is imposed on a progressive rate scale ranging from 3% to 9%
for taxable profits below or equal to Macauese Pataca (“"MOP”)
300,000 and 12% for taxable profits over MOP 300,000. Taxable
profits below MOP 32,000 are exempt from tax.

No tax is payable on the profit arising in Macau as the entity
operating in Macau incurred tax losses for both years.

Others
Other subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions are subject to
applicable tax rates in the relevant jurisdictions.
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(vi)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before income
tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

BE-ZT—_=

10. FifgBi(ER) X (&)
AEEHUAR A REA B
ROFER L EABEEENT ¢

FEtT_A=T—HILFE

& N E 2 E

2023 2022
—E-=F —E %
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TR
Loss before income tax expense Fr{SHisz AT E 18 (140,759) (67,841)
Tax credit at the applicable rate of 25% (2022: 25%) REAR RSN (T = —F 1 25%)
ATEMHEESR (35,190) (16,960)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose AR 1T B S B0t 7 o 22 18,145 8,868
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BERBTBANTR G E (1,524) (199)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised AERNERZEORETE 2,096 6,410
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in RE M Bl A E & 2H B A BH
other jurisdictions TRABENRE L 10,686 4,909
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised REANRBBBOHRBESE 2,644 13,050
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBERE (983) (3,404)
Tax (credit)/charge for the year AEEFRIEKE), S H (4,126) 12,674
Details of deferred taxation for the year are set out in note 23. RNEEIELEF B EEH LM 7E23 o
LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. XEEEE
2023 2022
—E=-= i
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FHIT
Loss for the year has been arrived at ERAFEEBRCMR(GTA)
after charging/(crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) E=We (FIE2) 3,109 3,179
Other staff costs Hih B TR 79,789 74,922
Contributions to defined contribution plans, AEERIFEEER(ESRHIN)
excluding Directors 1,885 2,067
Total employee benefit expenses REEMNHAZRE 84,783 80,168
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

1. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

1. RFEEBEE)

2023 2022
=== = 1=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FAT
Carrying amount of inventories sold HEFEMEREDE 485,679 664,586
Write-down of inventories (note i) B MR (B EEi) 3,423 4,036
Reversal of inventory provision (note i)* B 7 SR (M7 )~ (675) (2,360)
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BERER AR Y NFEERA 488,427 666,262
Provision for expected credit loss on BT —HEEE R RNERD
loan to an associate BHEEBERE 1,224 1,260
Provision for expected credit loss on amount FE U — R & A B RIERY
due from an associate BHEEBERE 2,105 1,500
Provision for/(reversal of) expected credit loss on EWE SREZNTEHREE
trade receivables EERE/ () 8,557 (13,286)
Provision for/(reversal of) expected credit loss on SREAEMNEHREE
financial assets EERE/ (BmE) 11,886 (10,526)
Auditor’s remuneration ZER NS 3,142 3,406
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEMEEITE 9,441 10,230
Write off of investment properties for re-development i {EER ZIREWE - (21,051)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREESERE 7,191 6,016
Amortisation of intangible assets (note i) A B (M T 376 336
Direct operating expenses arising from investment ~ EEAMEWA Z IR EMEE LK
properties that generate rental income B %Eﬁ;ﬁi 873 958
Release of prepaid lease payments BEENEERT - 28
Government subsidy (note i) Eﬁ(f%ﬁﬁﬁi(wufn) (242) (749)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - BEMRENER
(note ii) (Bﬁ i) 939 7
Loss arising from the formation of joint operation AL KRS E AR EE 23,475 -
Interest income (note i) %'J,%\W)\(W&H) (2,523) (552)
Interest income from an associate (note i) R B — [ & R B F S M (B &) (1,012) (1,012)
Property rental income (note i) L ELEN - NG D) (15,695) (16,958)
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (note ii) HNEESTE 5, (Wezs) BB 58 (B atii) (2,065) 2,779
Note i: Included in cost of sales BIEE : BEREERARN
Note ii: Included in other income, gains and losses B 5Tl - BIEREMUA - Y RBEA
& The reversal of inventory provision mainly arose from inventories that were sold e BOFEREIERBEEREAFEELNFE
subsequently during the year
Included in the total employee benefit expenses is an aggregate amount BEERMASBHEBRERA T HAGTEFTE

of HK$1,903,000 (2022: HKS$2,086,000) in respect of contributions to

defined contribution plans, including the Directors.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 12. EEMlEREBRREHFAL
PAID INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) §$M$ \
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as ENSERTEEESNME I T
follows:
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-R_=f+-A=+—-HALHFE
Mr. Hung Mr. Wu Mr. Kuo Mr. Chen Mr. Lu Ms. Chen
Tsung Chin  Chia Ming JenHao ~ WeiChun  Ming Shiuan Wei-Hui Total
HEREE REAEE DARLE RENLE BERFHEE REERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR THER FhER FHR FHR TR FHr
(Note ii)
(M)
Fees e 120 120 180 120 120 120 780
Other emoluments; Hiii2
- Salaries and other benefits —He REMER 1,365 - - 946 - - 2,311
- Retirement benefits schemes ~ —RIKFEFIHEIME 3
contributions 18 - - - - - 18
Total emoluments B¢ B 1,503 120 180 1,066 120 120 3,109
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZTZ-—F+=-A=+—HIEE
Mr. Hung Mr. Wu Mr. Kuo Mr. Chen Mr. Ding Mr. Lu Ms. Chen
Tsung Chin -~ Chia Ming JenHao  WeiChun Jin-Huei ~ Ming Shiuan Wei-Hui Total
REEEE RERLE DIAREE RESZE TEEEE EWHEE REELL @it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TAL TAR TATL TARL TAR ThL TARL TATL
(Note i) (Note i)
(Ftz) (Brsin)
Fees e 120 120 180 120 17 120 3 780
QOther emoluments; s
- Salaries and other benefits -H4 REMER 1409 = = 971 = = = 2,380
- Retirement benefits ~RIMRFIET AR
schemes contributions 19 - - - - - 19
Total emoluments Hegs 1,548 120 180 1,001 17 120 3 3179
Notes: MEE
(i) Mr. Ding Jin-Huei has been appointed as an independent non-executive 0} TEBEER T —FN\A-_tHEEZER
Director of the Company from 24 August 2021 and has resigned from 23 ARBBIFFATEST IR _F__F+_H
December 2022. ZtH=ABHE -
(ii) Ms. Chen Wei-Hui has been appointed as an independent non-executive (i) BREELZITN T -_—_F+_A-_+=BEZTA
Director of the Company from 23 December 2022. RARVBILIFITES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
e el Ale e B SARS (Bl

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two (2022: one) was director of the Company whose emolument
is included in the disclosure set out above. The emoluments of the

12. EEmlERAERBESHFAL(E)

(b) EEBREHFAL
AEBREERFALTH  ME(ZE
ToE —R)RARAEE - BB
BHREX - EHB=F(ZZE—_—F : Y

remaining three (2022: four) individuals are as follows: E)ANTHMET
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and other benefits e kEMmEF 3,600 6,169
Retirement benefit schemes contributions IRUKE AT B 5R 44 131
Total emoluments B & 42 28 3,644 6,300
The emoluments were within the following bands: e FATEHE -
2023 2022
—EB-=fF ===
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAE =UN
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 721,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L £ 1,500,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 70 £ 2,000,000/ 7T = 2
During each of the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no REE-Z-_=FR-FT-__F+=-H

emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors and
top paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. No director waived
any emoluments for each of the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.
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13.

14.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the
ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the following data:

13.

14.

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

e
EEga TR EBEE—_S =+ =A

St-BLEFENRBRE(ZT -
=) o

ZFRES
AAREBBRES R AABEEREA RS

BRI T ISEAE

2023 2022
—EC=F i =
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHx FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of RARETEESREREIEZ
the Company for the purposes of KAREE NEEARFEEE
calculating basic loss per share (126,566) (77,548)
2023 2022
—E-= =
Number of Shares grar4=|
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for ARsiTEgREXREEBZ
the purposes of basic loss per share 3 A% N 15 X 858,248,735 492,161,490
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cents) R E AR K& B (B(L) (14.75) (15.76)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 has included
the increase in shares for the rights issue which took place on 5 July
2023. There was no movement in ordinary shares in the year ended 31
December 2022.

The subscription price of the rights issue was equal to its market
price before the exercise of the rights issue, therefore, there were no
bonus element in the rights issue. Accordingly, the weighted average
number of ordinary shares has not been adjusted for the year ended 31
December 2022 and for the period from 1 January 2023 to the date of
rights issue took place.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for each of the two years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 are the same as the basic loss per share because there were no
dilutive potential ordinary shares during both years.

HEE_ZT_=F+_RA=+—HLFENE
BEAEBEME - TBEIEFHHEER
—T-=Ft AR BETHEERO M -
RBE_Z__F+_A=+—HIFE &
A W

IR RBESHITEHBRAIETE - SR
WEAFE S - Eith - @A N F 19 &0 &
MBE— T —_F+_A=1+—HLEFERKB
T =F—A—BREDETHRERN B
BEL T o

BRE#BEER
HREE S _=FRkR_F_—_F+_A
Z+—HIMEFEYEETEELBE - &

MEFESFNERESBRASRELRER
Gl
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. ¥ - WMEKRKRE

Freehold  Leasehold Furniture,
land outside  land outside Leasehold ~ Plantand fixturesand Motor ~ Computer
HongKong ~ HongKong  Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles  equipment Total
RERUN B
WAAZE  RERND i EELE
1 HEELH B:  NEEE  ERRME kife e EMRE 3t
HK$000 H'000 K000 000 HK000 HK'000 H'000 HKS000 HKS'000
TAL Tin Tin Thn Tin TAL Thn TEL Fin
Cost R
At January 202 ®-F-_£-8-H 3847 3417 74753 9917 170593 6,259 1515 8352 278653
Eichange realignment B A (378) - (5929 (37) 9220 (1,256) (84) (109%) (18319)
Additions HE - - 330 15 5018 19 - 0 9458
Disposals = = = = (256) (3521) (108) - (679) (4560)
Wite off s - - - - 25 - - - 25
At31 December 2022 W-F-F+-fA=1-A 3469 3417 72,146 9549 163415 5089 1431 7001 2165517
Eichange realignment EHHE 15 7 (8254 ®) (2067 (89) (136) (794) (1140
Additions 5B - - 6218 149 9403 38 515 84 17612
Disposals e - - (17.248) (544) (16941) (109) - (769) (36,594)
Acquistion of subsidares (note34) ~ WEHBAF (H134) - - 57,58 = 10095 0 574 = 68217
Wiiteof i - - (4873 - - - - - (4873
At 31 December 2023 W-B-=F+-A=1-A 3484 344 10307 9071 163995 451 2134 6262 293478
Depreciation, amortisation and & BRLAA
impairment
At 1 January 2002 N-5--£-f-8 = 152 44383 5466 145,225 296 688 7065 20591
Exchange realignment B g - (76) (2867) (279) (6,346) (807) 57 (928) (11,45)
Provided for the year TEERE - 4 6309 54 7180 Uk 4% 80 16,246
Eliminated on disposal HERHE - - - (256) (3.486) (103) = (67) 519
Wie off 6 = - - - 2 - - = 2
At 31 December 2022 i S s 8 - 120 4805 5474 142858 B 1171 6,267 206,708
Eichange realignment T - 5 (5489) (3) (1304) (163 49 (1073) (8,110
Provided for the year KEERE = 4 7933 19 6928 510 360 663 16632
Eiminated on disposal HEREH = - (6,120 (326) (10960) (1074) - (729) (19209
Wite off i = = 4873) = = = = = (4873)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+2A=1-A - 169 39476 530 13752 204 1483 5148 191,148
Carrying values EEE{E
At 31 December 2023 \ZEZ=E+ZR=1-8 3484 3055 65831 3767 21473 2505 90 1114 107330
At 31 December 2022 Q2 g oy 3469 3097 %10 4075 0557 2316 20 714 58809
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 75 5 3% P oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land outside Hong Kong

Leasehold land outside Hong Kong

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

Motor vehicles

Computer equipment

Nil

Over the term of lease

50 years or over the term of lease

or land use rights, whichever is

shorter

20% or over the term of lease,

whichever is shorter

10% -

20%

20% -
20% -

333%

33'3%
33'3%

Certain leasehold land and building is pledged to a bank to secure a

mortgage loan and general banking facilities granted to the Group (note

40).

Note:

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets, included in the property,

plant and equipment, by class of underlying asset is as follows:

BE-T =

an—H =N g

15. Y% - BMERRE(E)

i - B RR
SEEEAE

REEBRTIFRAER

REBMMIKAFEL &

REBAIMEE L1

BF

HEMEERE

s N 2s

BRI~ EERE KR
A

T

AEBE

HEHR
SO EHK
Tt BREFEA

(ABEEA%E)

20% A EHA
(B E %)

10%ZE33":%

20%

20%Z33":%

20%Z33"%

HELREFER - ERE

TAKBEEME RN —RRITEE A ER (K

£T40) o

fi -

@@  RIEREEERE

DEREEEGIADE - BE

K@ HEREFEN DT

Leasehold land

Right-of-use assets FREEE outside Hong Kong Buildings Motor Vehicles
REBS

S gF JRE

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

FA&T FET FAT

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F—AF—H 3,265 20,865 190

Additions NE = 3,321 =

Depreciation e (44) (5914) (58)

Exchange realignment B 5 % 76 (1,684) (14)

At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—_F#+-A=+—H 3,297 16,588 118

Additions NE = 6,278 =

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) WK B A =) (M 3E34) - 57,258 -

Depreciation e (44) (7,001) (56)

Termination of a lease “WILFRE - (11,128) -

Exchange realignment FE H, % 2 (2,541) ()

At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+=-A=+—H 3,255 59,364 60
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

16. ENHEERRIE

2023 2022

===4s == —4=

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHT

At beginning of the year REL] 28 59

Exchange realignment M H SH R (1) (3)

Released to profit or loss B=iEn - (28)

At the end of the year RER 27 28
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RERAERSTA -

Current asset mENE E 26 27

Non-current asset FERBEE 1 1

27 28
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\ﬁ ;rk #& %% M—JL III_II_ (mg

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REW=
Investment
properties
Investment under
properties development Total
BET
REME REME -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET THTT
At 1 January 2022 R-—T-_—_F—H—H 230,797 = 230,797
Additions INE - 7,677 7,677
Transfer i B (10,123) 10,123 =
Exchange realignment b A (19,388) (1,060) (20,448)
Write off of investment properties for WHERIEER 2 IREME
redevelopment (21,051) - (21,051)
Change in fair value recognised in RIERTRERZ N EESH)
profit or loss 27,086 7,888 34,974
At 31 December 2022 R—F__F+-_H=t+—8H 207,321 24,628 231,949
Transfer B (24,889) 24,889 =
Exchange realignment R EES (2,611) (475) (3,086)
Derecognition upon formation of PR RS S T AR TR
joint operation - (30,756) (30,756)
Change in fair value recognised in REBERPERERPREMSE
profit or loss arising from investment EERNNFEEE
properties under development* - 24,253 24,253
Change in fair value recognised in REBHFERZ A TEE
profit or loss (24,889) - (24,889)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=+—H 154,932 42,539 197,471
* The change in fair value was mainly resulted from share of investment properties * AFEEHIEHREERRALSLE ZRENENE
from joint operation. BB »
Note: FisE -
During the year, the Group formed a joint operation with Guangdong Huasuan International ER AEBEEEAEEEERELEREREARD
Industrial Park Investment Development Co,, Ltd* (EREEHEREXEREERERA (T&E )M D;45ﬁﬁ§gg$}xém¥$gﬁgi;§ﬂmM o
7)) ("Huasuan”) in respect to the redevelopment of certain investment properties as set out in Krg  BEALTHRBREENREMENE TR
note 45. Upon the formation, certain portion of investment properties attributed to Huasuan NFAE 530,756,000/ 70 B & 1 HER (HMiEE45) ©
under the joint arrangements with fair value of HK$30,756,000 was derecognised (Note 45).
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group started certain preliminary work in REBE-Z——&#+-"F=+—BHI&EE KEERETF
respect to the redevelopment and certain properties with fair value of HK$21,051,000 was KWEYECERREBZENS IR - At EFAFES
demolished and recognised in profit or loss. 21,051,00058 702 W2 B FEW A IBEHER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 31 December 2023 and 2022
have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group and possess
appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant
locations. The Group's investment properties were valued with reference to valuation by
the valuer using market comparison approach, income approach and residual approach as
appropriate.

For market comparison approach, the fair value is determined by considering the market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in similar location and conditions,
adjusted by the discount specific to the quality of the Group's properties as compared to the
comparable properties.

In arriving at the valuation on the basis of income approach, the fair value is determined by
capitalising the net rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance or
provision for the reversionary potential of the properties.

For investment properties under development, the valuations were determined on residual
approach with a redevelopment basis and by taking into account the fair value of the
completed investment property and then deducting from that amount the estimated costs to
complete the construction and estimated costs of disposal.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their
current use.

Following are the key inputs used in valuing the investment properties as at 31 December
2023 and 2022:

17. BEWHE(E)

MeE - (8)

FEBREYER —_E-_=FR-_"ZT-_—F+-_A=+—
HEYR $ﬁ&%ﬂﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ@ AR BEITHEN
EAEZE o KFITTRHMERMB AR R A BB A E RS
HIBY A AR ERMAEN - BASARLIAN Y EETHE
ENEEERRER AEBEREMENHED b EEE
ﬁﬁﬁﬁi%ttﬁif MRAVE R BAME A (IR ) B

TS BOATI S © ATETE B8 RIS
HpEOmSRRERENE - LHRARENYELEY
HL AT B 218 2 0 7 SR -

BRI R EB AR - DIRAROAEEOFESRA
BEAA R EHTESR LN B BB ®
EAFE -

HRERTRENMEMS - REDAERELERBEEE
E o YR REERDEZAFE - RRIVATHERTE
ZIERTA SRR E 2 AR

REFHZEVENRTER  MENESRRERENE
REME -

R-B-_=FR_T__F+_A=+—HAREMHELE
TERAANIRRABENT -

Relationship of

Fair value at Fair value at Key Range or unobservable
Fair value 31 December 31 December Valuation unobservable weighted inputs to
Category hierarchy 2023 2022 techniques inputs average fair value
—E-=E —E-CF
+=ZA=t+-H +ZA=+-H FABEBAE
5 DATERR AVE AFE AERE TEFABEGAE EEIMETIE HATENBE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER
Industrial properties in Level 3 9,821 10411 Income Reversionary yield 5% - 6% The higher the
the PRC* (derived from (2022: 5% - 6%) reversionary yield, the
monthly market rent) lower the fair value
RETEME E WA AESERA S%ZE6%( B _F: AEBRKAES
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(RAEMERE) 5%Z6%) ATEBIE
Estimated rental value  Renminbi ('RMB")
2.1-RMB15.0 per
month per square fair value
meter (2022: RMB2.6-
RMB18.0 per month
per square meter)
BRABTAKRARE HEEESS
(TAR% 217 ATEES
ZARKI50T
(Z2-=%:8A
FFARARK267T
ZARE1807T)

The higher the rental
value, the higher the
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

17. BEWHE(E)

MiaE - ()

Relationship of

Fair value at Fair value at Key Range or unobservable
Fair value 31 December 31 December Valuation unobservable weighted inputs to
Category hierarchy 2023 2022 techniques inputs average fair value
—g-=f —T-—F
+=A=t+-8 T=HE—E AABRBAE
85 DFERR AYE AHE fRERN IEFUBERAE EEIMETIE HAFENER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER AR
145,112 196,910  Market comparison Discount on quality 18.16% - 21.47% The higher the discount
of properties (e.g. (2022:1679%-2189%)  on quality of
location, size and properties with
asking price of the reference to
properties) comparable, the lower
the fair value
il v BNEER(PIMNE  1816%F2147% BLEAWELBNE -
e APRUE)S  (ZE-oF: EEESIE S
Vit | 16.79%%21.89%) ATEBIE
Investment properties Level 3 42,538 24,628 Residual approach Adjusted market price  RMB4,000 (2022: The higher the adjusted
under development (RMB/square meter) RMB4,000) per market price, the
in the PRC* square feet higher the fair value
TEERTREME E BEE BRETE YR BRETELS
(ARE/FHR) AR#40007 ATEYS
(ZB=—%F:
AR4,0007)
Budgeted cost RMB1,418 - 2,611 The higher the budgeted
(RMB/square meter) (2022: RMB2,657) per cost, the lower the fair
square feet value
HERR AR HERAES
(AR®/FHXK) ARK1 41802 ATEBE
26Mm(ZE==F
ARB26577)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17.

Note: (Continued)

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A
reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balance is provided below:

BEY=ER)

MicE : (8)

BRENENATERE=BRBERATEE - FURF
ROAFEFELROAT

2023 2022

o= —EZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Opening balance FHHERR 231,949 230,797

Additions NE - 7,677

Exchange realignment I 5 A # (3,086) (20,448)

Write off of investment properties for redevelopment WESHRIEER 2 IREME - (21,051)

Derecognition upon formation of joint operation S LRI fE 4R IERER (30,756) -
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss arising from RIERF R ZERT

investment properties under development BREMEEENRTES 24,253 -

Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERFPERZ AT EZS) (24,889) 34,974

Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) FREHR(F=REEEAFE) 197,471 231,949

There was no transfer amongst levels during the year.

Investment property is pledged to a bank to secure a mortgage loan and general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 40).

The address of the industrial properties and industrial properties under development

in the PRC is Xin Qianlin Village “San Shi". Tanzhou County, Zhongshan City,

Guangdong Province, the PRC. The term of lease is medium.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=FT—_A=N gHil4E

18. GOODWILL 18. BE
2023 2022
== =R —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
CosT B
At beginning of the year REH] 92,516 93,341
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) W g BT B A A (PT7E34) 21,808 =
Exchange realignment DEE 5, 5 2 565 (825)
At the end of the year RER 114,889 92,516
IMPAIRMENT B
At beginning of the year REA) 83,744 83,744
Provision for impairment loss REEERE = -
At the end of the year RER 83,744 83,744
CARRYING AMOUNT ARTEE
At the end of the year RER 31,145 8,772
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the MBENAMS  FREFSFWEBER
following reportable cash-generating units (“CGUs") for impairment SRZEUTAIZRREGELSBNU([REELE
testing: firl) :
2023 2022
—EC=F ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Satellite TV equipment and antenna products FEERRIERRGER
- PBT CGU (note i) —BEREREEL B (M) 31,145 8,772
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

18. GOODWILL (Continued)

Notes:

(0]

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the management assessed the expected
recoverable amount of PBT CGU based on the higher of value in use and fair value less
cost of disposal.

The recoverable amount of PBT CGU has been determined based on the value in
use calculations, based on a detailed budget plan, the expected cash flows beyond
the detailed budget plan are extrapolated at the growth rates stated below. The key
assumptions used for value in use calculation are as follows:

18. BE (&)

i

(0]

REBE-_ZT_=F+_A=+—RHULFE BEE
EREAEBERAFERELEX AR E TG
HERBREEEEMNBHAKESE -

WENER S EE BT RE S HE REHEN
B AREREENE SRR - BR TSR
ERERHBBEHALSNOEHRERE - €
BESEAHEBEROT

PBT CGU
HENERSELEN

2023 2022
—EBo=HF —E=F
Budget plan TaEE 5 years 5 years
5% 5
Annual growth rate during the budget plan BETENFEERE 5%-16% 5%
Terminal growth rate KRR R & 5% 5%
Discount rate AHIR &K 17.80% 17.10%

The annual growth rate during the budget plan was estimated based on projected
sales estimated by management which is dependent on the products launched at
the end of the reporting period and the economic growth of countries which its
customers located. The estimation also considered the impact of the acquisition
of subsidiaries as set out in note 34 and the estimated sales arising from new 5G

peripherals, Internet of Things and related products.

The terminal growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The cash flow
projections are from the most recent financial budget approved by the management.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation are budgeted gross margin
and budgeted revenue, which are determined based on the unit’s past performance

and management’s expectations regarding market development.

Goodwill allocated to other CGUs with gross carrying amount of HK$83,744,000 was
fully provided in previous years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 75 5 3% P oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BILEE
Product Customer
technology relationship Others Total
BRI EFB& Hitr @zt
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FHL THL TEL
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(FsEa) (Bt zEo) (BtzEc)
Cost D%
At 1 January 2022 W-Z-—%—HF—H 28313 35433 5,743 69,489
Additions NE 1,580 - - 1,580
Written off bt (246) = = (246)
Exchange realignment T (2,315) = = (2315)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ=F+-A=+—H 27,332 35433 5,743 68,508
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) B BB A) (B 5E34) 168 - = 168
Addition NE 1,681 - - 1,681
Exchange realignment BB X AR 8) = - ®
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=%#+-A=+—H 29173 35433 5,743 70,349
Amortisation and impairment BERRE
At 1 January 2022 NZE-_—%—A—H 25,833 35433 5,743 67,009
Exchange realignment LS (2309) = = (2,309)
Provided for the year KEERE 336 = = 336
Written off b (163) = = (163)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+-A=+—H 23,697 35433 5,743 64,873
Exchange realignment P 5 9) - - 9)
Provided for the year KEERE 376 = = 376
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=$+-A=+—H 24,064 35433 5,743 65,240
Carrying amounts EEETE
At 31 December 2023 “EZ=%+ZR=1+-H 5,109 = = 5,109
At 31 December 2022 R-ZZE-—&#+-A=1—H 3,635 - - 3,635
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Product technology represents software acquired from independent third parties for
the development of TV set top box. Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis
over 2 to 20 years.

(b) Customer relationship represents contracted and non-contracted customer
relationship arising from the acquisition of Pro Brand International, Inc (“PBI") during
the year ended 30 June 2013. The amount is amortised over its estimated useful life of
7.5 years on a straight-line basis.

(c) Others mainly represent the research and development unit acquired through
the acquisition of PBT during the year ended 30 June 2013. The mature research
and development unit, which can support the Group’s product development, was
separately recognised as intangible assets based on the accounting policy stated
in note 4(j). It was recognised based on the fair value at the date of acquisition.
Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over 7.5 years.

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. EFEE (&)

i

@ EmkiiEARZEERRASMABEILE =77 KB
E - BER B TFRANERER

b) FBEFBEGERBZE-_T-—=~A=+tHLFER
Iz #&Pro Brand International, Inc([PBI) I E£ M A 4
RIEGHRFRR - ZEBUR7SFEREEAI A
FHRZEREHHE -

(0 EHETEEFANEBE_T-—=F A=1tHILHF
ERKEEERR MBI B o AT
BRUAIXHARENERME - REMZ4)MERE
ARREBERABLEE  URBUEBEANAD
TERER o BIEN7SFNUEREFIR ©

20. R—EBE QR NER

2023 2022
—E-= ===
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHxT FHET
Share of net assets of an associate i —EBERR 2 FEE 4 46,722
Movement of interest in an associate is as follows: R—HEBE AR ERNEEINT -
2023 2022
—Z=== —E-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FBx T
At the beginning of the year REFE] 46,722 91,443
Share of loss of an associate e —fEE S R R 2 1 (46,717) (45,427)
Gain on changes in ownership S ) /NCIE S
interest in an associate* S EE) 7 s = 1,833
Exchange realignment PE 5 28 (1) (1,127)
At the end of the year REFR 4 46,722

upon changes in ownership interest in an associate during the year ended 31

December 2022, the related portion of currency translation reserve amounted to
approximately HK$3,073,000 was reclassified to profit or loss and presented as part of

gain or loss on changes in ownership interest in an associate
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=FT—_A=N gHil4E

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 20. RA—RIBE NTER(E)

Note: sk -

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had interests in the following associate:

RIF_=FR-FT__F+A=+—8B ' AEERMA
THE QR E R

Form of
business Place of Place of Class of Held by
Name of entity structure incorporation operation shares the Group Principal activities
BHEE EBRBRR AR R 3L 3 B BB B3 ER FEERE FEBEK
Dish Media Network Limited Limited company  Nepal Nepal Ordinary 33.19% Provision of Direct-To-Home service for
("Dish Media") (2022: 33.19%) satellite TV
BRAF] =L ==L TimAR (Z2==F : REEEREHEEEAERD

33.19%)

REBEE_ZT_—_F+-_A=+—HIL&FE
Dish MediaM & = F 8175 T EBE - MEM
AEEMBE A EERB47. 2% E

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Dish Media has issued certain
ordinary issues to third parties and its ownership interests held by the
Group decreased from 47.12% to 33.19%.

33.19% °
Summarised financial information: B E R
2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$’000 HKS'000
TERx FET
As at 31 December BR+=ZBA=+-—H
Current assets mBNEE 174,135 222,125
Non-current assets IEREEE 650,505 566,099
Current liabilities mEEE (625,035) (586,023)
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE (199,592) (61,432)
Year ended 31 December BE+-A=1+—HLEE
Revenue WS 303,373 341,862
Loss for the year NEEER (140,756) (126,166)
Total comprehensive income for the year REFE2EWEERE (140,756) (126,166)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 20. R—EBE A RINER (&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to i B 7S & R B AR A B IS TR R FTRE R R
the carrying amount of the interest in an associate recognised in the L R AR IRE SRR AR
consolidated financial statements:
2023 2022
—EC-=EF —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Net assets BESE 13 140,769
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest REEFEREEROLA 33.19% 33.19%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in an associate A& B R — B4 N 7] 2 A EEE 4 46,722
21. AMOUNT DUE FROM/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE 1. E—EBEQATRE HF—H

BENTNER

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Notes HKS$'000 HKS$'000
5 FEx FET
Current assets MEEE

Loan receivables FEUWE R ) 19,579 20,803
Trade receivables eI E 5 BRI (i) 33,923 35,986
Interest receivable on loan receivables FEUE TR 2 FE IR B 2,761 2,029
Amount due from an associate FE UG — B B 2 N R FRIE 56,263 58,818

Notes: FfsE -

(i) The amount is unsecured and bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.75% (2022: 4.75%) per
annum. The loan receivables will mature on 31 December 2024 (2022: 31 December
2023).

(if) The amount is unsecured and interest-free. The Group allows a credit period of 360
days.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

21. AMOUNT DUE FROM/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE 21. B —EBEARRE KT —B
(Continued) BENTINER(E)
Notes: (Continued) MIeE : (88)
(i) (Continued) (i) (&)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables due from an associate,
presented based on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting period:

FEU — R & R R R UL B 5 BRI 3R 5 B R IR B
SRHZFNZRESTMT ¢

2023 2022
—E=-= T s
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT S
More than 360 days #HiAE360H 33,923 35,986

Expected credit loss on trade receivables due from and loan to an associate
was based on the accounting policy stated in note 4(l)(ii). Based on the Group's
assessment, the Group recognised the provision for expected credit loss on trade
receivables due from an associate of HK$2,105,000 (2022: HK$1,500,000) and
provision for expected credit loss on loan to an associate of HK$1,224,000 (2022:
HK$1,260,000) during the year.

Further details on the group's credit policy and credit risk arising from amount due
from and loan to an associate are set out in note 37(b).

W —HEE AR ESRERG T —MBE a8
B3R TEE{E BB 18 TYAR IR B 5401 (ih) Fﬁ%ﬁzA‘fﬂz
RitE - BRIBEALERNTE  FAXAEEDHER
uﬁz Feﬁﬁ%@ﬂmﬁéuﬁz%’%%ﬁmmﬁ%ﬁf;ﬁ%%ﬁ%
152,105,000 (=2 = =4 :1,500,000/87C) R4 F
—REE QRN E R TEHEEBEERE,224,000
BIL(ZEZZ4F 1,260,000/ 7T) °

BRAAREEEEBR R ER RS R RFIERG
Ti= Fﬁﬂgﬁ)ﬁﬁ—]mg REYNEERKE 2 Efig$
EFBHIFE37(0

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES 22. ERER

2023 2022
—EC-=HF —ET-F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TART FHET
Loans receivables (note i) FEUE R (3T 12,989 12,989
Loans receivables due from former subsidiaries (note i) ~ FEUATFTE A 7180 FE Ut & X (P 3Tii) 935,726 848,383
948,715 861,372
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (note iii) L RBRBE A (B i) (948,715) (861,372)

Notes: P -
[0) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had loan receivable amounting to 0] RIB-=ZFER-_T-__F+-_A=+—H K&

HK$12,989,000 from a third party. The amount was unsecured and bore interest
at 1.2% (2022: 1.2%) per annum. This loan receivable was fully impaired as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

EHEFET— %%*EE’JJEH&% 12989000/%7E°
ZRBAERTR  REHRI2E(ZTE2F
B)sta e EZFEH&EJAEmf%‘\f:i&fE::i
+-A=+—RA2EHE -

2023 %H  BETEEREREEAR 147
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed of the entire equity
interest in Speed Connection Group Limited (the “Disposal’), and since then, the loan
receivables from Speed Connection Group Limited and its subsidiary MyHD Media FZ
LLC ("MyHD") were classified as loan receivables due from former subsidiaries.

The loan receivables due from former subsidiaries were arising from the disposal of
all interests in MyHD and the extension of the existing loans to MyHD. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2018 and the
circular of the Company dated 25 May 2019. The amounts were unsecured, interest-
bearing at rates ranged from 3 months LIBOR plus 100 basis point per annum to 10%
per annum and will be matured on 31 December 2020.

The principal amounts of these loan receivables at the date of the Disposal were
US$71,298,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$557,094,000), in which amount
of US$9,554,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$74,651,000) due from Speed
Connection Group Limited, bore interest rate at 3 months LIBOR plus 100 basis
points per annum; and amount of US$51,244,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$400,400,000) and amount of US$10,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$82,043,000) due from MyHD (the non-wholly owned subsidiary of Speed
Connection Group Limited), bore interest rate at 10% per annum and at 3 months
LIBOR plus 100 basis points per annum respectively, and the corresponding interest
receivables were US$11,728,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$91,638,000). These
loan receivables and the interest receivables, net of the provision of expected credit
loss of HK$219,103,000 as at the date of the Disposal, amounted to HK$429,410,000

were recognised as loan receivables upon the Disposal.

In December 2019, management was given to understand that Speed Connection
Group Limited and MyHD were in serious financial problem and ceased to operate
in late 2019. As such, management considered these loan receivables were credit-
impaired and recognised life time ECLs of the total net carrying amount of these loan
receivables of HK$429,410,000 at 31 December 2019.

The provision of expected credit loss was determined by the management of
the Group based on the creditworthiness and the past collection history of the

borrowers.
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i

(if)

(%)

REBEE_T-NAF+_A=+—HLFE  £&E
TEREBMERARARZEDRAER([HES
H]) BN REEBREEERARKENE
ARIMyHD Media FZ LLC([MyHD]) Z FERE FRE 5
BAEWATMBRRER

FEURRIFT A R ERTIEAE B HERMyHD 2 2 3B
@ URERFMyHDRBRBERER - #BEH2
BMAARBHAZZE—N\F+_A=1+—B2Z2Q%E
RARRBHAZZE-—NFRA-THEBZEXE
ZECREREER R=EARRBERITEEFLSM
100EELZ10ENFNEFL AR -_T_FTF
+=—A=+—HEH -

NEEEHEEY  ZSERKERZASEA
71,298,0003 7T (#8 & M #7557,094,000/8 7T ) + H &
FEU SRR £ B AR A7) 2 9,554,0003% 7T (HHE R4
74,651,000/ 7T ) &2 = 18 A R BR 1T R 37 8 100
BEZNFFRTE - MEKMHD(FEBEES
RARIZIEZEWBAR) 251,244,000 T (HHE
A #9400,400,0007% 7T ) % 10,500,0003 7t (48 & M 49
82,043,000/ 7T ) Bl A BIRF FIZ10E R =18 A w3
RITRIZEHF 2100 EE B 5T 2 - FEFE A FE LR 2
£11,728,000% 7T (FH & R 4991,638,0008 7T ) ° R H
EEHE B HNRTEREEBEREE219,103,000% T
% 2 REWE R R B R429,410,0007 7T -
ERLESTHREERBERER -

RIZB—NE+-A TEBAEEHEEARA
AIRMyHDERBREN EHE IR T —hLEFER
IHEE - Bt - TEERAEZSERERCEER
B THZERRERR_Z—hFEF+-_A=1—
B Z R F{E 4 5429,410,000/8 THER 2 BFEHE
B -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

22. EWER(E)

FfsE - (&)

@iy~ Allowances for doubtful debts @iy  REREEAE
2023 2022
—EB-=F —ET_—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
At the beginning of year REY] 861,372 788,405
Unwinding of discount AL IR B4 85,588 72,992
Exchange realignment [ H, % 1,755 (25)
At the end of year RER 948,715 861,372

23. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by

the Group and movements thereon during the year:

23, IEIERIE
NAFEAEEC AN T ERLEHEE
/(A RESSTT -

Fair value Provision
adjustment  Revaluation forPRC  Accelerated
onintangible ofinvestment  withholding tax Provision

assets  properties tax depreciation  and others Total

BREE k& EF it
AVERE  MRER  RAKRG  HENE  BRERAt 2
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TiEn T TR TEL
At 1 January 2022 RZE-Zf-f-H (2,157) (58,580) (6,359) (650) 3922 (63824)
Exchange realignment % 462 3,266 545 - (1) 4272
Credited/(charged) to profit orloss for the year  RAEEBHES,/ (1) % (3337) - - 326 (2987)
At 31 December 2022 R_B-_F+-A=1-H (1,671) (58,651) (5814) (650) 4247 (62539)
Exchange realignment ERAE (40) 602 83 = 7 672
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss for the year ~ IAEEIER (1% /B8 (66) 6,028 - - 303 6,285
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-A=1-H (1,777) (52,021) (5731) (650) 4597 (55,582)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

23, JEFERIE ()
BEEA 5 2 3R IR 1 th 0 KE B IR 45 85 5 47 10

T

2023 2022
—B_=fF b e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Deferred tax assets BIEFRIEA E 4,597 4,247
Deferred tax liabilities BLERBAR (60,179) (66,786)
(55,582) (62,539)
At 31 December 2023, the Group had unrecognised tax losses of BHAREETFERARIEFNR  RZT =5

HKS$162,751,000 (2022: HK$146,461,000) that are available indefinitely,
for offset against future profits due to the unpredictability of future profit

streams.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax at

+=A=t-8"
162,751,000/ 7T
T2 B SRR BRI R AT o

AREBARERNBIARE R

— = — —

=

© 146,461,000

$ETFEPI¢%% SHE B_TEN\F—A—

10% is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC AT BB A REFHRN B IRMRS

subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has been ﬁ?%@ﬁiﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁ 10% A EIEEEFTIR B IR 7 B

provided for in full in respect of undistributed profits retained by PRC FMEEAMNELEHIES 280 Ga B mET
entities in the consolidated financial statements. B o
24. INVENTORIES 24. €

2023 2022

—E-= —ZF-=

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FAT

Raw materials R 21,680 27,828

Work in progress ER 14,563 13,388

Finished goods UK 87,641 96,188

123,884 137,404
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. BEWESERA - EWEERHME
W E

2023 2022

—B-= T

HK$000 HK$'000

TET T

Trade and bills receivables JEW R 5 BR R R B R 107,777 135,945

Other receivables H A e Y 08 137,820 93,126

Total trade, bills and other receivables BUKRE SRR - BREER

H A pE U TR 4B 5 245,597 229,071

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 to 120 days to its trade rEBEGTHEHESGREFPZEEHRTHAR0E

customers. The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables 1208 ° BIWE J RN EWEE N FRILE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the year: ZAMNZERESTIAT -

2023 2022

—E-= —_ET-—

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FHT

0-30days 0%230H 15,873 114,995

31-90 days 31%290H 59,862 10,889

91 - 180 days 91&180H 28,496 6,591

More than 180 days HiE180H 134,750 126,733

238,981 259,208

Less: Loss allowance B EE R (131,204) (123,263)

107,777 135,945
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
e el Ale e B SARS (Bl

25.

26.

27.

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The other classes within trade, bills and other receivables do not contain
impaired assets. Expected credit loss on trade receivables was based
on the accounting policy stated in note 4(l)(ii). Based on the Group's
assessment, the Group recognised provision for expected credit loss on
trade receivables of HK$8,557,000 (2022: reversal of expected credit loss
of HK$13,286,000) during the year.

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from
trade debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 37(b).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks to secure short-term
bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 40). The deposits carry fixed
interest rates ranged from 0.25% to 1.30% (2022: 0.01% to 1.30%) per
annum. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement
of short-term bank borrowings.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash of the Group comprise bank balances and cash
held and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing at floating
interest rate and are with original maturity of three months or less. The
remaining bank deposits carry fixed interest rates ranging from 0.25% to
3.50% (2022: 0.01% to 1.15%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, cash and bank balances denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately HK$10,559,000 (2022: approximately
HK$13,204,000). RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies in
the PRC. Under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

28. BT E 5 IR

- BERNRER AR

50

2023 2022
= == e

HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Trade payables FERE SRR 174,406 187,988
Bills payables R E g 1,489 83
Deposits received (note 45) B Wiz e (FaEas) 66,211 67,167
Other payables and accruals (note) HEa St oE M EETE R () 100,844 100,834
342,950 356,072

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables, presented ENESER R ENEENREIRIRREH
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods: HZ5| 7 BREE DTN

2023 2022

—E-= —E- %

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FEx TET

0-30 days 0&30H 112,037 99,967

- 90 days 31290H 10,970 25,818

91 - 360 days 91&360H 30,042 44,256

More than 360 days iBiE360H 22,846 18,030

175,895 188,071

The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days.

Note: An amount due to a Director of HK$1,162,000 (2022: HK$1,704,000) which was
included in other payables. It is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

BEEmMFHEEMR0A -

BisE « HAbmER S
(ZE==%F:

RIB B IE— %FEH§$
1,704,00047T)

RBABEREREE -

2023F #; /

XI81,162,00078 7T

BRI

reTEEERERAT 153



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

29. EHNEE

2023 2022
EL=S == —4=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Contract liabilities arising from: AU TEEANEGHNEE
Sale of goods HEED 21,115 17,673
Movements in contract liabilities SHEBEET
2023 2022
=== —_=s=__
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
Balance as at 1 January mn— H &6k 17,673 25,313
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FR Iﬁﬁwﬁf\ﬁ%ﬂ A
recognising revenue during the year that was BHIBEBEZ WEHRER
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning &% & &R
of the year (17,673) (25,313)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receipt HEEEYTRWFIREE
in advance of sale of goods AHRaEE N 21,115 17,673
Balance as at 31 December R+-—A=+—H#%&#% 21,115 17,673

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration received
from customers. The Group's sales contracts generally have an original
expected duration of one year or less and accordingly, the Group has
applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 not to disclose the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for the contracts
existed that has an original expected duration of one year or less at the

end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. PROVISION FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

The Company had pursuant to the guarantee (the “Guarantee”) given in
favour of MyHD irrevocably guaranteed to pay all financial obligations of
MyHD in relation to the third amendment agreement to the content supply
agreement (the “Content Supply Agreement”) dated 3 October 2016
which was entered into between MyHD and MBC FZ LLC. The Guarantee
does not expire and the maximum amount payable by the Company
under the Guarantee should not exceed US$3,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$27,332,000).

The Guarantee does not contain any conditions which need to be fulfilled
orany circumstances which must arise before MyHD can enforce the same
and demand payment from the Company. Notwithstanding that MyHD
failed to observe all its payment obligations under the third amendment
agreement to the Content Supply Agreement, since the date of the
Guarantee up to the reporting date, the Company has not received any
demand for payment from MyHD under the Guarantee.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had recognised the provision
for financial guarantee amounting to US$3,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$27,332,000) in relation to the Guarantee.

30.

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

MBERESE
ARRFEREREMYHDZ FIZSEH 2 BR ([
/1) - AT E AR B 2 MyHD A B@MyHD
EAMBC FZ LLCATE] M BEAA=Z—R"FT+H=
BzRAHERZ(AEHERE D E=7n5
SRR ARG EME - RIERLESHA
MARARREEREMZEZSLEIBER
3,500,0003% 7T (#8 & 7 4927,332,000% 7T ) ©

BRI SEMATERZGHERBAREZ
EAIER - AHBRMyHDFITHER R EBRKAR
AR o BB MyHDAR BEE N A A (18 1 2%
F=MERTHBET ZMBENKEME - B ER
HEEEE®mE AL - AAREEEEM
RMyHDARIRIER IR th Z (HREK -

RZBE_=FR-_F-_—_F+=-A=+—8"
AEBDRIERERSE3,500000F T (HE
R4927,332,00078 70 ) 2 BT A AR B -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

31. BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS

1. RITRHEMEER

2023 2022
e ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHT
Bank loans IRITER 203,018 150,704
Other loans HmER 158,694 201,227
361,712 351,931
Analysed as: DHTA
Secured B 177,731 107,469
Unsecured R 183,981 244,462
361,712 351,931
Carrying amount repayable: AR Ty HAREENREE -
On demand or within one year BENRS—FRN 79,728 269,941
In more than one year but not more than two years  #8iB— 18 BB F 281,984 81,990
361,712 351,931
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B RNRBBEETAR
current liabilities —F AR EAFIE (79,728) (269,941)
Amount due after one year —F1& B B FRIB 281,984 81,990

The range of the effective interest rates on the Group's bank and other

AEBERTIEMEEZBERMNENHBE LN

borrowings are as follows: 1S
2023 2022
—Eg-= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Interest rate borrowings BEEE 2.20% - 9.00% | 0.84% - 10.53%

The security of bank borrowings is set out in note 40.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

32. LEASES
The Group as a lessee:
The Group leases a motor vehicle and a number of land and properties
in the jurisdictions in which it operates as its office premises under non-
cancellable lease agreements, which comprise only fixed payments over

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE-T_=

32. HE

AEEE/EBEA -

an—H =N g

AEERBETRIMEEE HRNEEEHMEN
AEEREERERE

NGRS

T RYERERBENR
EEEBEMANEEMNRK

lease term. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing —MME  AEBENMTEERSHEEEE °
the leased assets.
2023 2022
—g—= T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHT
Current liabilities mENARE 7,497 4,979
Non-current liabilities FRBAE 52,373 13,544
59,870 18,523
Future lease payments are due as follows: RREEFIBINEERNAT -
Minimum lease
payments Interest Present value
BREBERIE FIE RE
2023 2023 2023
—E-= —E-= —E-=
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET FHT
Within 1 year —F R 11,821 4,324 7,497
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERWEN 11,193 3,799 7,394
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBREBERAFR 34,269 7,720 26,549
More than 5 years BiBERF 19,670 1,240 18,430
76,953 17,083 59,870

2023F #; /
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

32. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee: (Continued)

32. HE(E)

AEEER/EBEA - ()

Minimum lease

payments Interest Present value
HEEEHIE A RE
2022 2022 2022
—E_— T i 1 ol et
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHT FHT
Within 1 year —FR 6,393 1,414 4,979
After 1 year but within 2 years —FERERRER 2,847 1,246 1,601
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBREBERAFA 7,295 3,022 4,273
More than 5 years BEAF 8,949 1,279 7,670
25,484 6,961 18,523

The Group as a lessor: AEBEALHBEAX :
Property rental income earned from leasing of the Group’s investment FAREBEEREEREEEGNMERS
properties during the year was HK$15,695,000 (2022: HK$16,958,000). WA 15,695,000/ 70 ( ZF = =4 116,958,000

The properties held by the Group have committed tenants for the next

one to twenty years.

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating

leases with its tenants are as follows:

BT c ARBAFMENRARAK—ZE2-_1TFE
BRIHMMF -

RIS IR - A BRI B 5 AT ST R A
£ 94 A TR B R AR P MR R LR OB
mT

2023 2022

—g== —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET THT
Within one year —FR 18,224 14,955
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMEA 17,647 14,170
After 2 years but within 3 years MERER=FA 16,845 13,885
After 3 years but within 4 years =FBRERENFR 16,562 13,864
After 4 years but within 5 years MEBRERAEFA 12,451 13,817
After 5 years hFE 93,736 83,282
175,465 153,973

1 58 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2023 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. R
Number of
shares Amount
MR EE k]
HKS$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREEI0A AL B
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, NR-E-_—_F—H—H —E2-—%F
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 T=E —JrfEl CZE-=f5—A—H
RZZEZ=F+=HA=1+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and RZBE-_—#F#—fF—H Z—E-__F
1 January 2023 TZA=T-BRZZT==F—H—H 492,161,490 49,216
Issue of shares upon rights issue (note (a)) AR B BITRG (M3 E) 738,242,235 73,824
At 31 December 2023 NZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 1,230,403,725 123,040
Note: FfsE -
(a) The Company conducted a rights issue on the basis of three rights share for every two (a) AARIERESHHAEMRE BITREFARRMOESE

adjusted shares in issue on the record date. The rights issue was completed on 5 July
2023 and the gross proceeds raised by the rights issue was approximately HK$88.6
million and an aggregate of 738,242,235 rights shares were issued at the subscription
price of HK$0.12 per rights share by either accepted or placed under the rights issue
or Compensatory Arrangement and all the conditions with respect of the rights issue
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 5 June 2023 (the "Prospectus”) have
been fulfilled.

=R 2 BT AR -

HEER T =

FLARAREK  MERESZABSRELERL
88,600,000/ 7T, + A5 ¥R AR & (L AR sl F (B 2 BERE sk
RE2ARNETRERRBRGI2ETZ RBEHET
& #£738,242, 235 IR PBEAR D - MARR BAAZT
—EFAARANERER((HRERIHAH

A2 FTE R EEK -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

34. BUSINESS COMBINATION 34. ¥¥E0F

Summary of acquisition g e

On 14 July 2023, Pro Brand Technology (TW) Inc., a 59.1% directly ﬁft‘:giiﬁtﬂ TR - OKREHERRGOE
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with a EAGRI(—HAARAREERESI%HHEA
shareholder of Aomaga (Hong Kong) Industrial Co., Limited (“Aomaga ) HRXZ(EB)EXZARAR([RAEXR
HK"), to subscribe the 52.94% shareholdings of Aomaga HK and its wholly BERBDN—BRRFT I UREREXRE
owned subsidiary, Aomaga (Vietnam) Electroinics Co., Ltd ("Aomaga B 52.94% 8 i 1 | B 2 & Kt E 2 RlAomaga
Vietnam”), together referred to as “Aomaga Group’, at consideration (Vietnam) Electroinics Co., Ltd ( [ B % & #
of HK$10,058,000. Aomaga HK is a company incorporated in Hong Kong Bl ZEREESE] - K{E7%10,058000
and its business activities is investment holding. Aomaga Vietnam is a BT RERBSA—HEREBTMALHA
company incorporated in Vietnam and its business activities is trading A HEBZBAIREER - REZUMA—
and manufacturing antenna and other related electronic products. FREEEMK AR - AXBEHAREER
The transaction was completed on 15 September 2023. The directors &?‘%\%i@&,ﬁ\m*ﬁ BETFED - ZXHRZ
considered that the acquisition would enhance the chance for expansion T=FNA+TABTK - EERE - ZE
its production and development in Vietnam. $Iﬁﬂﬁf;@5&ﬁ/\\\tfﬁ%§§ﬁ EEREBRROKS -
As the Group is entitled to appoint a majority number of directors of AR A EBEAERZTRERZEENARLYES
Aomaga HK and is able to control its management and operation, the fEfL - WEESIEHI HERE R EE - RIBUE
identifiable assets and liabilities of Aomaga Group are accounted for in % RERSEENHENEERABRAEE
the consolidated financial statements of the Group at their fair value under Fa Hﬁ’xiﬁi‘%ﬁzﬁ AFEEAR -

the acquisition method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill

are as follows:

34. XBEH(E)

EHEEENRE  FIRBHNEEFEREEZF
ST

HK$'000

FHBTT
Property, plant and equipment M - B MR 10,959
Right-of-use assets FREEE 57,258
Intangible assets mAE 168
Inventories FE 19,663
Trade and other receivables JEWE 5 AR 5k K HoAth FE IR 19,147
Cash at bank RTINS 404
Trade and other payables e 5 BR % B EL At FE A~ 3R (67,908)
Lease liabilities MEBE (57,258)
Bank borrowings RITEE (4,627)
Total net liabilities BEFHEARE (22,194)
Non controlling interest SRR R 10,445
Total consideration R{EBEZE (10,059)
Goodwill EES 21,808
Note:  Goodwill is attributable to the workforce and the synergy expected to be created by Mizt: REXRGEHOAWEESESN T ERR LR

the acquired business. It will not be deductible for tax purposes.

It is allocated to the PBT CGU (including the acquired business) for the impairment
assessment purpose as it benefits from the synergies absorbed to this business
combination.

Accounting policy choice for non-controlling interests

The Group recognises non-controlling interests in an acquired entity either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the entity’s net
identifiable assets. This decision is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. For
the non-controlling interests in Aomaga Group, the Group elected to recognise the
non-controlling interests at its proportionate share of the acquired net identifiable
assets.

& o A AR -

BRERENE  BEDOREBENMRREES
B (BEMRBER)  DTHRERERAEBA
GO UR e 1 R R aR o

FHER RN SR AR

$‘§I}QB$1E&3H B BB BAEE
FEMLLG - FERPTU I B R IR R - SRR
TRRERIRZ 5 EEMED - SUAXRREMIFHER
BEms  ARERERARBGEMEETENEE
FHER LIRS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

Note: (continued)
Purchase consideration - cash outflow

34. XBEH(E)

Mz (48)
BEREBE-RDRH

HK$'000
FET
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired: WHENBARRESRE - MBRAKERS
Cash consideration HeRE 10,059
Cash and cash equivalent acquired FiERE RREEEY (404)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included AARBEBHSRENE S RESEEDH
in cash flows from investing activities ReFm 9,655

Since the completion date of the business combination, the Aomaga
Group has contributed a revenue of HK$13,133,000 and a loss after tax of
HK$4,505,000 to the Group. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January
2023, the Group’s revenue and loss after tax for the year ended 31
December 2023 would have been HK$588,301,000 and HK$145,643,000
respectively. This pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2023, not is it intended to be a projection

of further performance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE_Z-_=F+-_A=1T—HILFE
35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 35. IREBRERERMETE
CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: BRERBEEMNBELER
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
BITR
Hitfg & HESE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
(note 31) (note 32)
(By&E31) (MyaE32)
At 1 January 2022 RNZZE-_—_F—H—H 370,064 20,796
Changes from cash flows: KEBRE MO E
— Proceeds from new bank loans —ERITERAEIHIE 156,244 =
- Repayment of bank loans —EBRRITER (167,975) =
- Payment of interest element of lease liabilities —XNEERENEHS - (1,119)
- Payment of principal element of lease liabilities ~— —X{fFBEBERL IS = (3,135)
Total changes from financing cash flows MER S RE BT (11,731) (4,254)
Exchange realignment P& 5 % (6,402) (2,640)
Other changes HihZ &)
- Finance charges on lease liabilities —Tﬁfﬁ BRI E R - 1,300
~ Recognition of lease liabilities -REEAE = 3,321
Total other changes EmEsha - 4,621
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 ﬁA_ z __iJr A=+—BkK
—F-= E H = 351,931 18,523
Changes from cash flows: RERERA
~ Proceeds from new bank loans —%ﬁiﬁfﬁﬁféfﬁﬁﬁ%%\lﬁ 144,651 =
- Repayment of bank loans —EBRRITER (138,833) =
— Payment of interest element of lease liabilities —XNEEAENEHS - (2,915)
- Payment of principal element of lease liabilities ~ —X(NHEBEARNE I H = (6,252)
Total changes from financing cash flows AR RE 5818 (9,167)
Exchange realignment b 5 AR (664) (4,722)
Other changes HhE &)
- Finance charges on lease liabilities - HERBENMBKER S 2915
- Recognition of lease liabilities - wREEAR - 6,278
- Termination of a lease —RIFHEE = (11,215)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) YR BN & R (M15E34) 4627 57,258
Total other changes Hib &2 8)1Bsa 4,627 55,236
At 31 December 2023 R-FB-_=F+-H=1+—~H 361,712 59,870
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

B

E-F-SH+- A=+ —HILER

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the
borrowings disclosed in note 31, and equity reserves attributable to
owners of the Group, comprising issued share capital and various reserves
and retained profits.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues
and the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)

(b)

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BEZB_=F = H=N g

7. BRRREE

Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities (a) ERIEERSHEBNSE
2023 2022
—g== SEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT T
Financial assets at amortised cost REBERATENERHEE
Trade and bills receivables FEUE Z IR W R & 107,777 135,945
Bank balance and cash WRITHEGFE MRS 69,359 79,158
Pledged bank deposits BEIRIRITFR 5,970 8,252
Other receivables H fth fE U RIR 80,450 86,700
Amount due from an associate JFE Lt — FT B & R B 5108 36,684 38,015
Loan to an associate LT —EBEARINER 19,579 20,803
319,819 368,873
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBERATENSHERS
Trade and bills payables ENEZERRENER 175,895 188,071
Lease liabilities HEaE 59,870 18,523
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 361,712 351,931
Other payables Hh FE < 5RIA 167,055 168,001
764,532 726,526
Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BIEEREEEERBE
The Group's major financial instruments include trade, bills and KE EMFrENFRIARERKESK
other receivables, loan receivables, loan to an associate, amount JEH&K?F&/H\@FEW RIE - ERE
due from an associate, pledged bank deposits, bank balances BT HBEATNER fﬂﬂZ—

and cash, trade, bills and other payables, lease liabilities and bank

and other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are

disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these

financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these

risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors

these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented

on a timely and effective manner.

F? 6%.%.*" R - BHERRITER
ﬁ&fﬁi - BNESERR JEH$
}F&EP@fﬁ KIE - MERENRIRTT
REMEE - ZEWBTAFEBERAH
F FEBEE - TK%@?'J,\M%EM‘%IEE‘

A & B K QDﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁEﬁﬂl% o
ERETENEEZERAR  UEBRE
BB R BUEE AE i ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A M5 SRR B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk

7. BBRREE(E)
(b) FMIBEBREERRREEHE)

w5

(i)

Currency risk
The Company's subsidiaries have foreign currency sales and
purchases, which expose the Group to foreign exchange risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency (as

(i

SN [ B
HRARAMNEBRRETINER
B MASEEHIMNERKR o

RE|BEHR - K%ILMI\’%HH;T
7

in relation to the functional currency of the relevant group NEBERERINEEREMS )T
entities) denominated monetary assets and monetary BENEYKEEREEAENEREEDE
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows: wmr
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
Assets Liabilities
BE =R

2023 2022 2023 2022

ZEC-=F | ZEZF | ZBZ=F | ZB-_F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHT TERT FHT

RMB AR 9 9,579 835 847

usb ETT 159,629 45,548 329,779 297,323

The Group is mainly exposed to USD and RMB relative to the
functional currency of the relevant group entities, which are
mainly RMB and USD respectively. The Group does not have
a formal foreign currency hedging policy. But management
monitors the Group's foreign currency exposure and enters
into forward contracts when movements in the exchange
rates are outside management’s expected range in order to
minimise the exchange rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in functional currency of respective
group entities against USD and RMB. 5% is the sensitivity
rate used and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes both USD and RMB monetary
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period. A
negative number below indicates an increase in loss where
USD and RMB strengthen 5% against the functional currency.
For a 5% weakening of USD and RMB against the functional
currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the loss for the year.

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
B

Z=$- =i 5N SER

37. HHRBREE(R)
(b) MBEBREEBRREEHE)

w5 (&)

(i)

SN R ()

BURE DT (&)
TRHINAEEARSEEERIEE
EUAETRARE LA RTR
5% HYBURE © 5% 43 FT B R B R
xR RREEEHINEERNATBE
REEFMELNTME - FRED
R BRERNRERRAZTRA
REJIENEEEERAE - TX
FIRBEIERTRAREL RS
L Tr5%R - SEIEEM - =R
ETRARBHINEEE 5%
B IR AN FEBEELRE
MRFEE -

2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER FET
Increase in loss and decrease in equity FRBEEMEERRD
for the year:
- RMB —AR% (34) 444
- Usb —%(7T (8,581) (12,662)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T—_=Ft+t-H=1T—-HLFE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

7. B REREE(HE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MKEKREEEZERBE(E)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 5 ek (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (i) FI=[E R
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation AEBEEGA BHNMIFE21 - 22K
to fixed-rate loan to an associate, loan receivables and W6 EEGLT —HBERANE
pledged bank deposits set out in notes 21, 22 and 26 and o ERERRBERRITERA
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings. NEBIRITTREMMEEN R FEF
ERE o
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in NEBE T AMI 27 ENE BIRITAS
relation to variable-rate bank balances as set out in notes 27 GFEIZERITEEMEERSRE
and variable-rate bank borrowings. HMEE g o
The exposures of the Group's borrowings to interest rate RBEER - AEEEERF X E
changes at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BmAXHERNT
% of total 9% of total
2023 loans 2022 loans
EERAE HEREE
—B-=F MESL | —T-—F CoNEkolss
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Variable-rate borrowings EEEE 203,843 56% 147,857 42%
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 157,869 44% 204,074 58%
361,712 100% 351,931 100%

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging
policy in relation to interest rate risk. The Directors monitor
the exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of LIBOR arising from the Group’s USD

borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The bank balances of the Group carry floating-rates of interest
and have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk. The Directors
consider the exposure is insignificant and therefore no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank and
other borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point
change is used and represents management’s assessment of

the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group's loss for the
year ended 31 December 2023 would increase or decrease
by HK$586,000 (2022: HK$573,000).

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at 31
December 2023 in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In order to minimise
the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

B 75 5 3% P oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

7. HEEREE ()

M EEREE R RRBR(E)

5 E R (&)
(i)  FE@BR(E)
BERE DT

AEBZRITHETFHREZE  WH
HReRnENERR -EFRA
ZEBRIWTER - B2 Rk
ERHT °

Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ”ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ
tEEMEEFERRME © %D
ﬁﬁ“ﬁ%%i%m*ﬁ@%%@
HRAEEREEDTE - HRASER
e ) - MAIEEE AR R
AL RIS BFAE -

fiw A1) =g tOR SOE BB B FT A A fh

AERETE  AAEEEHE-Z
ZEF+ZA=+—HLEFENE
B sk 4 586,000 L (=&
T T4 1 573,000587T) ©

EE R
R_F_=F+-A=1+—0 XKHE
FESNRAEERRAEHESECHE
RYHEERR %ﬁ%* EEITEME
Rk 2B REE MBI RAMSIARE
BEMKREE -SREEERR K&
EEEECSHERK— @AAEE#EFA
B EEHRREMERIEFIARRRK
RBGEITERWR @B EIER - thoh - K&
BRHE R RIS SRERE S ERN
AU el B R - ARER BN AT Bl 2 BB 1
R SR EEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using

a provision matrix.

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at

31 December 2023:

B E R EE ()
(b) FMIBEBREERRREEHE)

=B (&)

(i

FEME 5 BRK
AEERERN2HRBEEER
E’Jiﬁ#gﬂﬂﬁlfﬁ%ﬁ% e R R
I A BT -

TREHEBASENR _T_=F
T-A=+—HAZEKEZERRE
R REHEERENER

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss

rate amount allowance

AHEBRR RREAE ERERE

(%) HK$’000 HK$’000

(%) FHE T THET

Not past due A8 HA 3% 59,246 1,647
Less than 3 month past due EH DR =16 A 15% 37,136 5,568
3to 6 months past due AE =2 XA A 24% 8,564 2,019
Over 6 months past due m HARR A< E A 91% 134,035 121,970
238,981 131,204

As at 31 December 2022:

RZB_—_F+-_A=+—QH:

Expected loss Gross carrying Loss

rate amount allowance

FEHEEX RHEAE ity

(%) HKS$'000 HK$'000

(%) FHET FET

Not past due KA 0% 110,025 293
Less than 3 month past due wWEVR=1EA 15% 20,862 3,228
3 to 6 months past due mEI= 258 A 15% 3,341 495
Over 6 months past due wHARE B 7S 8 A 95% 124,980 119,247
259,208 123,263
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued)
The ECLs are disaggregated by different customer segments

as follows:

Media entertainment platform related products
As at 31 December 2023:

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

37. M¥EAREE ()

(b) HBEMREREBERBEKGE)

R (&)

) RREZER(E)
EMEEERETRATFPENS R
LN

1R BB 4R 42T 2= BE B 1,
R—BE_=F+=-_A=+—H:

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss

rate amount allowance

AHEER IREAE EERE

(%) HK$’000 HK$’000

(%) FET FET

Not past due R HA 20% 3,028 605
Less than 3 month past due wEI DR =18 A 14% 2,783 384
3 to 6 months past due wEI= 2 XE A 50% 2 1
Over 6 months past due AHRENEA 100% 51,022 50,967
56,835 51,957

As at 31 December 2022:

R-F-_—F+-A=1+—8:

Expected loss Gross carrying Loss

rate amount allowance

TEEEEX FRmEAE E iR

(%) HKS$'000 HK$'000

(%) FET FHET

Not past due R HER 18% 1377 247
Less than 3 month past due ‘HE DR =B A 30% 5,677 1,678
3 to 6 months past due wmHA=F A A 42% 164 69
Over 6 months past due mHARR A< E A 98% 52,681 51,651
59,899 53,645
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Other multimedia products
As at 31 December 2023:

MR REREEGE)

(b) MBEREERFEREKE)

1=EE R (&)
(i) BUWESERR(E)
H 2 IRpEEm

RZE_=F+=-—A=+—A8:

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
AHEER IREAE EERE
(%) HK$’000 HK$'000
(%) TR TR
Not past due A EA 0% 5,825 28
Less than 3 month past due BEALR=EA 8% 3,622 287
3 to 6 months past due B =Z=NEA 39% 1,197 469
Over 6 months past due mHARE A< E A 100% 67,871 67,871
78,515 68,655

As at 31 December 2022: RZEZZF+ZHA=+—8":
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHIEE X REAE E iR
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) FHET FET
Not past due A EA 1% 4,458 46
Less than 3 month past due wmE DR =18 A 7% 4,444 312
3 to 6 months past due mHE=FREA 33% 940 307
Over 6 months past due A HARE S A A 100% 65,518 65,518
75,360 66,183
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Satellite TV equipment and antenna products

As at 31 December 2023:

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—S_=F1—H=N g

7. HEEREE ()

(b) MBEEAREERFEREEE)

13/\

(i)

k(&)
ﬁuﬁzféf%ﬁﬁ NG
HE BHRRMERKAR

R-E-_=F+-A= + B

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
BHAEE SRE A ERRE
(%) HK$'000 HK$’000
(%) TET TR
Not past due A EA 2% 50,393 1,014
Less than 3 month past due wHE DR =@ A 16% 30,731 4,897
3to 6 months past due BEI= = 7XE A 21% 7,365 1,549
Over 6 months past due AR BN E A 21% 15,142 3,132
103,631 10,592

As at 31 December 2022: R-E-_—_F+-_A=+—8":
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
A EX RHEAE B
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) FHET FET
Not past due R 380 HA - 104,190 -
Less than 3 month past due BELR=EA 12% 10,741 1,238
3 to 6 months past due wHE=FRE A 5% 2,237 119
Over 6 months past due #AEARE S E A 31% 6,781 2,078
123,949 3,435

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over
the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which
the historic data has been collected, current conditions and
the group’s view of economic conditions over the expected

lives of the receivables.

TEEEEE DERBE=FNER
EEERED - ZSHEREFHEN
fR LT R 3B 1 B 2 BRI A A IR
ot TRERFAR I DA K2 7S 2 [ 460 R L R
RIEERF BN B 2 BIEH T
G
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
e el Ale e B SARS (Bl

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade

37. M¥EAREE (&)

MHEEREERRERBRE)

g (&)

) RREZER(E)

FRERWE 5 RKE B EER

receivables during the year is as follows: HEBHOT :
2023 2022
—EC-=HE —E-—fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THExT FHT
Balance at 1 January R—HA— B! 123,263 148,740

Provision for/(reversal of) TBEREEEEEE (BE)

expected credit loss 8,557 (13,286)
Written off b= - (3,295)
Exchange realignment B 5, 5 B (616) (8,896)
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—B0%&H% 131,204 123,263

The following significant changes in the gross carrying

amounts of trade receivables contributed to the increase in

the loss allowance during 2023:

- Origination of new trade receivables net of those

settled resulted in an increase in loss allowance of

HK$8,557,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

(ii)

(iif)

Loan receivable

The Group has credit risk in respect of loan receivables. As
at 31 December 2023, the loan receivables were classified
as financial assets at amortised cost. The measurement of
loss allowance are based on life time expected credit losses.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan
receivables during the year is set out in note 22(iii).

As at 31 December 2023, management was in the opinion
that the Debtors were in serious financial problem and as
such, life time ECLs was recognised for this debt instrument.

Amount due from/loan to an associate

The Group is also exposed to credit risk through its loan to
an associate and amount due from an associate. The Group
measures loss allowance for trade receivables from amount
due from an associate at an amount equal to life the ECLs,

which is calculated using a provision matrix.

37

B

B 75 5 3% P oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
E-E_=F+-A=T-HIEFE

. MEEREE ()

(b)

M EEREE R RRBR(E)

R (&)

(i)

(i)

FEME K
AEBBHEHERKEZREENEER
b2 e RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—
B - B E RS B AR KA
ENSREE - BIEBEDENSE
HEREEBEHE -

FRHEEKREREANBEREEE
BB A B RE22(ii) ©

RZB-_=F+=-A=+—H &
BERARBEBABBREVEHRE
Hit - ZEBTARER S ETEH
ZEEE -

e — B & R RIRIR, 4 T — T
BERRNER
AEBETEBEGT —HBE Q7
B B 7R K JE W — B 8 R R RR IR E
BREERR - AEEREFRNEH
BHEEBEN SR ER AR
—fREE R B2 BIKE 5 IR FE 18
BRETERBEREEAE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(iii)  Amount due from/loan to an associate (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group's

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for interest receivables and

trade receivables from amount due from an associate:

As at 31 December 2023:

B E R EE ()
(b) FMIBEBREERRREEHE)

=B (&)

(iii)

i LIk /N

%%*’ATE’]ETA(it)

KB/ BT

T%?IET EP‘%Z’SEIEEHH ;ff

KR B YR — Rk

(VAN

TZT‘H&Z%IJ

BREWE ZEFNAREEER

BER -

R-EBE-_=F+—-"HA=+—8:

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss

rate amount allowance

REER IREAAME BiERE

(%) HK$'000 HK$’000

(%) FHExT FHExT

Not past due B ER 0% - -
Less than 6 months past due BH DA E A 0% = =
Over 6 months past due B HARE A< E A 14.83% 43,075 6,390
43,075 6,390

As at 31 December 2022:

RZEBEZ=ZF+ZRA=+—8:

Expected loss Gross carrying Loss

rate amount allowance

TEEAE R ARE41E EEEE

(%) HKS$'000 HK$'000

(%) FHET FET

Not past due A EA 0% = =
Less than 6 months past due B H DRI A 0% = =
Over 6 months past due w R B 7~ E A 10.13% 42,300 4,285
42,300 4,285
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Amount due from/loan to an associate (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
amount due from an associate during the year is as follows:

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

37. M¥EAREE ()

(b) HBEMREREBERBEKGE)

R (&)

(i) EH—EEERRRE LT —MH
e NRINER(E)
FRERRY MBS RBRA

Balance at 1 January

Provision for expected

credit loss during the year

FARBEEERBE

Balance at 31 December

REEBERESINT

2023 2022

—ZE2-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
4,285 2,785
2,105 1,500
RN+ A=1+—BM4Es 6,390 4,285
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 iR 3% B o E (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RIL&EE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. BKEAKREE(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MKEKREEEZERBE(E)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(iii)  Amount due from/loan to an associate (Continued)

Asat 31 December 2023, the loan to an associate was classified

as financial assets at amortised cost. The measurement of loss

allowance are based on 12 months ECLs.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan

to an associate during the year is as follows:

=B (&)

(iii)

i LIk /N
%%’ATE’]ETA(it)
= =am R = S
T-HBERRNE f’&ﬁiﬁﬁhﬂiﬁ
HRAFTENEREE - Eﬁ%@%%
RE+T—EABREEEEAE

KB/ BT

FREHR T -RBERRNERE
BB EREREES T

2023 2022

—E-=H —E__F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHIT

Balance at 1 January R—H—B®E& 2,465 1,205
Provision for expected credit losses FREHREEEERG

during the year 1,224 1,260

Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—Bmss 3,689 2,465

(iv)  Other receivables and liquid funds

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has assessed that the

expected loss rate for other receivables was immaterial. Thus

no loss allowance for other receivables was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Concentration of credit risk of trade and bills receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 66% (2022: 65%) of
the total trade and bills receivables was due from the Group's five
largest customers. The Directors considered that the receivable
balances from these customers do not represent a significant credit
risk based on past collection experience and no bad debts have
been recognised against trade and bills receivables due from these
customers. Other than that, the Group has no other significant
concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group’s objective is to
monitor its liquidity requirements and maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. In addition, facilities of bank
and other loans from banks and financial institutions have been put
in place to finance the Group’s operations and meet its liquidity

requirements.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. The Group monitors its current and expected liquidity
requirements regularly and ensures sufficient liquid cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from reputable financial
institutions to meet the Group's liquidity requirements in the short

and long term.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

37. M¥EAREE ()

(b)

M EEREE R RRBR(E)

EWE S ERARERRE 2 SHEERR
rEEEEFEERR  RRARRKE
ZER R EWE B BEN6%(—F ==
F65%) IREARENAAEF - &
ERR BREBENERLR  Xaz%E
BEPZRWE SRR R ERERERL
BEXEERR HYBEREEZETR
P2 W E 5 R R R R R
EAR o BRILDASN - AREYEEMEKR
SREERR -

REE TR
REERBECARIE  AEEHNE
BRERERBESFTRIERERR
TR R EMEEETESRALEE
AR o S - SRITRERK AR
TheRBEBEZEMERC R - AR
NAEBEEMENERBESHHK °

AEBEABITEEEAERDES Y
FTEOR - AREREAEIEEEANR
EHRBASEY  RERERARY
RBHRSRAESEBRTL S RLHER
R AEEREN N A EE Y B
RESRBELTS -

TRANREEFTESRBEZFER
BHRMBER - TRENAKEATRER
EERXNERBENREBHARME
RenEmMHE - HMFETESmAnE
ZEBMBTREHEEEBHPME -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. BB REREE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MKEKREEEZERBE(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BB LR ()
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the EQ%EJ%@%*'J RASHERE M
extent that interest flows are variable rate, the undiscounted amount MERERFEFEFTHE - AR
is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period. Gk TE WMEAR A RES
Liquidity risk tables nREESREMmEK
Less than Total
1 month or 1-3 3 months Over undiscounted Carrying
on demand months to 1 year Tyear  cashflows amount
HSR—{8A =faA i3]
FRER  -Z=fA B-F BB-F BRERAE RAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TR TR THR ThR
31 December 2023 “®C=EtZA=T-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JE{T44REE
Trade, bills and other payables EfEaE  ERRER
RN 219,943 123,007 - - 342,950 342,950
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 10,928 30,593 39,884 310,182 391,587 361,712
Provision for financial guarantee*  BiF IER B+ 27,332 - - - 27,332 27,332
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,019 2,027 8,774 65,130 76,950 59,870
259,222 155,627 48,658 375,312 838,819 791,864
31 December 2022 “Z--F+-fA=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilties P =1
Trade, bills and other payables ENESEN - BNEER
Eft MR 267,968 88,104 - - 356,072 356,072
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 26370 32499 218,035 90,189 367,093 351,931
Provision for financial quarantee® BB EREE 27332 - - - 27332 27332
Lease liabilities HEAE 573 1132 4,683 19,091 25,484 18,523
322,243 21,735 222,723 109,280 775,981 753,858

Maximum amount of the financial guarantee
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement

This note provides information about how the Group determine
fair values of various financial assets and liabilities.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities that are recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities recorded at
amortised cost have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects
the credit risk of counterparties.

38. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The MPF Scheme is held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution paid and payable in the future years.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the MPF
Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represent contributions paid and payable to the
funds by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

37.

38.

B %5 ¥R R B o (48

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—T_=F1T A= g4

Bt 75 [ B B BEE (4D

(0 2AFEFE
A FREAEBNAEE TEE/mME
ENBBEAFEZER -

EZRR/NEE M B RRIZEHKAA
ENEREENERABNRESHER
HEAFERE -

RBHEKAARNEREERBENR
FEDZRERREREDIN - KERQ
BE  ERREANBAE

REBEBRVEE -

BRBREFHNEERBMREIRE -

RIKEF TS
AEBERER2BAERERRIBRESA
g -  BESHERBUIEAEFINESE
2 WEAKENEESFRE - RERES
FTEIMARA - BEREEBAD BIZARANGTHA
FILL R ARZAT IR - AEREERE ST
i — B ER A BIE L AREAHIR - AEREL
ER]BER D N RORREFRMAHANE R
BHRK -

BETFEMEERN G B REMEE RS
RMBRERABRE IR - AR EIR S
BRAFTAN L RMZEESEHNC N REN

K
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38.

39.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

The employees employed by the operations in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The PRC operations are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes operated by the PRC government is to make the required
contributions under the schemes.

In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Company in other foreign countries
are required to contribute amounts based on employees’ salaries to the
retirement benefit schemes as stipulated by the relevant local authorities.
The employees are entitled to those subsidiaries’ contributions subject to
the regulations of the relevant local authorities.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(i) Transactions

The Group had the following related party transaction:

38.

39.

Rk fE A ET 8 ()

AEERREGEEBFREANEESATE
B RSB RRIRE R BINAK R o REIE
EEBAXNREFEH—ELE - EREK
BRI IR HR - AR EHRE BRI
FRIBFIE BRI — B AR BIEH AT W

K -

AN - AR BREAMMBEINYE THIE R RAR
REBNF AR E BT HERIKE
METEWWEL R - RIBEH T ERORH] -
BEAESZEHBRRNMHR

AR T T
i x5
AEEDETUTHBALZS :

Relationship Nature of transaction 2023 2022
2EES REME —E-=F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Associate Sales of goods 340 1,559
/NG HEE M
Interest income 1,012 1,012
FEHA

(ii) Balances

Details of the Group's balances with related parties are set out in the

consolidated statement of financial position and in notes 21 and 28.
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39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(iii) Compensation of key management personnel

39. BABE S E(ME)
(i) FEEBEAEZHE
ENEERTEEEEEMKE 2 HH

The remuneration of directors and other members of key

management during the year was as follows: LU
2023 2022
—E-=F =E=—dkE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Short-term benefits 5 ERRE A 8,925 9,329
Post-employment benefits & BRKAEF 90 150
9,015 9,479
In the opinion of the Directors, the remuneration of directors and EEZRE EZRTEEEENTWND

REBEAXBERMZBERETE -

key executives is determined having regard to the performance of

individuals and market trends.

40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 40. EEEF

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged to RBERR - AEBEGTWNEEERR  EA

secure banking facilities granted to the Group: FrgRITEEMER :
2023 2022

—EB=fF T

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank deposits RITIF 5,970 8,252
Trade receivables FENE B BRI 45,334 100,326
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BB R 13,605 14,717
Investment properties KEYE 197,471 231,949
Inventories FE 17,762 56,886

Certain banking facilities also secured by pledge of the Company's

interest in PBT.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also pledged to Huasuan (i)100% of

the shareholding interests in ZSS which holds the Land; and (ii) one of

the three pieces of land parcels within the Land as set out in note 45.

ETRITEENEEBARBNE BRI AE
I o

B EXFTREEIN - AEBINE RM 45 FE
MEEEROPILES T FAEZLH)EI100%
Pt MR =Rt RA E A —1ig o
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41. ARBITRATION 41. HE

On 29 September 2011, the Group entered into a conditional agreement
(the "Agreement”’) with an independent individual third party (the
“Original Shareholder”) and Technosat Technology JLT FZE (“Technosat”,
a company incorporated in Dubai, which was wholly owned by the Original
Shareholder), to subscribe for 375 new shares in Technosat at a cash
consideration of US$7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$58,170,000), amounting
to 15% of Technosat's enlarged capital. Technosat is set up to be engaged
in operation of digital TV and radio platform, pay TV channel, and sales
and supply of TV set top boxes.

As at 30 June 2012, the Group had paid a deposit of US$2,500,000
(equivalent to HK$19,467,000) to Technosat to acquire new shares in
Technosat which was fully provided for impairment in prior year. Pursuant
to the terms of the Agreement, the Group is required to pay a further
US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this 15% equity interest
in Technosat. The subscription is not yet completed up to the date of
approval of this report as the conditions precedent of the subscription
of new shares in Technosat including the consent and approval by
government authority in Dubai has not been fulfilled.

Despite the Group's repeated request for information, there were no
satisfactory response from the Original Shareholder or Technosat
(“Counterparties”) regarding the current status and the procurement
of obtaining government approval from the government authority in
Dubai. The Group has engaged legal counsel to act for the Group and
started dispute resolution proceedings against the Original Shareholder
and Technosat.

On 21 January 2013, the legal counsel of the Original Shareholder and
Technosat served a notice to the Group's legal counsel for a claim on the
further payment of US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this
15% equity interest in Technosat.

The Group's legal counsel has replied on behalf of the Group on 11
February 2013 in response to the claim of the Original Shareholder and
Technosat defending the claim as the Directors consider such claim invalid,
as the conditions precedent of the subscription of new shares in Technosat
had not been fulfilled and constituted a breach of the Agreement.
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RZZE——FAA=Z+IB  A&EEHE—
LB BRE=A(RBRE]) RKTechnosat
Technology JLT FZE([ Technosat ] + —E 1t
Fafik sz a BRRREEZEHEEF)E]
S—hEaEKERE((ZBR])  UReRE
7,500,000 3% 7T (#8 & 72 58,170,000 7T ) 2 48
Technosat 3758 ¥ % + Bl Technosat &% #& X %
A 215% ° TechnosatZ A3 B I A EHFE
BRBEETEZE NEERIBENRHEER
HIEKTES °

R-ZZTE——FX"A=Z+H8 A£EEEM
Technosat X 1~ &1 % 2,500,000 3 T ( 48 & R
19,467,000/ 7T ) + AU B Technosat B ¥ A% -
ZEI R ERNEFREEHRAMERE - BIEZ
ek 2 IEF - ANEB AR TechnosatiZ15%
B AN 25 3 — 25 2 1+/5,000,0003 7T © AR R
Technosat#T % 2 50 R G (B IEEUS I F BT
HFRERIE) MARENK - HREBESER
HEAREBAES B HARTTK °

BEAEE —HEKRRBE L Technosat ([ #
F A DREBPBEORM FRATEBPIHLEM IR R
RERFERSEEIE  BERFHIRESARE
HEIE - AEE DR EZRBEBENRAEETT
£ WEH FEIE MTechnosat & 1 4 4 73 7
BfF o

RZE—=F—A=Z+—8 BEEREXK
Technosat#Y)% £ Ba [l (A AN &= [ /) VA R R X

E—BA - BRBBERETechnosatiZ15% %
7N HE 5 93 — 2P FRIA 5,000,000 T ©

AEBMEERBENR=_ZE—=F=-_A+—H
REAEERERARRE KTechnosat R -
REREHNE  REAEERRHRRARE
Technosat#7 A% B9 5 R G B AR EK - BIHERK
BREZWE  WZERRBER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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ARBITRATION (Continued) 41. HE (&)
The Group's legal counsel had repeated request on the Original Shareholder AEBMEZABREZAERARERE R
and Technosat to commence the next step on mediation, but there were Technosatig HHARE N — T HABREFHEK -
no satisfactory response from the legal counsel of the Original Shareholder HEZ=ZT—ME )\ ANBERE - RES
and Technosat up to the deadline set by August 2014. At the date of JRAR SR K TechnosatH) /A EEE K mEETE -
approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Group's legal RAGEYERREMEER - AEBRERE
counsel confirmed that there was no update on the arbitration. FERI R PR R o
PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 42, APATEEME R A
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 are ZEC=F+ A=+ —HBARRFEWREA
as follows: RIFBEWT
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully paid share Proportion of nominal value of issued share/
Name of company establishment/operations  Class of shares held capital/registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AL/ B/ BRTRMERE/
AER BEny RERGER ARER ANARRERTRG,/SMEXTEMLH IERH
2023 2022
Ittt kS
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
B 3 BE B
Top Peaker Group Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI')/ Ordinary US$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding
(‘Top Peaker’) Hong Kong
RBRKEE Ealk 10000%7T REK
([RERLHE)) /2%
Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) PRC Registered capital (note 1) US$19,500,000 100% 100%  Manufacture of electronic
Electronic Co, Ltd. goods
PUEETRFLNARA  FE MEA (M) 1950000070 YEETER
ProBrand Technology (China) ~ PRC Registered Capital (note 2) ~ RMB27,000,000 59.1% 59.1% Manufacture and trading of
Co, Ltd. electronic accessories
PURESTHEARAT 1A M) ARH27,0000007C REREES RN
SMT Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100% 100% Trading of electronic goods
EHMRERAA Bk Ealk W7 EEETER
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 42. ZRBREEMBEAE (&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully paid share Proportion of nominal value of issued share/
Name of company establishment/operations  Class of shares held capital/registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AL/ AL/ BRIRARRE/
ARER T KERHER &R ANARRERTRG,/ SMEXTEMLH IEEH
2023 2022
ZEIZE it Sl

Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
E# 3 BR Bk

SMT Electronic Technology Cayman Islands/Taiwan ~ Ordinary USs1 100% 100%  Trading of electronic goods
Limited
RERs/ 2L Ealk 0 EEsTEn
PBI USA Ordinary USs1 59.1% 59.1% Trading of satellite TV
equipment and antenna
£E Bl 3 EEBEERRRR SRR
Pro Brand Technology (TW) Inc. ~ Taiwan Ordinary TWD225,000,000 59.1% 59.1% Design, manufacture and
(Formerly known as “Sksteck trading of satellite TV
Inc.) equipment and antenna
KEMERERAT g2 Lk HE%25 0000007 Rt HEREEWEERR
ERRSER
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 42. ZRBREEMBEAE (&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully paid share Proportion of nominal value of issued share/
Name of company establishment/operations  Class of shares held capital/registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AL/ RE/ BRIRARRE/
ARER e KERHER &R ANARRERORG,/ SMEXTEMLH B
2023 2022
ZEIZE it S

Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ER 3 BR Bk

BCN Distribuciones, SA. Spain Ordinary EUR412,102 100% 100% Research and development
and trading of electronic
goods

351 Eik 4121087 TERERETER

Intelligent Digital Services GmbH  Germany Ordinary EUR31,250 100% 100%  Design and manufacture of
electronic goods

£a LR 31508 W REETER
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Note 1: Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co., Ltd. is registered as a limited liability

company (wholly foreign-owned enterprise).

Note 2: Pro Brand Technology (China) Co., Ltd. is registered as a limited liability company
(wholly foreign-owned enterprise).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets and liabilities of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at any time
of both years or at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Group that have material non-controlling interests:

Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership
and principal  interest and voting rights held

Name of company place of business by non-controlling interest

AMREHEE  FERESSANEAERDS

42. ZRAEEWMBE LT (&)

BizED -

MiaE2

FIUESTEFTHERARZIMA—RERE
FERAROIEBERE)

HIUREEFRRERAREMA—HMEREE
AROMNEFERE) ©

EEARLERITHARRNBERRHEAREE
MERREERABTZEEKN - EFRRIIR
HiMIBARNFIEEEBATBNRIE -

RRFEAEFAERIIR T =

F+-A=1t—8 BENBAREREAC
BITEBES

BEERFEZEREZNIZEWB LR

&

TRIFINFEAEERERNAEEIEEE

(1PN

TR0 -

Profit (Loss) allocated to
non-controlling interests

D EEFERERNEF

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

NCIEE: TEEEME RBREENLE (B8 Rt R ER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEBECD=ZF | ZBE-fF | ZBZ=ZF | 2 ZEBC-=ZF | ZBEZZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT FHT THT
PBT and its Cayman Islands/USA 40.9% 40.9% (9,644) (68) 62,277 79,167
subsidiaries
BEREEE REeis  XH
MEBATE
Individually immaterial (423) (2,899) (40,880) (40,543)
subsidiaries
BRI T ERKBRA
Total (10,067) (2,967) 21,397 38,624
Fik]
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 42. ZRBREEMBEAE (&)
(Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material BEEAEEREZNIIEZENRB AR
non-controlling interests (Continued) B(E)
Summarised financial information in respect of PBT and its subsidiaries HEENFERE=NEERIREREWE A
that have material non-controlling interests are set out below. The BB E RS o AT ERMRZE TR
summarised financial information below represents amounts before KEBRNARIMEENTEE -

intergroup eliminations.

2023 2022
s S =

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FATT

Current assets MEBEE 303,529 318,549
Non-current assets ERBEE 123,671 51,585
Current liabilities mEEE (203,714) (151,218)
Non-current liabilities IEREHEaE (55,371) (27.347)
Net assets BEFE 168,115 191,569
2023 2022

—E-= —E-fF

HKS$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FET

Revenue g 377,078 524,164
Loss for the year KEEEE (20,505) (165)
Loss and total comprehensive income BEREEKEERE (20,505) (165)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from KA TEENRSARA (RE)FE

Operating activities KEES 56,512 87,207
Investing activities KEES (39,216) (9,271)
Financing activities & EE) (12,910) (77,796)
4,386 140
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

43, XA THBERR T

COMPANY
2023 2022
—E=-= -
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZKE 82,818 197,818
Interest in an associate R—EHE AR 2 ES 4 46,722
Loan to an associate BT —EBERRIMNER 19,579 20,803
Amounts due from subsidiaries i DN E S 84,084 84,138
Amount due from an associate U — B & A B 5B 19,195 20,568
Other receivables H fth e U Zh 18 896 732
Bank balances and cash RITHEFEARS 288 887
Total assets BERE 206,864 371,668
Other payables H At eI FRIR (91,088) (94,881)
Borrowings TE (158,694) (201,227)
Provision for financial guarantee B T YRR (27,332) (27,332)
Amount due to a subsidiary FEfT—FEIM B A R 3R IE (163,352) (177,996)
Total liabilities BERE (440,466) (501,436)
Net liabilities AafEFEs (233,602) (129,768)
Capital and reserves IR R
Share capital g As 123,040 49216
Reserves (note) et (FsE) (356,642) (178,984)
Capital deficiency attributable to owners of KREHER AL E AR EA
the Company (233,602) (129,768)

On behalf of the directors

Hung Tsung Chin
HEE
Director

EE

1 90 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2023 Annual Report

RERES

Chen Wei Chun
FRiZE$9

Director

EE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 75 5 3% P oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILEE

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Reserves of the Company

43. AQ BB R &R ()

MizE : ARAEIREE

Share Capital
Share  Contributed option Special  redemption Accumulated

premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total

REGEE QRS BRERE KRG BAREERE R ER &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AR AT AT ThEx THET TAR AR

At 1 January 2022 i Sl s el = 50,880 688,538 7,960 79,900 1713 (934,056) (105,065)
Loss and total comprehensive income AEEEFRREANELRE

for the year - - - - - (73,919) (73,919)

At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H 50,880 688,538 7,960 79,900 1,713 (1,007,975) (178,984)
Loss and total comprehensive income AFEEEEREANGAE

for the year - - - - - (189,186) (189,186)

Issue of shares upon rights issue HRRIR BTG 11,528 - - - - - 11,528

At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=F+-A=+—H 62,408 688,538 7,960 79,900 1,713 (1,197,161) (356,642)

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the consolidated

shareholders’ fund of Top Peaker and the nominal value of the Company’s shares

issued to acquire Top Peaker at the time of a group reorganisation in prior years

amounted to approximately HK$181,788,000 and the amount of approximately

HK$506,750,000 standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Company

was reduced to nil and that the credit arising therefrom was transferred to the

contributed surplus account arising from the capital reorganisation during the year

ended 31 December 2021.

The special reserve represents the surplus arising pursuant to the capitalisation of

advances from shareholders as part of the group reorganisation.

BEHRRIETop PeakerMIAR A RN E S EIBAFEE
B SRR AR R AWETop PeakeriM 21 THI A 1D FIE
R A9 Z= B8 #£9181,788,0008 7T + M A2 A BR 17 )5 (B BR
ZHEBRSFE506,750000 8 TERES  BUELZ
EREEBREHE-_ZT =
ERASHEEZ EHBRE -

=

F+-A=t+—HLHF

FRlEEESRRBFBFERN(EAREER 2 —
O IFREEMRL
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44.

45.

LITIGATIONS

Lawsuit in India

In October 2020, Aggressive Digital Systems Private Ltd. (“AD", a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) received a summons from the
National Company Law Tribunal (‘NCLT") at Chandigarh in India that was
filed by Aggressive Electronics Manufacturing Services Private Limited
("AEMS’, a minority shareholder of AD) and Mr. Neeraj Bharara (collectively,
the “Petitioners”) against Top Dragon Development Limited (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the shareholder of AD), AD and
certain directors of AD (collectively, the “Respondents”) alleging that the
Respondents made undue acts either of oppression or mismanagement
and claiming for losses caused to the Petitioners arising from such undue
acts. The last hearing was originally scheduled on 24 November 2023
at NCLT but was adjourned. The date of the next hearing has yet to be
determined.

After consulting with the Company's legal counsel in India and taking into
account the possible factors including, but not limited to, the possible
amount involved in the case, the Board considered it not probable that
the Group will incur any material losses resulting from this litigation.
Accordingly, after discussion with the Company’s auditors, no provision
was made in the consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 31
December 2022 and 2023.

COOPERATION AGREEMENT AND JV AGREEMENT
IN RELATION TO REDEVELOPMENT

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 17
August 2021
cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”) dated 26 July

(the “17 August Announcement’) in relation to the

2021 entered into between, among others, the Group and Huasuan,
pursuant to which Huasuan and Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co,,
Ltd* (FIUEE S T EF THHBR AR (“ZSS") (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) (the “Parties”) will cooperate to upgrade
certain blocks of factory buildings and dormitories constructed on the an
industrial land situated in Zhongshan, Guangdong Province, the PRC (the
“Land”) owned by ZSS and to redevelop some vacant and undeveloped
parts of the Land subject to prior consents and planning approvals from
the relevant PRC government authorities.

Please refer to the 17 August Announcement for details of the Cooperation

Agreement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

45. COOPERATION AGREEMENT AND JV AGREEMENT

IN RELATION TO REDEVELOPMENT (Continued)

The Redevelopment will be developed under the name of ZSS. To
ensure the continued commitment in the Redevelopment, Huasuan will
pay to the Group a cooperation fund amounting to RMB60 million as
security deposit (the “Cooperation Fund”). The Group is contractually
allowed to use the Cooperation Fund without any restriction during
the Redevelopment, and is liable to return the same amount of cash
to Huasuan upon the completion of the Redevelopment. As securities
for such Cooperation Fund, the Group will pledge to Huasuan (i) 100%
of the shareholding interests in ZSS which holds the Land (the “Equity
Pledge”); and (ii) one of the three pieces of land parcels within the
Land (the “Land Pledge”). Huasuan shall release both the Equity Pledge
and the Land Pledge upon full repayment of the Cooperation Fund
by the Group and completion of the Redevelopment and Revenue
Apportionment. If the Redevelopment is unable to proceed, the
Cooperation Fund shall be refunded to Huasuan without interest within
10 business days failing which there is a default interest of 8% per annum
payable by the Group within three months.

As at the date of this report, Huasuan had paid to the Group the
Cooperation Fund in full and the Group had recognised it as deposit
received (note 28). The Group had provided the Equity Pledge to Huasuan
for security repayment of the Cooperation Fund and also provided the

Land Pledge to Huasuan.

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
19 July 2023 and 10 August 2023 (the “19 July and 10 August
Announcements”) in relation to the joint venture agreement dated 19
July 2023 (the “JV Agreement’) and entered into between the Group
and Huasuan, pursuant to which the parties have agreed to form the
joint venture in the form of an unincorporated joint venture under the
name of “"Huasuan-Sandmartin Intelligent Manufacturing Park” (ZE& B2
BT &4 E) (the "Joint Venture’) in the PRC for the Redevelopment
and for the purpose of governing the cooperation arrangement.

B %5 ¥R R B o (48
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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45. COOPERATION AGREEMENT AND JV AGREEMENT

IN RELATION TO REDEVELOPMENT (Continued)

The sole purpose and business of the Joint Venture is to redevelop the Land
into a landmark precision intelligent manufacturing centre and research
and development innovation hub and the properties built thereon shall
be for leasing or for sale. The Redevelopment will be carried out on
the Land. The Group will contribute the Land for the Redevelopment
and Huasuan will be responsible for funding the entire costs for the
Redevelopment (save for the Land contributed by ZSS). If required, ZSS
as the entity undertaking the Redevelopment will secure the bank loans
for solely funding the construction costs of the Redevelopment (the “ZSS
Development Loan”). As stipulated in the JV Agreement, Huasuan will
have the sole responsibility of repaying the ZSS Development Loan, both
loan principal and interests. The Parties to the JV Agreement have yet to
decide on whether the ZSS Development Loan will be necessary and will
closely monitor the ongoing funding needs of the Redevelopment. In
relation to allocation of the properties constructed on the Land, the Group
shall continue to be entitled to certain blocks of buildings constructed
on the Land as at the date of the JV Agreement (which comprise for
factory buildings) (the “Existing Buildings”), the vacant area and roads
covered under the current real estate title certificate issued to the Group.
In relation to the new buildings to be constructed on certain parts of the
Land which are currently vacant, the Group and Huasuan shall be entitled
to 20% and 80% respectively of (i) the total gross floor area of the new
buildings; and (ii) the corresponding revenue that is generated from the
new buildings. In the event where certain parts of the Existing Buildings
are to be demolished and redeveloped under the Redevelopment, the
Group shall be entitled to (i) firstly, certain gross floor area of the newly
built buildings equivalent to the gross floor area that has been demolished
covered under its real estate title certificate; and (i) secondly, an additional
5% of the remaining total gross floor area of the newly built buildings.
After the aforesaid allocations to the Group, Huasuan shall be entitled to
all of the entire balance of the gross floor area.

Please refer to the 19 July and 10 August Announcements for details of
the JV Agreement and the Joint Venture.
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45.

46.

47.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

COOPERATION AGREEMENT AND JV AGREEMENT
IN RELATION TO REDEVELOPMENT (Continued)

Upon the formation of the Joint Venture, the Group recognised the
Joint Venture as a joint operation and account for the assets relating
to its interest in a joint operation. The Group derecognised investment
properties under development attributed to the Huasuan with carrying
amount of HK$30,756,000 (Note 1
to Huasuan of HK$7,281,000 which the obligation was contractually

7), derecognised other payables due

discharged and recognised a loss arising from the formation of joint
operation of HK$23,475,000. For the period from the formation of the
joint operation to the end of the reporting period, the change in fair value
was recognised in profit or loss arising from investment properties under
development related to the joint operation amounted to HK$24,253,000.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had recognised a deposit received
from Huasuan of HK$66,211,000 (2022: HK$67,167,000) (note 28) and an
amount due from Huasuan of HK$41,987,000 (2022: nil) included in other
receivables (note 25).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has issued guarantees
to the bank to secure the mortgage arrangement of property buyers.
The outstanding guarantees to the bank amounted to RMB38,507,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$42,493,000) which will be terminated
upon satisfaction of the terms stated on the guarantee contracts, including
the released by bank upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers and
completion of the relevant mortgage properties registration.

The directors considered the fair values of these financial guarantee
contracts to the purchasers are insignificant at initial recognition and
the expected credit loss was insignificant as at the end of the reporting
period as the banks has the rights to sell the property and recovers the
outstanding loan balance from the sale proceeds of the property buyers
default payment.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 12 April 2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

81 75 1 2

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
=ZE=JiisE —T-ZF i —T-—F ===k
SeRERSENEEAETE == 1—H f=A=fF-H t=F=+—H
HFE HFE LFE HFE HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAExT TET TET TEx TER
RESULTS E
Revenue Yrzs 1,070,527 863,629 926,471 745,954 562,035
Loss before income tax expense FrERi S KB R (429,590) (20,686) (16,442) (67,841) (140,759)
Income tax (expense)/credit PSR () Be (5,546) (3141) (9,819) (12,674) 4,126
Loss for the year from continuing BEREEBNATERR
operations (435,136) (23,827) (26,261) (80,515) (136,633)
Profit for the year from discontinued 2 4% |HE & # SR E B & 7
operation 79,788 = = = -
Loss for the year AEREHE (355,348) (23827) (26,261) (80,515) (136,633)
Attributable to: FE1f
Owners of the Company N/NETL =D (315,461) (12,594) (25,433) (77,548) (126,566)
Non-controlling interests FEERR RS (39,887) (11233) (828) (2.967) (10,067)
(355,348) (23827) (26,261) (80,515) (136,633)
At At At At At
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NEF —ZCTF S —E-CfF —g-=&
+-A=+—8 +ZA=+—8 +=ZA=+—8 +ZA=+—-H +=ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET TET FEx TER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets BELES 1,032,676 896,489 1,017,072 866,365 846,756
Total liabilities BERE (970,381) (842,973) (921,979) (854,014) (883,719)
62,295 53516 95,093 12,851 (36,963)
Equity/(capital deficiency) attributable XA R1#EE A ML
to owners of the Company %/ (BREL) 4572 14,432 55,279 (25,773) (58,360)
Non-controlling interests JEE R 57,723 39,084 39,814 38624 21,397
62,295 53,516 95,093 12,851 (36,963)
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